

MECHANISTIC STUDIES OF THE IMPACT OF CHRONIC PAIN ON BRAIN, BEHAVIOUR AND COGNITION IN A RODENT MODEL OF CHEMICALLY INDUCED OSTEOARTHRITIS

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Sara Gonçalves

November 2020



School of Life Sciences

University of Nottingham Medical School

ABSTRACT

Chronic pain has been associated with changes in forebrain regions, including the hippocampus and prefrontal cortex, and impairments in cognitive functions associated with these forebrain regions, including impairments in memory and cognitive flexibility. Osteoarthritis (OA) is a major public health burden, and the main symptom of OA is chronic pain. The impact of OA pain on cognitive function is poorly understood. By combining methods from pain research and behavioural integrative neuroscience, in this PhD work, the impact of OA-like chronic knee pain on selected cognitive functions was investigated in a well-characterised rodent model.

To investigate clinically relevant cognitive deficits associated with chronic pain caused by knee OA, in this study the rat monosodium iodoacetate (MIA) model was combined with translational tests of clinically relevant cognitive tests, including of hippocampus-dependent everyday type memory function, recognition memory and behavioural flexibility. Previous studies using this model of OA pain behaviour have used juvenile albino strains, which show comparatively poor performance in the cognitive tests. Therefore, the first objective was to transfer the MIA model to young adult Lister hooded (LH) rats, a pigmented strain, which is suitable for these cognitive tests (chapter 3). Pain behaviour and joint pathology phenotypes after a standard 1 mg dose of MIA were not robust in young adult LH rats or age and weight matched SD rats. By contrast, injection of 3mg of MIA caused robust pain behaviour, mainly changes in weight-bearing, accompanied by significant cartilage damage and synovitis. MIA-injected rats showed minor changes in locomotor activity with reduced rearing, which may reflect that they put less weight on their hind legs because of knee pain. This dose of MIA was therefore used throughout the thesis project.

To longitudinally assess the impact of OA-related knee pain on hippocampus-dependent place memory, MIA LH rats were tested in the watermaze delayed-matching-to-place (DMP) test, which is highly hippocampus-dependent (chapter 4). There was no evidence of impaired hippocampal memory following induction of the MIA model. No performance parameter on the DMP task was affected by MIA injection up until day 93 after model induction. MIA injected rats showed robust pain behaviour (weight bearing asymmetry), slightly decreased rearing activity and features of knee joint pathology. In this chapter, MIA rats showed some evidence for mildly reduced prepulse inhibition (PPI) at high pulse intensities compared with saline control rats (although this was not replicated in chapter 5 when studied at a later time point following MIA injection). The impact of OA-like pain on recognition memory and behavioural flexibility was also evaluated in the MIA LH rats (chapter 5). This cohort of MIA injected LH rats was tested in the novel object recognition (NOR) test and in an automated set shifting task. Overall, there was no evidence of impaired recognition memory and behavioural flexibility after induction of chronic MIA up until day 59 after model induction.

Other factors associated with chronic pain in humans may account for why humans experiencing chronic pain have memory impairments, such as the effects of treatment. To test this, the effects of chronic treatment with morphine (3mg/kg twice daily for 7 days) and subsequent withdrawal was evaluated (chapter 6). Pilot work showed that morphine treatment induced an initial antinociceptive effect in LH rats, followed by tolerance and the development of morphine-induced hyperalgesia. Then, to evaluate the potential impact of chronic morphine treatment on both rapid place learning and NOR memory, MIA-injected LH rats were treated with morphine for 10 days (3mg/kg twice daily) or received control injections and were tested on the watermaze DMP task during treatment and at withdrawal. In addition, they were assessed in the NOR test during morphine withdrawal. Morphine had analgesic effects with no evidence of morphine-induced hyperalgesia in the MIA LH rats. In both naïve and MIA LH rats, acute morphine injection promoted hyperactivity. There was no evidence that repeated morphine treatment induced any impairment in rapid place learning performance or recognition memory in MIA-injected rats. However, in this study, MIAinjected LH rats did not show significant object recognition memory 49 days after model induction, which limits the interpretation the lack of morphine effect, but indicates that MIAinduced pain may disrupt such memory at this stage.

Overall, these findings suggest that hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning, NOR memory and behavioural flexibility are not affected by chronic OA-like knee pain in young adult male LH rats. Similarly, sustained treatment with morphine did not affect hippocampal and recognition memory in this model of OA-like knee pain. However, future investigation should be conducted in a wider age range and for longer periods after model induction to exclude the negative impacts of chronic OA pain in cognitive functions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis would not have been possible without the help and support of my supervisors, colleagues, friends and family. I am sincerely grateful to all those who have helped and inspired me during this time.

I would firstly like to thank my supervisors, Tobias Bast, Gareth Hathway and Victoria Chapman. Thank you all for providing me with an excellent project, for always being there to help me and for all the practical and theoretical guidance and enthusiasm about this project. Tobias, thanks for always be present when I was struggling or uncertain of how to proceed, for always be available for a brief chat. Gareth, thanks for always be present, for all the kind and motivation words when I must need them. Vicky, thanks for all the guidance and support, no matter how busy you were.

I would also like to thank all my colleagues from the pain group, for always being able and willing to help, being available to discuss my research and for all the amazing lunch and coffee breaks. Also, I want to thank my colleagues from the SMART team, thanks for all the support, help and for the amazing sense of humour that always made me laugh.

I want to thank Mohsen for all the help with the histology and for always being so kind and willing to help. I would like to thank Dave Watson for always being able and willing to help me. Thanks also to the members of staff at the BSU for their help when conducting any animal work.

I would like to thank my friends for supporting me throughout my PhD. Ana Pereira, thanks for all the scientific and emotional support, thanks for all be present and to keep me motivated. Diana, Ana e Joana, thanks for being an emotional support during this PhD. I want to thank my friends from the TeaTime group, in particular to Jelly, Bia, Neia e Mari, thanks all the virtual hugs and support during this phase.

Finally, I want to thank my boyfriend Filipe and my family, in particular my parents, my sister and brother-in-law for always believing in me. Pai, Mãe, Kiki e Kika, obrigada por tudo. Filipe, thanks for always being there for me.

Lastly, I want to dedicate this thesis to my late sister Salete. You will always be my inspiration and motivation to follow my dreams. Obrigada Tété.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
CHAPTER 1	10
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	10
1.1. CHRONIC PAIN	10
1.1.1. MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN	11
1.1.2. OSTEOARTHRITIS	11
1.1.2.1. ANIMAL MODELS OF OSTEOARTHRITIS	14
1.2. PAIN PATHWAYS	14
1.3. PERIPHERAL AND CENTRAL SENSITIZATION	16
1.4. SUPRA-SPINAL CHANGES IN CHRONIC PAIN	19
1.5. COGNITIVE CHANGES IN CHRONIC PAIN	20
1.6. THESIS OUTLINE	23
CHAPTER 2	
GENERAL METHODS	
2.1. ANIMALS	24
2.2. INTRA-ARTICULAR INJECTIONS	25
2.3. PAIN BEHAVIOUR MEASURMENTS	25
2.3.1. WEIGHT-BEARING TEST	25
2.3.2. PAW WITHDRAWAL THRESHOLD TEST	26
2.4. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY MEASURMENTS	27
2.4.1. LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY TEST	28
2.4.2. STARTLE-PREPULSE INHIBITION TESTS	28
2.5. TISSUE COLLECTION AND TISSUE PROCESSING	29
2.6. HISTOLOGICAL STAINING	30
2.7. HISTOPATHOLOGICAL SCORING	32
CHAPTER 3 MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE-INDUCED OSTEOARTHRITIS-LIKE KNEE PAIN IN LISTER HOODED RATS	34
3.1. INTRODUCTION	34
3.1.1. MONOSODIUM-IODOACETATE MODEL	34
3.1.2. FEATURES OF THE MIA MODEL	35
3.1.3. RAT STRAINS USED TO TEST COGNITIVE FUNCTION AND NOCICEPTIVE RESPONDING	36

3.1.3.1. CHRONIC PAIN MODELS IN LISTER HOODED RATS	37
3.1.4. CHAPTER AIMS	37
3.2. METHODS	39
3.2.1. ANIMALS	39
3.2.2. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY	39
3.2.4. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	40
3.2.5. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	40
3.3. RESULTS	42
3.3.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR – 1 MG MIA	42
3.3.2. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY – 1 MG MIA	44
3.3.3. KNEE HISTOLOGY – 1 MG MIA	46
3.3.4. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND KNEE HISTOLOGY – 3 MG MIA	49
3.4. DISCUSSION	51
3.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER HOODED RATS	51
3.4.2. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER HOODED RATS	52
3.4.3. KNEE PATHOLOGY IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER HOODED RATS	53
3.5. CONCLUSION	54
CHAPTER 4 HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY IN MIA-INDUCED OSTEOARTHRITIS KNEE PAIN IN LISTER HOODED RATS	
4.1. INTRODUCTION	
4.1.1. HIPPOCAMPUS AND MEMORY	
4.1.2. MEMORY IMPAIRMENTS AND CHANGES IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS IN CHRONIC PAIN PATIENTS	
4.1.3. MEMORY IMPAIRMENTS AND CHANGES IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS IN RODENT MODELS OF CHRONIC PAIN	56
4.1.4. TRANSLATIONAL ASSESSMENT OF HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY USI THE WATERMAZE DELAYED-MATCHING-TO-PLACE TASK	-
4.1.5. CHAPTER AIMS	58
4.2. METHODS	59
4.2.1. ANIMALS	59
4.2.2. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY	59
4.2.3. WATERMAZE DELAYED MATCHING-TO-PLACE TEST	60
4.2.3.1. APPARATUS	60
4.2.3.2. PROCEDURE	60
4.2.3.3. PERFORMANCE MEASURES	61
4.2.4. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	62

4.2.5. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	. 63
4.3. RESULTS	. 64
4.3.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR	. 64
4.3.2. SENSORIMOTOR MEASURES	. 66
4.3.3. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY	. 69
4.3.4. KNEE PATHOLOGY	. 71
4.4. DISCUSSION	. 73
4.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOR, SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY AND KNEE PATHOLOGY	. 73
4.4.2. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY IN MIA LH RATS	. 74
4.4.3. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY IN CHRONIC OA PAIN?	. 75
4.5. CONCLUSION	. 76
CHAPTER 5	
COGNITIVE FLEXIBILITY AND NOVEL OBJECT RECOGNITION MEMORY IN LISTER HOODED RATS WITH MIA-INDUCED OSTEOARTHRITIS-LIKE KNEE PAIN	
5.1. INTRODUCTION	. 78
5.1.1. RECOGNITION MEMORY	. 78
5.1.2. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY	. 79
5.1.3. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY ASSESSMENT IN RATS	. 79
5.1.4. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY IN RODENTS WITH CHRONIC PAIN	. 80
5.1.3.1. PREFRONTAL CORTEX, PAIN AND COGNITION	. 80
5.1.6. CHAPTER AIMS	. 81
5.2. METHODS	. 82
5.2.1. ANIMALS	. 82
5.2.2. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY	. 82
5.2.3. NOVEL OBJECT RECOGNITION TEST	. 83
5.2.3.1. NOR APPARATUS	. 83
5.2.3.2. NOR PROCEDURE	. 83
5.2.4. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY TEST	. 84
5.2.4.1. APPARATUS	. 84
5.2.4.2. PRETRAINING	. 85
5.2.4.3. VISUAL CUE DISCRIMINATION	. 85
5.2.4.4. SET SHIFT TO SPATIAL RESPONSE STRATEGY	. 86
5.2.4.5. REVERSAL TASK	. 87
5.2.4.6. BEHAVIOURAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES	. 87
5.2.5. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	. 87
5.2.6. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	. 88

5.3. RESULTS	
5.3.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR	
5.3.2. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY	
5.3.3. RECOGNITION MEMORY	
5.3.4. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY	
5.3.4.1. CUE ACQUISITION	
5.3.4.2. SHIFT TO RESPONSE STRATEGY	
5.3.4.3. REVERSALS	
5.3.5. KNEE PATHOLOGY	
5.4. DISCUSSION	100
5.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR, SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY AND KNEE PATHOLOGY	100
5.4.2. RECOGNITION MEMORY	100
5.4.3. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY	101
5.5. CONCLUSIONS	103
CHAPTER 6	
SUSTAINED OPIOID TREATMENT EFFECTS ON MEMORY IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER H RATS	
6.1. INTRODUCTION	
6.1.1. TREATMENTS FOR OSTEOARTHRITIS PAIN	
6.1.2. OPIOIDS AND OSTEOARTHRITIS	
6.1.3. OPIOID TOLERANCE AND HYPERALGESIA	
6.1.4. COGNITIVE IMPACT OF OPIOID ANALGESIA	
6.1.5. AIMS OF CHAPTER	
6.2. METHODS	
6.2.1. MORPHINE DOSE – PILOT STUDY TO EXAMINE WHETHER MORPHINE C	
TOLERANCE AND HYPERALGESIA IN LISTER HOODED RATS	
6.2.1.1. ANIMALS	109
6.2.1.2. MORPHINE ADMINISTRATION	109
6.2.1.3. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY	109
6.2.1.4. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	110
6.2.2. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT ON PAIN BEHAVIOUR MEMORY IN MIA-INDUCED LH RATS	
6.2.2.1. ANIMALS	110
6.2.4. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY	111
6.2.5. MEMORY ASSESSMENTS	111
6.2.6. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	111
6.2.7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	113

6.3. RESULTS	114
6.3.1. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT ON PAIN BEHAVIOR AND LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN LISTER HOODED RATS	
6.3.2. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT IN MIA-INJECTED LH RAT	S 116
6.3.2.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR	116
6.3.2.2. SENSORIMOTOR FUNCTIONS	118
6.3.2.3. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY	120
6.3.2.3.1. PATH LENGTHS	120
6.3.2.3.2. SEARCH PREFERENCE DURING PROBE TRIALS	120
6.3.2.4. RECOGNITION MEMORY	122
6.3.2.5. KNEE PATHOLOGY	123
6.4. DISCUSSION	125
6.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR, SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY AND KNEE PATHOLOGY	125
6.4.2. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT ON HIPPOCAMPUS- DEPENDENT MEMORY	126
6.4.3. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT OF MIA LH RATS IN RECOGNITION MEMORY	128
6.5. CONCLUSIONS	129
CHAPTER 7 GENERAL DISCUSSION	130
7.1. KNEE PATHOLOGY, WEIGHT BEARING ASYMMETRY AND REDUCED REARING IN INJECTED LISTER HOODED RATS	
7.2. NO EVIDENCE FOR COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS IN MIA-INJECTED LISTER HOODE RATS	_
7.3. IMPACT OF MORPHINE TREATMENT IN IN MIA-INJECTED LISTER HOODED RATE	5 133
7.4. LIMITATION OF THE MIA MODEL IN LISTER HOODED RATS	133
7.5. SOME FUTURE DIRECTIONS	135
7.5. SUMMARY/CONCLUSION	135
REFERENCES	136

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1. CHRONIC PAIN

Pain is defined by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage" (Raja et al., 2020). This definition highlights the fact that the pain experience can be multidimensional, comprising sensation and emotion, and also that pain experience can occur without actual tissue damage. The pain experience is not necessarily proportional to the intensity of a specific pain stimulus and consequentially pain experience can be different between different individuals with similar tissue damage (Tracey and Mantyh, 2007). Pain perception is an experience of nociceptive inputs that can also be influenced by memories, emotional and genetic factors among others (Tracey and Mantyh, 2007).

Pain may also be classified as acute or chronic based upon the length of time it lasts. Acute pain is a survival mechanism essential in our daily life, which signals potentially damaging stimuli and promotes protective behaviours to prevent further injury. On the other hand, pain can become chronic when it lasts for a prolonged period of time, commonly defined as lasting more than 3-6 months in patients (Apkarian et al., 2009), thus losing the biological value in terms of acute survival and becoming a disease. Unfortunately, the mechanisms leading to the transition from acute to chronic pain are still poorly understood.

Chronic pain has become a major health problem in many countries, with around 20% of the population worldwide estimated to be affected by persistent or chronic pain (Hart et al., 2000; Treede et al., 2015) and with no effective medication available to either prevent or treat this disease. Moreover, several studies have reported that chronic pain is also associated with a wide range of comorbidities, such as emotional (depression and anxiety) and cognitive impairments (Roth et al., 2005; Moriarty et al., 2011; Bushnell et al., 2013; McGuire, 2013).

Pain is the major reason chronic pain patients look for medical and health service assistance, however, pain-related psychological distress and possible cognitive impairments are increasingly recognised as having major impact upon people. Previous pain research focused mainly on sensation and the underlying mechanisms, with little focus to the nonsensation components such as cognition and emotion related impacts. Even though this trend has changed in the last decade, the mechanisms underlying the cognitive deficits associated with chronic pain are poorly understood and this area receives relatively little attention. This thesis will be focused on the study of the potential effects of chronic pain on cognitive functions.

1.1.1. MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

In an attempt to distinguish the heterogeneous types of pain, an IASP working group had developed a classification system for the different subgroups of chronic pain considering not only the source of pain, but also etiology and affected body location: chronic primary pain, chronic cancer pain, chronic posttraumatic and postsurgical pain, chronic neuropathic pain, chronic headache and orofacial pain, chronic visceral pain, and chronic musculoskeletal pain (Treede et al., 2015, 2019).

Chronic musculoskeletal pain is defined as persistent or recurrent pain, caused by persistent local or systemic inflammation that directly affects bones, joints, tendons or muscles (e.g., rheumatoid arthritis); or caused by disorders of the nervous system that are not linked to musculoskeletal issues themselves but which lead to their development (e.g., multiple sclerosis); or associated with structural changes in the musculoskeletal function (e.g., osteoarthritis) (Treede et al., 2015; Perrot et al., 2019). Osteoarthritis (OA) is one of the most common forms of chronic musculoskeletal pain. This thesis will focus on OA-associated chronic pain.

1.1.2. OSTEOARTHRITIS

OA is the most common form of arthritis and a major public health problem. Between 2005 and 2015 the global prevalence of OA showed an increase of about 32.9% and it was ranked as the 13th highest on the list of contributors to global years lived with disability (Vos et al., 2016). The prevalence of OA varies due to definition/diagnostic criteria used, age categories, countries and study population (Palazzo et al., 2016). The estimated worldwide

population affected is around 250 million people and knee OA is the most common (Dulay et al., 2015; Hunter and Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019). OA is mostly an age-related disease, affecting more frequently aged people (Vos et al., 2016), but other risk factors are also associated with this disease, such as obesity, greater bone density or genetic predisposition (Arden and Nevitt, 2006; Buckwalter and Martin, 2006).

OA is a multifactorial disease, resulting from the progressive degradation of single or multiple joints by an imbalance in the dynamic equilibrium between the breakdown and repair mechanisms of joint tissues (Dieppe and Lohmander, 2005; Egloff et al., 2012; Felson, 2013). The disease manifests first with molecular alterations of joint tissue metabolism, followed by anatomic abnormalities that can lead to illness (Kraus et al., 2015); however the OA chronologic trajectory between molecular and anatomical abnormalities of the joint structure is still not completely well-described.

OA can be divided in two groups regarding its etiology: primary (idiopathic) or secondary (results from trauma/injury or mechanical misalignment). There is also a substantial variability in the course of the disease, structural pathology and response to therapy (Deveza et al., 2017). The huge heterogeneity and variability in this disease have been widely discussed in the pain field (Cruz-Almeida et al., 2013; King et al., 2013), describing the different phenotypes and understanding the mechanisms behind it is necessary to improve the characterization of knee OA and improve target therapies.

OA was previously considered exclusively as a degenerative disease of the cartilage, but is currently known as a multifactorial disease (Piperno et al., 1998; van der Kraan and van den Berg, 2012) whose pathogenesis involves mechanical, inflammatory and metabolic factors which lead to structural derangements as illustrated in Fig.1.1.

During the OA process the composition of the cartilage changes. Cartilage is mainly composed of chondrocytes and an extracellular matrix of proteoglycans, collagen fibres and non-collagen proteins (Goldring and Marcu, 2009). Chondrocytes can be considered the housekeepers of this specialized matrix, as in normal situations chondrocytes are relatively inactive and maintain a healthy matrix by a low turnover. In OA, these cells drastically increase their activity to repair the damage leading to an excess of matrix proteins and degradations enzymes. Altered cartilage composition increases susceptibility to disruption by physical forces and initial and small erosions on the surface evolve to deep fissures in the cartilage and later in the calcified areas (Goldring and Marcu, 2009; Hunter and Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019). At the subchondral bone level in OA, bone remodelling and repair increases and marrow lesions occur, leading to the development of bony outgrowths called osteophytes at joint margins (Hsia et al., 2017) (see Fig. 1.1.).

The production of proinflammatory mediators produced by the hypertrophic chondrocyte activity can also affect the synovium, which consequently releases more proinflammatory mediators, starting a positive feedback loop (Felson, 2013). This pro-inflammatory cascade and its role in OA disease is not yet completely understood, but it is known that chronic inflammation is present in OA and that an inflammatory profile develops with the progression of the disease, with increased infiltration of inflammatory cells into the joint and pain occurrence at this stage (Mora et al., 2018).

The classical symptoms of OA are morning stiffness, swelling, muscle weakness, reduced range of movement, joint instability and pain (Hunter et al., 2008). Pain is the major reason OA patients look for medical and health service assistance. In knee OA, pain is mainly weight-bearing/mechanical pain. In a community cohort of knee OA patients, 97% reported intermittent pain and 35% reported it as "unacceptable" (Liu et al., 2014).



FIGURE 1.1. – OSTEOARTHRITIS PATHOGENIC FEATURES. Healthy vs osteoarthritic knee joint showing the underlying structural changes in the chronic disease. Image from: (Hunter and Felson, 2006).

1.1.2.1. ANIMAL MODELS OF OSTEOARTHRITIS

In order to understand the mechanisms underpinning chronic pain associated with OA, animal models are continuously being improved in order to mimic acute and chronic pain states for a more focused and direct study of the mechanism behind this health problem (Cohen-Solal et al., 2013; Teeple et al., 2013; Pelletier et al., 2015). Animal models provide important information about the mechanisms that lead to the development of a health problem being a crucial tool to study and characterise pathologies and to the development of new therapeutics.

The animal models that better correlate to human OA physiopathology include spontaneous models, such as the Dunkin-Hartley guinea pigs (Wang et al., 2013). However, these models show slow disease progression, which means they are time consuming and expensive and there are no co-aged matched controls. Furthermore, besides suitable time frame to allow reproducible results, there are other factors that should be taken in consideration when selecting the animal model, including the similarity to human pathology and the efficacy to detect a therapeutic effect. Choosing the right animal model of OA can be a challenge, OA is a heterogeneous disease and no single animal model is able to reproduce entirely the human disease. Hence, the most commonly used models in OA studies are the induced models.

OA can be chemically induced with intra-articular injections of substances which can cause damage to the joints, either by damaging the ligaments and tendons (collagenase), or inhibiting chondrocyte metabolism, such as the monosodium iodoacetate (MIA) model (Lampropoulou-Adamidou et al., 2014). As discussed and justified in detail in Chapter 3, the MIA model is the model used in this thesis.

1.2. PAIN PATHWAYS

Pain experience can be established when a peripheral noxious stimulus, whether from mechanical, thermal or chemical source, is applied to the body and transduced into an action potential by specialized primary afferent fibres called nociceptors. Primary afferents are divided in three main types regarding their characteristics: 1) A β , large myelinated fibres with higher conduction velocity; 2) A δ , medium sized myelinated fibres with intermediate conduction velocity and 3) C-fibres , small unmyelinated fibres with slow conduction velocity

(Millan, 1999; Devor, 2009). Primary afferents are distributed throughout the body, including muscles and joints.

When peripheral nociceptors are activated following exposure to noxious stimuli, they transmit information to a proximal nerve terminal in the spinal cord via the primary afferent cell body in the dorsal root ganglion (DRG) (Fig.1.2.). When approaching the spinal cord, bundles of afferents carried in nerve trunks separate and penetrate the dorsal horn grey matter. The nociceptive information is then conducted to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, where primary afferents synapse with second order neurons. The dorsal horn consists of organized laminae with ten layers called Rexed laminae (Craig, 2003).



FIGURE 1.2. – **PAIN PATHWAY REPRESENTATION.** A peripheral activation (thermal, mechanical or chemical) is applied to the body and converted into action potentials by the nociceptor (transduction). This nociceptive information is then conducted to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord via the dorsal root ganglion (transmission). The nociceptive information is then transmitted via ascending pathways to the different supraspinal regions, where it is processed (perception). At this level, descending pathways modulate the nociceptive transmission from supraspinal areas to spinal dorsal horn (descending modulation). Image from (Bingham et al., 2009).

Projections from some second-order neurons ascend along the anterior and posterior tracts transmitting nociceptive information to the brain via the ascending pathways, including the spinothalamic, spinoreticular and spinomesencephalic tracts (Almeida et al., 2004). The ascending projections in the spinothalamic tract mainly originate in layers I and V of the dorsal horn and this tract is organised in two main pathways, the ventral and the dorsal (Todd, 2010). Although they ascend separately, the two tracts merge at the medulla level. This tract mainly projects to thalamus, which is subsequently distributed to several cortical structures. Neurons in the spinoreticular tract project mainly into the lateral and dorsal reticular nucleus and the neurons in the spinomesencephalic tract end in the periaqueductal gray (PAG) (Todd, 2010). Directly or indirectly, altogether, these ascending pathways distribute the information to supraspinal nuclei (Tracey and Mantyh, 2007).

The supraspinal pathways involved in the processing of pain-related information comprise a large matrix of regions, including cortical and subcortical regions. Brain imaging studies have been a crucial tool to allow a better understanding of this complex network and to unveil the regions involved (Apkarian et al., 2005). Areas such as somatosensory cortices, anterior cingulate cortex, insular cortex, thalamus and PFC are some of the most commonly reported to be involved in pain processing. However with the improvement of the imaging techniques the understanding of this complex network has been increasing and other areas have been found to be involved in pain processing [see for review (Brooks and Tracey, 2005; Ong et al., 2019)].

After supra-spinal processing, the brain modulates spinal cord activity through descending pathways to either facilitate (pronociception) or inhibit (antinociception) pain perception (Millan, 1999, 2002). Some of the key brain areas involved in pain processing are the PAG, rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM), somatosensory cortex, amygdala, insular anterior cingulate and prefrontal cortices, hippocampus and thalamus (Wager, 2004; Apkarian et al., 2005; Ochsner et al., 2006).

1.3. PERIPHERAL AND CENTRAL SENSITIZATION

After repeated and intense noxious stimuli, the nociceptive system can suffer sensitization and the threshold for its activation reduces and leads to an amplification of the subsequent inputs (Latremoliere and Woolf, 2009). Pain sensitization is often present in patients suffering from chronic pain, including OA patients (Soni et al., 2019), a normally non-noxious stimulus such as walking, standing or climbing stairs can be perceived as painful

(Dimitroulas et al., 2014). The reasons for this sensitization are likely multi-factorial, representing both inflammatory and neuropathic components (Thakur et al., 2014).

Tissue damage and the concurrent inflammation causes cellular disruption, sympathetic neuron discharge and activation/infiltration of immune cells (Pattison et al., 2021), which promote the release of a large variety of inflammatory mediators (Raoof et al., 2018). In OA, inflammation promotes the local release of factors such as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β), IL-6, and IL-17, H⁺, prostaglandin E2, ATP and growth factors [see for review (Pattison et al., 2021)] (Fig.1.3.). The resulting effects of some or all these mediators released at the level of the damaged joint (Schaible, 2012) contribute to an "increased responsiveness and reduced threshold of nociceptors to stimulation of their receptive field" - peripheral sensitization (Loeser and Treede, 2008). In acute and normal situations, nociceptors are able to recover from this sensitization after the tissue heals or the inflammation resolves but unfortunately the acute plasticity changes do not always resolve and lead to chronic pain development (Loeser and Treede, 2008). The causes for these two possible outcomes are not yet known. Peripheral sensitization can induce an increased responsiveness, where a noxious stimulus can cause a stronger pain experience than under normal conditions (hyperalgesia) (Woolf and Salter, 2000) and can also lead to a reduced threshold of the nociceptors and the perception of an innocuous stimulus becomes painful (allodynia) (Merksey and Bogduk, 1994).



FIGURE 1.3. - CELL-CELL INTERACTIONS IN OSTEOARTHRITIS. Image from (Pattison et al., 2021).

In addition, pathological neuronal inputs from the damaged tissue can also cause complex changes in the central nervous system leading to central sensitization. At the spinal level, receptive fields of neurones expand and neurones have reduced thresholds (Latremoliere and Woolf, 2009). The sensitized neurones can also release pro-inflammatory mediators further sensitizing the spinal neurones and activating microglia or astrocytes (Woolf and Salter, 2000). Many mechanisms can contribute to central sensitization, driven by different effector (such as PKA, PKC, CaMKII, and ERK1/2), changes in the threshold and activation of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor and, the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor, alterations in ions channels and in the release of GABA and glycine release occurs. Consequently, nociceptive neurons can display increased spontaneous activity, reduction in threshold for activation and/or enlargement of receptive field by conversion of nociceptive-specific neurons to wide dynamic neurons (Latremoliere and Woolf, 2009).

Central sensitization is present in many chronic pain conditions and can manifest differently from pain conditions (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2018). Central sensitization may explain why patients with OA show different features and why patients complain of more pain than was expected with the structural changes observed (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2015). Patients at advanced stages of OA exhibit pain features consistent with central sensitization, including hyperalgesia at both the site of damage and remote areas from the affected joints, and changes in conditioned pain modulation, indicative of altered descending inhibitory pain mechanisms (Lluch et al., 2014).

The peripheral and centralized pain mechanisms in OA and their developmental time frame still is not completely understood. A major issue associated with the lack of knowledge about central sensitization in OA is the impact upon the development of new therapeutic approaches, as traditional treatments are mainly focused on peripheral nociceptive mechanisms and reducing joint pain (Murphy et al., 2012). Two approaches are used to clinically assess pain sensitization in OA patients, questionnaires and experimental assessments, such as pressure and thermal pain thresholds (Arendt-Nielsen, 2017). Importantly, translational human OA features of sensitization have been reported, such as local and wide-spread hyperalgesia, central integration of repeated nociceptive inputs (temporal summation or central hyperexcitability) and descending modulation (Arendt-Nielsen, 2017). Central sensitization has not only spinal components, but also supraspinal components (Suzuki and Dickenson, 2005), for example, patients with OA exhibit altered activity in two important supraspinal brain areas linked with pain processing, the anterior cingulate cortex and rostral ventromedial medulla (Soni et al., 2019).

1.4. SUPRA-SPINAL CHANGES IN CHRONIC PAIN

Brain imaging in humans helped highlight brain areas potentially involved in pain and also in cognitive processing, and it is now clear that circuits responsible for the processing of nociceptive information are also involved in cognitive processes. This may help to understand the impact of chronic pain in cognitive functions. The persistent nociceptive inputs associated with chronic pain conditions may disrupt or compete with cognitive inputs leading to cognitive impairments. Imaging studies indicate that the anterior midcingulate cortex is involved in both cognitive and pain control (Shackman et al., 2011), an example of overlapping between the pain and cognition networks.

Structural changes have been reported in patients with chronic pain in different brain regions, including reductions (Apkarian et al., 2004; Kuchinad et al., 2007; Valfrè et al., 2007) and increases in volume (Rocca et al., 2006) in specific brain regions. Self-reported pain assessed using sensitivity questionnaire was positively correlated with larger grey matter volume in the parahippocampal gyrus, extending to the hippocampus (Ruscheweyh et al., 2018). Furthermore, volumetric reduction changes in the PFC, have been observed in patients with various types of chronic pain, including chronic lower back pain and fibromyalgia (Kelley and Domesick, 1982; Kuchinad et al., 2007; Moriarty et al., 2011). Importantly, ongoing spontaneous knee OA pain was reported to engage medial prefrontal-limbic cortical areas (Parks et al., 2012).

Clinical studies have showed altered functional network in some pain conditions, such as fibromyalgia (Ichesco et al., 2014), chronic widespread pain (van Ettinger-Veenstra et al., 2019) and ankylosing spondylitis (Hemington et al., 2016). Several studies provide evidence that OA is associated with brain anatomical and functional alterations (Gwilym et al., 2010; Cottam et al., 2018; Barroso et al., 2020). Baliki and colleagues have showed that different chronic pain types have different "brain signatures" (Baliki et al., 2011). In knee OA patients, grey matter density was reported to be reduced in the insular and mid anterior cingulate cortex, paracentral lobule, hippocampus and regions of the inferior cortex (Baliki et al., 2011). Mao and colleagues have also reported a small reduction of grey matter in the hippocampus

of knee OA patients compared with controls (Mao et al., 2016). A recent study conducted in patient with chronic knee OA also reported disruption in the functional connectivity (Cottam et al., 2018). Brain network alteration were also shown in rats after induction of MIA model (Abaei et al., 2016).

Although imaging techniques in human patients play a fundamental role in identifying associations between changes in brain function and chronic pain, they are limited in advancing understanding of the underlying mechanisms. Here, animal models have been a valuable tool to dissect these changes at a cellular and network level. For example, a study conducted in an induced neuropathic pain model in rats reported increased length and branching of dendrites and spine density of pyramidal neurons in acute slices of the medial PFC contralateral compared with control rats (Metz et al., 2009).

Apart from the morphological changes, several studies have reported neurochemical changes. There is a huge number of neurotrophic factors, cytokines, enzymes and neurotransmitters commonly involved in both pain and cognitive processing, and disruption of the normal activity of these components can lead to cognitive impairments. Some examples are the involvement of the brain-derived neurotrophic factors (BDNF), the glial cells and neurotransmitter GABA. All these components have been implicated in both pain and cognitive functions (check review for more information (Moriarty et al., 2011)).

1.5. COGNITIVE CHANGES IN CHRONIC PAIN

Cognition is defined as acquisition, processing, storage and retrieval of information by the brain (Spence, 1996). Cognitive function is crucial for an independent life and is also vital for the engagement with and success of a therapy. Pain itself has a cognitive-evaluative component (requires learning, recall of past experiences and active decision making). In this way, pain and cognition can overlap.

A review of the literature around cognitive deficits in chronic pain reveal there are two main models used to explain cognitive impairments: those that suggest cognitive impairments are an indirect consequence of chronic pain, and those that suggest these deficits are a direct consequence of chronic pain (Moriarty et al., 2011). Indirect models mainly attribute cognitive impairments in chronic pain patients to depression, anxiety, insomnia or medication (Landrø et al., 2013). Contrasting with these ideas, there is the emerging idea that chronic pain processing may disrupt directly brain regions with crucial roles in cognitive functions and, consequently, causes cognitive deficits (Moriarty et al., 2011).

It has been suggested that the association of cognitive deficits and chronic pain reflects competition for the same neural network (Legrain et al., 2009b, 2009a; Moriarty et al., 2011). Processing of the nociceptive inputs in chronic pain patients is very persistent and can compete with other sensory inputs for processing resources, resulting in impaired cognitive functions. Cognitive neuroscience studies have highlighted the important roles of areas such as hippocampus and PFC in memory and attention. These areas as mention above, are also strongly associated with chronic pain conditions. It is important to note that these brain areas also have collateral reciprocal connections to each other and, generally, nociceptive information is not processed by a single and isolated brain region.

Clinical studies have been providing evidence that cognition may be impaired in some chronic pain conditions. Some examples of cognitive dysfunction that have been associated with chronic pain patients are memory, including working, spatial, recognition and long-term memory (Hart et al., 2000; Dick and Rashiq, 2007; Yong Liu et al., 2017); attention (Eccleston et al., 1997; Dick et al., 2002; Dick and Rashiq, 2007; Oosterman et al., 2011); decision making (Apkarian et al., 2004; Berryman et al., 2013); and mental flexibility (Karp et al., 2006; Moriarty et al., 2017).

Cognition can be greatly impacted by factors such as age and emotional states such as depression and anxiety, as well as by chronic pain, but the current literature is not always consensual on the impact of each of them or their comorbid effects. One of the major limitations of the clinical studies in this field is the lack of baseline measures and consequently the establishment of appropriate control groups. Preclinical studies on the other hand, allow to study and explore the mechanisms of cognition-pain interactions with the use of well-established animal models of chronic pain and translational neurocognitive tasks.

Preclinical studies have also contributed with evidence that chronic pain has negative impacts on cognition in rodents (for review see (Moriarty et al., 2011)). Attention deficits in rodents with inflammatory pain showed lower accuracy, higher perseverative and premature responses comparing with control animals (Pais-Vieira et al., 2009). Also, behavioural flexibility was impaired in rodents with chronic pain conditions (Brown and Tait, 2014; Murray et al., 2015; Moriarty et al., 2016a; Cowen et al., 2018). Additionally, long-term potentiation (LTP), the main form of measuring the activity-dependent synaptic plasticity, was impaired in the hippocampus of nerve-injured mice, suggesting pain-related reduction in LTP might be an important driver of cognitive impairments in chronic pain (Ji et al., 2010).

Decision-making impairments in rodents were observed in studies using two different models of inflammatory chronic pain (kaolin and carrageenan model and complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA) model), where pain was associated with a preference for a "high-risk" lever associated with larger but more infrequent rewards than the alternative lever (Pais-Vieira et al., 2009). Similar results were also observed in a model of visceral pain (Cao et al., 2016). Increased neuronal excitability and synaptic transmission in the basolateral amygdala was associated with decreased activity in the mPFC and consequently impaired decision-making performance in an arthritis pain rodent model. The pharmacological deactivation of the basolateral amygdala was able to increase activity in mPFC neurons and restore normal task performance in the gambling task (Ji et al., 2010).

Cardoso-Cruz and colleagues have reported that the induction of neuropathic pain in a rat model impaired performance on a working memory task by disrupting PFC-hippocampus connectivity in a frequency-dependent memory (Cardoso-Cruz et al., 2019). They show that typically healthy rats exhibit higher theta frequency connectivity levels between these areas compared with neuropathic rats and that these levels were a good predictor of good performances. The interaction between the hippocampus and PFC seems also crucial for social memory behaviour (Sun et al., 2020). Once more, these studies provide evidence that pain may induce brain plasticity alterations that may be associated with cognitive impairments in chronic pain patients.

Although cognitive deficits are widely acknowledged in relation to chronic pain, the distinct cognitive processes affected in distinct chronic pain conditions remain to be clarified. Furthermore, little is known about the specific effects of musculoskeletal pain on cognitive function, but even less is known regarding the relationship between OA pain and cognitive deficits. Some clinical studies conducted in groups of chronic patients with different conditions, including musculoskeletal pain patients have found impairments in working memory and verbal episodic memory performance (Oosterman et al., 2011), mental flexibility (Karp et al., 2006) and attention (Dick et al., 2002). However, as previously mentioned different chronic pain conditions can have different brain signatures (Baliki et al., 2011) showing the importance to further address cognitive deficits in particular pain conditions.

1.6. THESIS OUTLINE

In this thesis, we used a chemical-induced model of OA knee pain in a rodent model to test the hypothesis that persistent nociceptive inputs associated with chronic OA pain disrupts or competes with cognitive inputs leading to cognitive impairments, such as hippocampusdependent memory, recognition memory and cognitive flexibility. Additionally, we investigated how sustained opioid treatment affected memory function in this OA rodent model. In sum, the main objectives were:

1) To transfer/validate the MIA model to adult Lister hooded rats.

2) To investigate hippocampus-dependent memory in MIA-injected adult male LH rats.

3) To study recognition memory and behavioural flexibility in MIA-injected adult male LH rats.

4) To explore the possible effects of long-term morphine treatment on memory in MIAtreated LH rats.

CHAPTER 2

GENERAL METHODS

General methodologies and techniques are described in this chapter as are sources of animals, collected tissues, consumables and equipment. Techniques and procedures specific for any study are described in the respective chapter.

2.1. ANIMALS

All animal care and experimental procedures were conducted in accordance with the requirements of the UK Home Office Animals Scientific Procedures) Act (1986) and the International Association for the Study of Pain. Animal studies are reported in compliance with the ARRIVE guidelines (Kilkenny et al., 2010).

Young adult male Lister Hooded (LH) and Sprague Dawley (SD) rats from Charles River UK were used in this project. Animal numbers can be found in each chapter. LH rats weighed between 250-275g and SD rats weighed between 275-300g (rats of both strains were approximately 2 months of age) at the start of the experiments. The age was an important consideration when planning this project, previous studies have been describing the behavioural phenotype changes and key brain developmental processes across comparable ages in humans and in rats (Semple et al., 2013), for example evidence suggests that GABAergic and dopaminergic systems are only fully mature in rats at 2-3 months of age (i.e., postnatal day 60-90). Furthermore, an old radiographic skeletal study suggests that the rat bone is only completely mature around 60-80 postnatal day (Hughes and Tanner, 1970).

Rats were housed 4 per individually ventilated cages (IVC) cages under temperaturecontrolled conditions and under a 12 h light-dark cycle with lights-on between 7:00am and 7:00pm. Animals had food and water available ad libitum. First, rats had a period of acclimatisation following their arrival, they were habituated to handling by the experimenter for a few days before any experimental procedure or apparatus habituation. All behavioural testing was carried out during the light phase.

2.2. INTRA-ARTICULAR INJECTIONS

Osteoarthritis was chemically induced with a single intra-articular injection of monosodium iodoacetate (MIA). For induction of MIA-induced arthritis, each rat was anesthetised with isoflurane (isoflurane 2.5 – 3% in 1L/min O2). Each rat was placed in a chamber with this volatile mixture until areflexic (confirmed by pinching of hind paws). The rat was then placed in a supine position and the skin around the knee joint of both legs shaved, the diameter of the knee joints were measured using a digital electronic calliper and, then, the skin of left joint was swabbed with chlorhexidine (Animal care Ltd, Dunning ton, York). Each rat received a single intra-articular injection of 50 μ L of either MIA (1 mg/50 μ L saline or 3 mg/50 μ L saline; Sigma) or the same volume of sterile 0.9% normal saline (control animals) through the infra-patellar ligament of the left knee using a 30-gauge 8-mm needle (Guingamp et al., 1997; Bove et al., 2003; Sagar et al., 2010). The knee joint was held in around 90° flexion, then the needle was inserted through the suprapatellar ligament with the joint to administer the compound.

Animals were allocated to treatment groups before the model induction based on the behaviour baseline measurements; treatment allocations were adjusted to match groups for their baseline measurements. The experimenter conducting the knee injections was blind to treatment. Right (un-injected) and the saline injected knee joint were used as controls.

2.3. PAIN BEHAVIOUR MEASURMENTS

Baseline measures were obtained prior to the intra-articular injections of MIA-induced arthritis and then repeated postoperatively at specific time points (described in each study). The effects of intra-articular injection of MIA/saline were assessed using two behavioural tests: i) weight distribution through the injured and contralateral limb using an incapacitance tester (Bove et al., 2003) and ii) mechanical sensitivity measuring the hindpaw withdrawal thresholds by application of von Frey monofilaments in the plantar surface of the paw (Chaplan et al., 1994; Combe et al., 2004; Sagar et al., 2011).

2.3.1. WEIGHT-BEARING TEST

The change in distribution of weight across the hind limbs associated with osteoarthritic knee pain was assessed by measuring changes in the weight distribution between ipsilateral (osteoarthritic) and contralateral paw (control). Rats were first habituated in the Perspex box

prior to start of the study for at least 3 days in order to get used to their surroundings and to reduce the stress levels during the data collection. Animals were placed in an incapacitance (Linton Instrumentation Diss, Norfolk, UK) tester in a way that each hind paw rested on a separate scaler plate to that force exerted by each limb can be measured (Fig.2.1.). The average of the force exerted in 3 seconds was measured in grams and the collected data corresponds to the mean of three consecutive readings. Changes in hind paw weight distribution were calculated by the following equation:

(Ipsilateral/Contralateral + Ipsilateral) x 100.



FIGURE 2.1. – **INCAPACITANCE METER USED FOR WEIGHT BEARING ASYMMETRY ASSESSMENTS.** The incapacitance meter consists in a Perspex box with a lid to hold the animal, two transducer pads in the bottom allow to record weight distributed to either hind limb by the rat. The average of the force exerted in 3 seconds was measured in grams and the collected data corresponds to the mean of three consecutive readings.

2.3.2. PAW WITHDRAWAL THRESHOLD TEST

The development of mechanical allodynia was assessed using Von Frey monofilaments test (Fig.2.2.). Rats were first habituated to the apparatus at least 3 days before testing. On the first two days, animals were only placed in the chambers for approximately 30 min with no stimuli, on the third day of habituation, after the 30 min habituation 6g was applied to the plantar surface of the animals in order to habituate the animals at the presence of the



FIGURE 2.2. – **VON-FREY CAGES USED FOR MEASURING MECHANICAL ALLODYNIA**. Rats were placed in Plexiglas wire bottom test cages and hindpaw withdrawal threshold was measured by applying Von-Frey monofilaments of different forces with the up-down method.

stimuli. In each day of testing rats were placed singly into the cages 15-20 min prior to the assessment. Hind paw withdrawal threshold (PWT) was measured using a modified up-down method (Chaplan et al., 1994; Sagar et al., 2011). Von Frey monofilaments (Semmes-Weinstein monofilaments of bending forces 0.6, 1, 1.4, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 and 15; the force values are presented in grams) were applied perpendicular to the plantar surface of both paws of the rats for 3s period in ascending order, starting with 6g hair. If fewer than two applications elicited a withdrawal response, the hair with the next highest force was applied. Once a positive response was established, the paw was retested with the next descending Von Frey monofilament until no response occurred. A positive response was considered if the paw was sharply withdrawn or flinching or licking occurred. The lowest weight of monofilament which elicited a reflex was noted as a PWT.

2.4. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY MEASURMENTS

The effects of intra-articular injection of MIA/saline were assessed using two behavioural tests: i) open-field locomotor activity test, to assess potential impairments in the locomotor activity and ii) startle/prepulse inhibition test to evaluate brain function. Sensorimotor activity measures were also obtained prior to the intra-articular injections of MIA-induced arthritis, and postoperatively at specific time points (described in each study). Sensorimotor activity measurements were conducted one day after pain behaviour measurements.

2.4.1. LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY TEST

To assess locomotor activity rats were placed individually in the centre of Perspex chambers (39.5cm long x 23.5cm wide x 24.5cm deep) with metal grid lids for 30 minutes (Fig.2.3.). Locomotor activity was measured similar to previous studies (Pezze et al., 2014). 2 levels of a 4x8 photobeam configuration allowed measuring the locomotor activity, the break of two consecutive photobeams generates a locomotor count (Photobeam Activity System; San Diego Instruments). The total locomotor activity was calculated for each 10 min block of the overall time of the test.



FIGURE 2.3. – OPEN-FIELD CHAMBER USED TO MEASURE LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY. Rats were placed in Plexiglas chambers for 30 minutes and locomotor activity was measured by break of photobeams.

2.4.2. STARTLE-PREPULSE INHIBITION TESTS

Startle is a reflex evoked by sudden stimuli, which can be tactile, visual or acoustic. While, prepulse Inhibition (PPI) is a phenomenon in which a suppression of a startle response occurs when a weak stimulus (prepulse) precedes a subsequent stronger startle stimulus. Startle/PPI test has been used in both humans and rodents as a measure of sensorimotor gating. Brain areas such hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, nucleus accumbens and amygdala seem to play an important role in Startle/PPI (Koch, 1999).

The measurements were conducted similar to previous studies (Pezze et al., 2014) using four well-lit (15W) and ventilated sound-attenuated chambers (39x38x58cm3), each one with a clear Perspex cylinder (8.8cm diameter, 19.5cm long) inside (Fig.2.4.). The cylinders

were linked to a solid Perspex base also linked to an accelerometer to measure the individual whole-body startle response by a Reflex Testing software (San Diego Instruments, US). Centrally above the cylinders was located speakers that presented the background and acoustic stimuli produced by a noise generator controlled by the SR-Lab system (San Diego Instruments, US).

Startle/ PPI test was divided in four main parts, the acclimatization and 3 test blocks. In the acclimatization rat is exposed to a 62-dB (A) background noise for a period of 5 minutes, the background noise continues through all the session (23 minutes). In the first block, 10 startle pulses of 120-dB (A) of 40ms each were presented alone. In the second block, to measure the PPI, 5 different type of pulse (120-, 84-, 80-, 76-, 72-dB (A)) were presented 10 times each, in pseudorandom order and with a variable interval of 10 to 20s duration. The percentage of PPI (%PPI) induced for each pulse intensity was calculated using the follow formula: %PPI = [(mean amplitude on pulse-alone trials – mean startle amplitude on prepulse-plus-pulse trials) / (mean startle amplitude on pulse-alone trials – trial)] X 100. Finally, in the third block 5 startle pulses of 120-dB (A) completed the session.



FIGURE 2.4. – STARTLE/PREPULSE INHIBITION CHAMBER USED TO MEASURE SENSORIMOTOR GATING. Rats were placed in a Plexiglas cylinder inside a sound-attenuated chamber. The cylinder was linked to an accelerometer to measure the startle response to the different pulse intensities presented during the test.

2.5. TISSUE COLLECTION AND TISSUE PROCESSING

At the end of each study, animals were anesthetized with a lethal dose of sodium pentobarbitone (1-1.5 mL Euthatal, intraperitoneal), and then transcardially perfused with

0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) (around 250-300 ml of each solution was used to perfuse each animal).

Blood was collected during the perfusion with saline. Brains, spinal cords and DRGs were carefully excised and kept in the same fixative (PFA 4%) overnight and then stored in 30% sucrose azide solution at 4°C for cryprotection.

Both ipsilateral and contralateral knees were also collected and stored in the fixative for 72h. Knee joints were then transferred to an ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) + 7.5% polyvinylpyroolidene (PVP) solution for decalcification (5 to 6 weeks, agitated at room temperature). Solution was changed once a week. This process allows to soften the heavily mineralised tissue and consequently to obtain an adequate and satisfactory thin section for histological purposes.

After decalcification, knee joints were split in a frontal plane so medial and lateral orientation was maintained. Knees were kept stretched with help of forceps and then, with a sharp razor split along the lateral ligament (medial collateral ligament) (Kraus et al., 2010). Both halves, anterior and posterior parts, were placed in separated cassettes. Then, the trimmed joints in the cassettes were processed by standard histological techniques and mounted in paraffin wax at King's Mill Hospital by an experienced laboratory technician (Roger Hill). Twenty-four 5µm sections were cut in total from each paraffin block (from both anterior and posterior halves of the knee). 8 serial 5µm sections were obtained from 3 different levels (post, medial and frontal part) and 1 section from each level were stained and used for scoring. Paraffin sections were cut using the microtome at City Hospital by Sara or by an experienced histology technician (Mohsen Seyed).

2.6. HISTOLOGICAL STAINING

Histological techniques were used to detect chemical components of cells and tissues to assess OA progression in the knee joints. Haematoxylin and Eosin (H&E) and Safranin-O-Fast Green are the most commonly used histological stain techniques to detect chemical components of cells and tissues to assess OA progression in the knee joints.

H&E staining is used to assess basic structures/tissue morphology (Schmitz et al., 2010). Haematoxylin is basic dye with high affinity for acidic structures such as nucleus, staining them blue/purple, while eosin is an acidic dye that stains basic structures such as cytoplasm, staining them pinkish (Fig.2.5.). Areas with high proteoglycan content are stained bluish. Paraffin wax sections were first dewaxed in xylene (x2) for 5 min, then rehydrated in graded ethanol (100% and 70%, both x2 for 5 min), and then washed in distilled water for 5 min. Sections were then immersed in the nuclear staining (Mayer's haematoxylin) for 15 min, rinsing in running tap water until the water was discoloured and sections turned blue. Sections were then dipped for 30 seconds to 1 min in the second dye (eosin) to stain all other tissue structures and rinsing in tap water again to differentiate the staining. Sections were then dehydrated through graded ethanol (70% and 100%, both x2 for 5 min) and dipped into xylene (x2, 5 min). Finally, slides were mounted in DPX and covered using 64 mm cover glass and allowed to dry in the fume hood.

Safranin-O-Fast green is highly used to study cartilage and bone structures(Schmitz et al., 2010). Safranin-O is a cationic dye that stains proteoglycan in normal cartilage. Proteoglycans are stained dark pink-red and the red colour intensity is a measure of cartilage damage. Fast green stains the subchondral bone in blue/green (Fig.2.6.). Paraffin wax embedded sections were fist dewaxed in xylene (x2) for 5 min, then rehydrated in graded ethanol (100% and 70%, both x2 for 5 min), and then washed in distilled water for 5 min. Sections were then immersed in the Weigert's haematoxylin dye for 2 min, rinsing in running tap water for 1 min and then in acid alcohol solution for 20 sec and subsequently in tap water again for 3 min.



FIGURE 2.5. – HAEMATOXYLIN AND EOSIN STAINED SECTION OF RAT TIBIA. Cartilage matrix – pink (bluish), bone, fibrotic tissue – pink to red, nuclei – blue, cytoplasm – pink to red.

Sections were then immersed for 5 min in the fast green, briefly dipped into acetic acid for 1 sec and immersed in Safranin-O for 5 min. To differentiate staining, sections were submersed in running tap water for 5 min and then dehydrated in 100% ethanol (x2 for 5 min) and dipped into xylene (x2, 5 min). Finally, slides were mounted in DPX and covered using 64 mm cover glass and allowed to dry in the fume hood.



FIGURE 2.6. – **SAFRANIN-O FAST GREEN STAINED SECTION OF RAT TIBIA**. Cartilage matrix – pink to red, underlying bone – blue/green, nuclei – dark blue/black, cytoplasm – grey green/blue.

2.7. HISTOPATHOLOGICAL SCORING

After staining, images were collected using a Zeiss Axioscop50 microscope (Carl Zeiss Ltd, Welwyn Garden City, UK), captured using a video camera (AxioCam MRmZeiss) and analysed using Axiovision real 4.8 software. Experimenters were blinded to experimental group. Once again, scoring were carried out by Sara or by an experienced histology technician (Mohsen Seyed). In the first study, a reliability analysis between Mohesen's and Sara's scorings was carried out (intraclass correlation (ICC)>0.90, p<0.001 for all the scoring parameters).

Microscopic scoring for OA cartilage pathology was carried out as described in Table I.

	Score:
Cartilage damage (Janusz et al.,	0= normal
2002)	1= minimal superficial zone only
2002)	2= mild extends into the upper middle zone
	3= moderate well into the middle zone
	4= marked into the deep zone but not to tidemark
	5= severe full thickness degeneration to tidemark
	Cartilage integrity = Cartilage damage x cartilage
	damage involvement (1, 2 or 3).
	Involvement is the extent of damage in the tibial
	plateau – this area is divided in 3 equal parts along
	the surface)
Synovial inflammation (Mapp et	0= lining cell layer 1-2 cells thick
al., 2008)	1= lining cell layer 3-5 cells thick
	2= lining cell layer 6-8 cells thick and/or mild increase
	in cellularity
	3= lining cell layer >9 cells thick and/or severe
	increase in cellularity
Osteophytes(Janusz et al., 2002)	0= no changes
	1= mild (<40 μm)
	2= moderate (40–160 μm)
	3= severe (>160 μM)
	(size is measured using an ocular micrometer)
Chondrocytes (Pritzker et al.,	0= present in the cartilage
2006)	1= not present in the cartilage
Proteoglycans (Pritzker et al.,	0= normal
2006)	1= mild loss
,	2= moderate loss
	3= severe loss
	4= complete loss

TABLE I – PARAMETERS USED FOR HISTOPATHOLOGICAL SCORING OF MIA MODEL.

CHAPTER 3

MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE-INDUCED OSTEOARTHRITIS-LIKE KNEE PAIN IN LISTER HOODED RATS

3.1. INTRODUCTION

Chronic pain is a major public health problem worldwide with no effective treatment. Pain is the principal reason why chronic pain patients seek medical assistance and pain research is mainly focused on the nociceptive / sensation components. Nevertheless there is evidence that this disease may also be associated with other comorbidities, including cognitive impairments (Moriarty et al., 2011). However, pain research has only recently started to focus on the non-sensation components of the disease and understanding of the relationship between chronic pain and cognition and underlying mechanisms is limited. Overall, understanding of the impact of chronic pain on cognition is variable depending upon the pain state, in the case of osteoarthritis (OA) it is rather limited.

Animal models can provide important information and highlight relevant mechanisms that lead to the development of a health problem, and for that they are a crucial tool to study and characterise pathologies and for the development of new therapeutics. The selection of the most appropriate animal model and strain to address the study question is crucial to obtain the most clinically relevant information and maximise the benefits of the research.

3.1.1. MONOSODIUM-IODOACETATE MODEL

As mentioned in the general introduction, there are several animal models that replicate aspects of human OA physiopathology, including spontaneous, surgically- and chemicallyinduced models. No single model is able to reproduce entirely the human disease, however the spontaneous models are widely accepted because they mimic the natural occurrence of OA. However, the models most commonly used are induced models that in contrast with the spontaneous models allow the use of appropriate age-matched controls and exhibit less heterogeneity, and consequently require lower numbers of animals per group. Intra-articular injection of monosodium iodoacetate MIA has been widely used to model the development of OA and associated pain responses, and to test potential new drug therapies aimed at resolving the painful symptoms (Lampropoulou-Adamidou et al., 2014). This model has been widely used due to the rapid timecourse in the development of joint pathology, the high reproducibility (Guzman et al., 2003; Marker and Pomonis, 2012; Pitcher et al., 2016) and it does not require any additional surgery and therefore avoids postoperative pain. MIA is an inhibitor of the enzyme glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, and therefore an inhibitor of glycolysis (Jiang et al., 2013). Intra-articular injection of MIA induces chondrocytic death that leads to destruction of cartilage in several different animals species, including rodents, rabbits and guinea pigs (Kim et al., 2018).

3.1.2. FEATURES OF THE MIA MODEL

Although the MIA model does not mimic the natural occurrence of OA in humans it is associated with similar features of knee pathology (Guingamp et al., 1997). OA is a multifactorial disease and besides cartilage degradation, synovitis (infiltration of inflammatory cells in the synovium space) (Dulay et al., 2015) and fibrillation is also present (Piperno et al., 1998). The intra-articular injection of MIA results in chrondrocyte death in the tibial plateaux and femoral condyles which leads to loss of cartilage integrity, osteophyte formation and progressive proteoglycan loss (Janusz et al., 2001, 2002; Pritzker et al., 2006). At later stages, cartilage fibrillation, resorption and subchondral bone degradation also occur (Janusz et al., 2002; Mapp et al., 2013).

As in people with unilateral knee OA (Christiansen and Stevens-Lapsley, 2010), rodents with unilateral joint injury also exhibit weight bearing asymmetry (Bove et al., 2003). Weight bearing asymmetry is an indicator of standing pain, patients and rodents with OA tend to lean less or put less weight on the injured joint, being considered an indirect measurement of knee pain. The MIA model is associated with pain related behaviours, such as asymmetry of hind paw weight distribution and lowered hindpaw withdrawal thresholds (mechanical allodynia) (Bove et al., 2003; Sagar et al., 2010, 2011). Measuring this pain behaviour provides indirect surrogate measures of alterations in the peripheral and central processing underlying OA-related pain, as changes in weight bearing represent changes in both peripheral and central processes, while lowered paw withdrawal thresholds is mainly centrally driven (Graven-Nielsen and Arendt-Nielsen, 2002).

As described in the general introduction, there are multiple lines of evidence from preclinical and clinical studies for central sensitization in pain processing in OA (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2015). Evidence for central sensitization includes the development of hyperalgesia, i.e., increased responses to a painful stimulus, allodynia, painful responses to an otherwise innocuous stimulus, and changes in spinal neuronal thresholds (Lluch et al., 2014; Havelin et al., 2016; Soni et al., 2019). In the MIA model in rats, enhanced spinal responses to mechanical stimulation of the hindpaw skin were demonstrated (Sagar et al., 2010). Changes in hindpaw mechanical thresholds may indicate referred (distal) pain (Arendt-Nielsen et al., 2018), and can be assed in rodents by measuring changes in withdrawal thresholds at remote sites to the primary injury (Nwosu et al., 2016a).

Overall, there is strong evidence that a single intra-articular injection of MIA leads to histological, biochemical and pain behaviour changes. Both the extent of knee pathology and pain behaviour are dose and time dependent, with higher concentration of MIA leading to greater severity at earlier time points – Table I (Bove et al., 2003; Sagar et al., 2010; Ferreira-Gomes et al., 2012; Mapp et al., 2013; Ogbonna et al., 2013; Aso et al., 2016; Nwosu et al., 2016b).

3.1.3. RAT STRAINS USED TO TEST COGNITIVE FUNCTION AND NOCICEPTIVE RESPONDING

The main aim of this thesis was to study the potential impact of chronic OA pain on cognitive function and to address this several cognitive tasks were conducted. Besides selecting an appropriate pain model, an appropriate rat strain is also an important factor to consider. As mentioned before, the MIA model has been widely used to measure pain behaviour, including in our lab; however, previous studies have been mainly conducted in young albino rat strains as showed in Table I. Unfortunately, albino rats show comparatively poorer performances in translational tests of clinically relevant cognitive functions. A study conducted in several pigmented strains, such as Lister hooded (LH) rats and Long Evans rats, albino strains, such as SD and Wistar rats, and also wild rats has showed that pigmented and wild animals have significant higher visual acuity when compared to albino strains (Prusky et al., 2002). The poor visual acuity of the albino strains can lead to worse performances in specific behaviour tasks, making the strain selection a very important factor to take into account when vision-mediated behavioural task, such as the Morris watermaze task or other behavioural maze tasks are involved. Other studies showed that non-albino strain performed
better in visual learning and memory tasks (Yau et al., 1994; Higgins et al., 2007; Kumar et al., 2015).

3.1.3.1. CHRONIC PAIN MODELS IN LISTER HOODED RATS

For decades pigmented strains have been the first choice for assessment of navigation and memory in rodents (Clemens et al., 2014), as these animals are usually more accurate and faster at learning the tasks, allowing detection of impairments in specific conditions more precisely. In addition, LH rats show increased locomotor activity and novelty-induced behaviour (Clemens et al., 2014). For these reasons, LH rats were selected to be used in this thesis.

Previous studies of pain conditions have been performed in LH rats, various models have been studied including intra-plantar injection of formalin to induce inflammation (Butler et al., 2011), spinal nerve ligation (Moriarty et al., 2016a), inguinal hernia repair (Bree et al., 2016) and complete Freund's Adjuvant (Pais-Vieira et al., 2009). However, to our knowledge, models of OA pain have yet to be studied in LH rats.

3.1.4. CHAPTER AIMS

MIA model has been widely used to investigate pain mechanisms, associated behaviour and possible treatments. The intra-articular injection of this glycolysis inhibitor promotes characteristic pain behaviour, degradation of cartilage, as well as other OA features in several laboratory animals, such as rodent, rabbits and guineas pigs. Albino rat strains have been the most commonly used in pain laboratories, however these strains are less suitable for cognitive behaviour studies, due to poor performances in comparative translational tests of clinically relevant cognitive functions. In this chapter, in order to overcome this drawback when testing our hypothesis that chronic OA pain may affect cognitive function, chronic OAlike knee pain induced by MIA model was studied in LH rats with the objective of identifying a suitable dose to induce a robust pain phenotype and knee pathology in this strain of rats.

I ABLE I- JUN	/IMARY UF 3		I ABLE I- SUMIMARY OF SOME IVITA DOSES IN PAIN BEHAVIOUR AN		UCK AND KNEE HISTOLOGY. WD: WEIGHT BEAKING; VF: VON-FREY LEST.	; VF: VON-FREY LESI.
Paper	Strain	Age	MIA	Time point	Pain behaviour	Knee histology
(Nwosu et al. 2016)	Sprague Dawley rat	250- 300 g	0.1 mg or 1 mg (50 µL)	Until day 20 (1mg) and day 42 (0.1mg)	WB: 1 mg resulted in WB asymmetry while 0.1 mg did not sig. alter the WB. PWT: Both doses reduced PWT.	At D20 , both cartilage damage and abnormal chondrocyte morphology were comparable for the two doses of MIA. However, proteoglycan loss only reached significant difference for 1 mg group, compared to the control.
(Sagar et al. 2010)	Sprague- Dawley rat	160- 190 g	0.3 mg, 1 mg, or 3mg (50 μl)	Until day 28	 0.3 mg MIA did not produced change in pain behaviour on day 14 WB: 1 mg and 3 mg produced changes in weight bearing (slightly higher asymmetry with higher dose) PWT: All doses reduced PWT. 0.3 and 1 mg showed similar results. 3 mg produced a more robust decrease in PWT. 	1 mg produced comparable changes in cartilage and subchondral bone on days 14 and 28, mild synovitis only on day 28. 3 mg MIA produced severe changes in cartilage, subchondral bone, and synovitis, increasing from day 14 to day 28. No results from 0.3 mg Decreases in hind paw withdrawal thresholds were significantly correlated with changes in cartilage subchondral bone and synovium histology on day 28 but not day 14 following injection of MIA.
(Bove et al. 2003)	Wistar rats	175- 200 g	0.1 mg, 0.3 mg, 1mg or 3 mg (50 µl)	Days 1, 3, 7 and 14	WB : concentration-dependent increase in the WB asymmetry	Only assessed in rats that had received 1 mg of MIA at days 7 and 14. Cartilage damage, chondrocyte loss and loss of proteoglycan, increasing severity from day 14 to day 28.
(Aso et al. 2016)	Sprague Dawley rats	250- 300 g	3 mg/ 25 µl	Week 2 and 6	WB: reduction from week 1 with peak at week 6 PWT: continuous reduction from week 1 to week 3 and then a slightly reverse was observed from week 4 to week 6.	At Zweeks , severe damage of the cartilage and subchondral bone changes. At 6 weeks , the subchondral bone damage was further aggravated and fibrillation is present.
(Ferreira- Gomes et al. 2012)	Wistar rats	230 ±20 g	0.3 mg, 1 mg, or 2mg (25 µl)	Until day 31	Knee-bend and CATwalk : Dose-dependent increase	Dose- and time-dependent. Higher dose leads to higher severity in early time points.
(Udo et al. 2016)	Wistar rats	270- 285 g	0.1 mg, 0.2 mg, 0.5 mg or 1mg (50 µl)	Week 2, 4, 6, 8 and 12	no behaviour	Dose- and time-dependent.
(Mapp et al. 2013)	Sprague Dawley rat	~180 B	1mg/ 50 µl	Until Day49	MIA- injected rats did not display WB asymmetry. PWT were also reduced. Saline animals also showed a small decrease in PWT.	Synovitis, osteophytes, chondropathy and vascular channels reduction were observed since D14. The severity of the histology pathology increased with time. By day 49: extensive loss of proteoglycan and absence of chondrocytes.
(Ogbonn a, Clark, and Malcangi o 2015)	C57Bl/6 mice	3, 15 or 22 mont hs old (20- 40 g)	1mg/10uL	Until day 28	WB: All ages showed significant changes in WB (15-month-old showed the greatest asymmetry in the 15-month-old and attenuated in the 22-month-old mice). PWT: No changes in PWT was observed in both 15- and 22- month-old mice. Reduced PWT in the 3-month-old mice	3- to 22-month-old mice showed cartilage damage and loss of proteoglycan.

3.2. METHODS

Refer to Chapter 2 for general methodology.

3.2.1. ANIMALS

A total of 48 adult male Lister hooded (LH) rats weighing between 253-283g and 24 Sprague-Dawley (SD) weighing between 275-300g (rats of both strains were approximately 2-3 months of age; Charles Rivers, UK) were used in this study. The age was an important consideration when planning this project to ensure complete brain and bone maturation, as discussed in chapter 2.

3.2.2. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY

The model of OA pain was induced with a single intra-articular injection of MIA (as described in 2.2.). Each rat was injected with 50 μ L of MIA (1 mg/50 μ L or 3 mg/50 μ L saline) or the same volume of sterile 0.9% saline solution (control animals) through the infra-patellar ligament. Rats were initially allocated to the treatment groups before model induction based on the pain and sensorimotor activity baseline measurements to match the prospective treatment groups for their baseline measurements as closely as possible. In each cage, half of the animals received treatment and the other half saline. The experimenter (S.G.) was blinded to the treatment allocations throughout the data collection and analysis.

Baseline measures of pain behaviour and sensorimotor activity were obtained prior to MIA-induced arthritis (Day 0) and then measures were taken at specific postoperative time points as described in Fig.3.1. Pain behaviour were assessed using two behavioural tests: i) weight distribution through the injured and contralateral limb using an incapacitance tester, and ii) mechanical sensitivity measurement of hindpaw withdrawal thresholds by application of von Frey monofilaments to the plantar surface of the paw (as described in 2.3.). Potential effects of the model on the sensorimotor activity were assessed using two behavioural tests: i) open-field locomotor activity test, to assess potential impairments in the locomotor activity, and ii) startle/prepulse inhibition test to evaluate brain function (as described in 2.4).

3.2.4. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Three different experiments were conducted:

Experiment 1 – LH rats injected with 1 mg MIA: a total of 24 LH rats were used in two separate replicates. Rats received a single intra-articular injection of either MIA (1 mg/50 μ L; n=12) or the same volume of sterile saline solution (controls; n=12). After MIA injection one rat presented breathing difficulties and was humanely killed and excluded from the study. One extra rat was excluded from weight-bearing test due to intense stress when placed into the chamber. Pain behaviour and sensorimotor activity measurements were collected at baseline, and then from day 3 to day 42, twice a week until the endpoint Day 49. (Fig3.1.A).

Experiment 2 - 20 LH and 20 SD rats were used in this experiment. Half of the rats of each strain were injected with 50 µL of MIA (1 mg/50 µL), the other half were injected with the same volume of sterile saline solution (controls). Pain behaviour measurements were collected at baseline, days 14 and 28 after model induction to prevent habituation to the tests due to repeated testing. Sensorimotor activity was assessed at baseline, days 15 and 29. Endpoint: Day 35. (Fig.3.1.B).

Experiment 3 – this experiment was conducted as a pilot study and all the 4 LH and the 4 SD rats were injected with 3 mg/50 μ L of MIA. Pain behaviour was assessed at baseline days 7, 14, 21 and 28. Endpoint: Day 35. (Fig.3.1.C).

At the end of each experiment, rats were anesthetized with a lethal dose of sodium pentobarbitone and transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Brains, spinal cords, DRGs and knees were carefully excised, preserved and stored. Knee joint sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin- or safranin-O/fast green and then scored for overall joint morphology and proteoglycan loss. Total cartilage joint damage, osteophyte, proteoglycan loss, synovial inflammation and chondrocyte presence were scored to evaluate the severity of the knee joint pathology as described in 2.7.

3.2.5. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

GraphPad Prism 8 and IBM SPSS Statistics 24 were used to generate the graphs and perform the statistical analysis. Results from the pain behaviour studies were analysed using

an analysis of variance (ANOVA), with group for between-subjects and time as repeated measures/within-subjects variable of testing day. Results from the sensorimotor behaviour studies were analysed using a mixed design factorial ANOVA test with testing day and task blocks (or pulse intensity in the PPI test) as within-subject factors and group as between-subjects factor. Bonferroni multiple comparison was used as *post-hoc* testing. Knee pathology was analysed with Kruskal-wallis test since normality was violated.

p<0.05 was considered to represent a significant difference and all results were expressed as mean ± standard error (SEM).



FIGURE 3.1. – **TIME COURSE OF THE MIA-INDUCED OA-LIKE KNEE PAIN IN LISTER HOODED RATS STUDY.** 48 LH rats and 24 SD rats were used in this study. Rats were first handled and habituated to the experimenter and pain behaviour test apparatus. Pain and sensorimotor activity baseline measurements were collected before model induction and then at specific time points after MIA (1mg or 3mg /50µl) or saline intra-articular injection as indicated in the scheme. 3 experiments were carried on in this study (A, B and C).

3.3. RESULTS

At this point, data from experiments 1 and 2 are presented together.

Rats from both SD and LH strains with approximately the same age were used to ensure the same degree of brain and bone development. At the equivalent age, adult SD rats were heavier than adult LH rats (Fig.3.2.), SD MIA-injected rats showed a trend to gain less body weight than saline control SD, but no significant differences were observed (group: $F_{(1,18)}=1.45$; p=0.24). This trend was not evident in LH rats (group: $F_{(1,18)}=0.50$).



FIGURE 3.2. – BODY WEIGHT OF SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) AND LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS AFTER MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) OR SALINE INJECTIONS. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 1mg of MIA (\Box , \circ) or saline (•, •) in the left knee (n=10 in each group). Data are presented as mean±SEM.

3.3.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR – 1 MG MIA

The standard dose of MIA (1 mg) was only able to induce weak pain phenotypes in both LH and SD rat strains, reflected by small changes in the weight bearing asymmetry and no significant changes in the paw withdrawal thresholds.

LH rats injected with 1mg in the experiment 1 exhibited a decrease in weight bearing compared with control animals (group: $F_{(1,19)}=15.74$; p=0.0008) (Fig.3.3.A), showing that MIA LH rats place less weight on the injured paw compared with LH saline. Bonferroni post hoc analysis showed this difference was only statistically significant at day 3 after model induction, and likely reflects an acute inflammatory response. Main effect of time was observed ($F_{(11, 209)}=2.22$; p=0.01), however, no interaction involving group was observed ($F_{(11, 209)}=1.26$; p=0.25). No differences in hindpaw withdrawal thresholds were observed for MIA versus saline injected rats (group: $F_{(1,20)}=3.22$; p=0.09) (Fig.3.3.B). Both the MIA and control groups showed a decrease in paw withdrawal threshold after intra-articular injection, reflecting habituation to the test (time: $F_{(10,200)}=2.09$; p =0.27). No significant interaction between group and time was found(time x group: $F_{(1,20)}=0.88$).



FIGURE 3.3. – MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) INDUCED WEAK ASYMMETRY IN (A) WEIGHT BEARING AND NO CHANGES IN (B) MECHANICAL ALLODYNIA IN LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS. LH rats were injected with either 50ul of 1mg of MIA (•; n=10 in A and n=11 in B) or saline (•; n=11) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM. 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post hoc testing. ** p=0.002

In experiment 2, a slight decrease in weight bearing was evident after MIA injection in both SD and LH rats (group: $F_{(3,36)}$ =6.57; p=0.001) (Fig.3.4.A). However, post hoc analysis showed that only MIA LH rats displayed a statistically significant difference in weight bearing compared with controls rats of the same strain, SD MIA did not statically differ from SD saline at any timepoint. All rats in experiment 2 showed a slight trend to reduce PWT after baseline, however no main effects of group and time were observed (Fig.3.4.B). The 2-away ANOVA using MIA group as between-subjects factor and test day as repeated-measures factor showed no statistically significant interaction effect between group and time for both WB and PWTs (time: $F_{(1,36)}$ =1.20; p =0.28; time x group: $F_{(3,36)}$ <1.31; p>0.29).



FIGURE 3.4. – MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) INDUCED ASYMMETRY IN WEIGHT BEARING IN BOTH LISTER HOODED (LH) AND SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) RATS (A), BUT ONLY INDUCED CHANGES IN MECHANICAL ALLODYNIA IN SD RATS (B). Rats were injected with either 50ul of 1mg of MIA (\Box , \odot) or saline (•, •) in the left knee (n=10 in each group). Data are presented as mean±SEM. 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni as post hoc testing. ** p=0.003

3.3.2. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY – 1 MG MIA

Locomotor activity, startle response and prepulse inhibition were not affected by the intra-articular injection of the standard dose of MIA (1 mg) in either adult LH or SD rats.

Neither the horizontal (group: $F_{(1,21)}=3.81$; p=0.06) nor vertical (group: $F_{(1,21)}=2.69$; p=0.12) (data not shown) activity measured were affected by 1 mg of MIA treatment in LH rats in experiment 1 at any timepoint. 3-way ANOVA using group as between-subjects factor and test day and blocks as within-subjects was run to evaluate any potential effects of MIA-injections on locomotor activity during the time of session and time point in experiment 1, showed no triple interaction effect ($F_{(28,280)}=1.08$; p=0.36). In addition, there were no impairments in startle response (group: $F_{(1,21)}=2.36$; p=0.14) or prepulse inhibition (group: $F_{(1,21)}=0.05$; p=0.83) in the LH rats following induction of the MIA model (data not showed). 3-way ANOVA using MIA group as between-subjects factor and test day and startle amplitude or pulse intensity as within-subjects also showed no triple interaction effect regarding startle habituation ($F_{(22,262)}=1.52$; p=0.06) or % prepulse inhibition ($F_{(33,693)}=0.83$; p=0.73).

In experiment 2, injection of 1 mg of MIA also did not affect the horizontal locomotor activity of SD or LH strains (Fig.3.5.). 3-way ANOVA showed a main effect of group (group: $F_{(3,36)}=3.72$; p=0.02), however, post hoc analysis showed that this only reflected a difference between strains (LH saline > SD saline, p=0.02). The 3-way ANOVA showed no triple interaction effect of groups, blocks and days ($F_{(12,144)}=1.229$; p=0.27). Interaction between

group and blocks ($F_{(6,72)}$ =6.01; p<0.0001) or days ($F_{(6,72)}$ =3.10; p=0.01) and between blocks and days ($F_{(4,144)}$ =10.94; p<0.001) were statistically significant, which reflects a habituation to the apparatus during the 30min-session and to the test itself. Looking in particular to the locomotor activity in the first block of each session, when the rats are less habituated to the apparatus and show a higher exploratory activity, there was only a main effect of days in both horizontal ($F_{(2,72)}$ =48.81; p<0.0001) and vertical activity ($F_{(2,72)}$ =40.4; p<0.0001, data not shown), reflecting habituation to the arena.



FIGURE 3.5. – MONOSODIUM ACETATE (MIA) DOES NOT AFFECT THE HORIZONTAL LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN BOTH LISTER HOODED (LH) AND SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) RATS. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 1mg of MIA (\circ , \Box) or saline (\bullet , \bullet) in the left knee (n=10 in each group). Data are presented as mean±SEM.

The injection of 1 mg of MIA did not affect the startle or PPI measures when compared with saline-injected rats in both strains (Fig.3.6.). 3-way ANOVA showed a main effect of group (group: $F_{(3,36)}$ =19.29; p<0.001) in the startle response. However, post hoc analysis showed that this only reflected a difference between strains. Startle response is overall markedly enhanced in LH compared with SD rats (LH saline vs SD saline, p<0.0001). For this reason, different 3-way ANOVAs were performed to evaluate the startle response of both strains, no main effect of group treatment in both LH (group: $F_{(1, 18)}$ =0.587; p=0.45); and SD rats (group: $F_{(1, 18)}$ =0.679; p=0.42) or triple interactions between days, startle habituation across trials and group was observed.

Regarding the prepulse inhibition (%PPI), 3-way ANOVA showed a main effect of group (group: $F_{(3,36)}=6.52$; p=0.001), however, post hoc analysis showed that this only reflected a difference between strains (LH vs SD, p<0.04). Similar with startle, rats exhibit habituation to the test across days (time: $F_{(2, 72)}=8.08$; p<0.001), but no triple interaction effect of groups, pulse intensity and days after model induction was observed ($F_{(18, 216)}=115.36$; p=0.65).



FIGURE 3.6. – MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) DOES NOT AFFECT THE STARTLE HABITUATION (A) AND THE % OF PREPULSE INHIBITION (B) IN BOTH SPRAGUE-DAWLEY AND LISTER HOODED RATS. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 1mg of MIA (\Box , \circ) or saline (•, •) in the left knee (n=10 in each group). Data are presented as mean±SEM.

3.3.3. KNEE HISTOLOGY - 1 MG MIA

Knee joints from all animals from experiment 2 were collected at day 35 after model induction and processed for pathology scoring to assess the knee pathology induced in both SD and LH rats after intra-articular injection of 1 mg of MIA (Fig.3.7. and 3.8.). This dose of MIA only induced some loss of cartilage integrity and synovium inflammation in a small number of animals, and no significant differences were observed (H<5.26, p>0.15; Fig.3.9.A and B). However, both proteoglycan loss (H=24.44, p<0.0001; Fig.3.9.C) and decreased number of chondrocytes (H=24.52, p<0.0001; Fig.3.9.D) were observed in knee joints 35 days after injection of 1 mg MIA. There were no osteophytes present in any rats in this study. One SD MIA-injected rat was not considered in this analysis because it was impossible to access the tibial plateau due to bad angle split during knee joint processing.



FIGURE 3.7. – **HISTOLOGICAL CHANGES OF TIBIAL PLATEAU IN MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) MODEL IN BOTH SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) AND LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS.** Representative coronal sections of medial and lateral tibial plateau stained with Haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) (A,C,E,G) and Safranin-O-Fast green (B,D,F,H), 10x. Rats were injected with either 50ul of saline (A-D) or 1mg MIA (E-H). 1mg MIA was only able to induce chondrocyte loss in the cartilage (black arrows) in both SD and LH rats, 35 days after model induction.



FIGURE 3.8. – HISTOLOGICAL CHANGES IN SYNOVIAL LINING LAYER THICKNESS-CELLULARITY IN THE 1 MG MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) MODEL IN BOTH SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) AND LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS. Representative coronal sections of tibial plateau haematoxylin and eosin-stained in both SD and LH rats, 10x. Black arrows indicate severe increase in cellularity in the synovium.



FIGURE 3.9. – MICROSCOPIC QUANTIFICATION OF HISTOLOGICAL CHANGES OF TIBIAL PLATEAU IN 1 MG MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) MODEL IN BOTH SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) AND LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS. Average scores for medial and lateral tibial plateau. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 1mg of MIA (\circ , \Box) or saline (\bullet , \bullet) in the left knee (n=10 in each group). Knees were collected and processed for scoring at day 35 after model induction. 1 mg MIA was not able to induce cartilage damage (A) or synovial inflammation (B). On the other hand, proteoglycan loss (C) and chondrocytes absence (D) were observed in both SD and LH rats. Data are presented as mean±SEM. **p<0.01.

3.3.4. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND KNEE HISTOLOGY – 3 MG MIA

To briefly evaluate if the lack of robust pain phenotype is related to the dose of MIA used, a pilot study was performed. Four rats of each strain (LH and SD) were injected with 50 μ L of 3 mg MIA and tested for pain phenotype at baseline, 7, 14 and 28 after MIA injection. As our objective was only to ascertain whether a higher dose of MIA could induce a robust behavioural pain phenotype, saline controls were not included this experiment.

In contrast with the two previous studies using the standard 1 mg dose of MIA, intraarticular injection of 3 mg dose of MIA induced pain phenotype in both strains of rats (Fig.3.10), as reflected by reduced weight bearing symmetry. Both MIA-injected LH and SD rats showed a significant weight bearing asymmetry after model induction (time: $F_{(2,12)}=13.44$; p=0.0009), no main effect of group or interaction between group and time were observed (F<13.44, p>0.5) (Fig.3.10.A). Additionally, ipsilateral hindpaw withdrawal thresholds were also decreased after model induction (time: $F_{(2,12)}=11.82$; p=0.002) (Fig.3.10.B). No main effect of group, time or interaction of time x group were observed in the contralateral paw thresholds (F<2.54, p>0.12).

Knee joints were again collected at day 35 after model induction and processed for histology. Injection of 3 mg of MIA in both LH and SD rats was associated with proteoglycan loss, decreased chondrocyte presence and pronounced cartilage surface damage (Fig.3.11).



FIGURE 3.10. – 3 MG OF MONOSODIUM ACETATE (MIA) INDUCED CHANGES IN WEIGHT BEARING (A) AND IN MECHANICAL ALLODYNIA IN THE IPSILATERAL PAW (B), NOT IN THE CONTRALATERAL PAW (C) IN BOTH LISTER HOODED (LH) AND SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) RATS. SD (\bullet , n=4) and LH (\bullet , n=4) were injected with 3 mg of MIA. Data are presented as mean±SEM.



FIGURE 3.11. – HISTOLOGICAL CHANGES OF TIBIAL PLATEAU IN 3 MG MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) MODEL IN BOTH SPRAGUE-DAWLEY (SD) AND LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS. Representative coronal sections of medial and lateral tibial plateau haematoxylin and eosin-stained, 35 days after model induction, 10x. SD (A, n=4) and LH (B, n=4) rats were injected with 50ul of 3mg MIA in a pilot study. 3mg MIA was able to induce cartilage integrity damage (black arrows), chondrocyte loss in the cartilage (blue arrows) and subchondral bone changes (yellow arrows) in both SD and LH rats.

3.4. DISCUSSION

The MIA model, as previously mentioned, is a well-established model for albino strains in our and other labs. The 1mg dose of MIA is usually enough to induce a robust pain behaviour and joint pathology across albino rat strains. Therefore, no problems were anticipated with transferring the chemical induced model to LH rats. However, the pain and joint pathology phenotypes after the standard 1 mg dose of MIA were not robust in LH rats or age matched SD rats. Increasing the dose to 3 mg MIA overcame this limitation and induced robust weight bearing asymmetry and knee pathology in LH and SD rats.

3.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER HOODED RATS

In a first study, only LH rats were tested with the dose usually used at our lab in albino rats (1mg) (Sagar et al., 2011; Gowler et al., 2020). 1mg MIA has been reported to induce weight bearing asymmetry and mechanical allodynia with reduced paw withdrawal thresholds during von-Frey testing in both albino strain, Sprague Dawley (Sagar et al., 2010; Nwosu et al., 2016b) and Wistar Han rats (Bove et al., 2003). Unexpectedly, the intra-articular injection of 1 mg MIA in LH rats was not associated with a robust pain phenotype. MIA injected rats showed a trend to have lower weight bearing asymmetry values, however it was not significantly different from saline-control rats.

Similar with control rats, MIA-injected LH rats showed a decrease in the paw withdrawal thresholds after baseline, showing a normal habituation to the test, which remained almost constant across the study duration. Importantly, the baseline paw withdrawal threshold measures of LH rats were much lower than albino strains (Abaei et al., 2016; Gowler et al., 2020), consistent with a previous report in LH rats (Moriarty et al., 2016b). However, different approaches were used between this study and Moriarty's study, in this study "up-down" Von Frey was used while "percentage response" method was used in Moriarty's study. These lower baseline values might be due to the fact that LH rats are naturally more inquisitive and curious than albino strains; during Von Frey testing measures should not be taken while animals are grooming and it requires exploratory behaviours to be kept to a minimum to avoid false negatives or positive responses (Deuis et al., 2017). In fact, during assessments LH rats did not show reduced activity in the Von Frey cages over the entire session. Additionally, a study to evaluate nociceptive sensory profiles using the Von Frey test conducted in 5 different strains of albino rats showed strain-dependent differences in hind

paw threshold in the absence of injury and different profiles after injury, results that may be linked with to the inherent stress profiles (Hestehave et al., 2019).

In this study, strain was not the only difference from the previous studies conducted in our lab, but also the age of the rats. Thus a second experiment was conducted comparing age matched SD and LH rats. At this experiment, pain behaviour was only assessed at three different time points, to avoid potential habituation to handling and to the test apparatus, since during the first study we observed that rats have more tendency to keep less still day after day, increasing the difficultly in assessing behavioural measures over time. In this study, both SD and LH MIA-injected rats showed a trend to decrease weight bearing asymmetry, but this was not significantly different from control rats. Since the lack of robust results was comparable between pigmented and albino strains, strain does not seem the issue for this weak pain phenotype and mild knee pathology results.

The age and the size of rats was another difference between this study and previous studies conducted in our lab. Indeed, during the intra-articular injection it was noticeable that knee joints were bigger in this age of rats, than previous SD rats used. This lead to the question of whether the dose of MIA used was not sufficient to induce the knee joint damage and consequently pain behaviour features. Intra-articular injection of 3mg MIA was associated with a considerable increase in weight bearing asymmetry in both SD and LH rats from day 7 until the end of the study. This higher dose of MIA also induced a slight mechanical allodynia in both strains, with SD- and LH-injected rats exhibiting a decrease in the hindpaw withdrawal thresholds, however this effect could reflect a time effect and not pain effect so appropriate comparison with saline controls is needed to address this.

3.4.2. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER HOODED RATS

Consistent with previous studies, LH exhibited higher locomotor activity than SD rats, confirming previous reports that LH rats are more inquisitive and active than albino stains. Accordingly, Weiss and colleagues (Weiss et al., 2000) previously reported that LH rats have an increased locomotor activity, in comparison with two albino strains, SD and Wistar rats. McDermott and Kelly(McDermott and Kelly, 2008) compared locomotor activity between LH, SD and Wistar rats using two different methods, no differences were reported during the 5 minutes open field session, however, LH rats showed decreased nocturnal activity and increased day-time activity when compared with both albino strains in the 24-hour home cage monitoring. In my study, startle response and prepulse inhibition were not altered

following induction of the MIA model in either strain of rats. However, as reported previously (Varty and Higgins, 1994), startle responses were higher in LH rats compared with SD rats, while prepulse inhibition was lower in LH than SD rats. Nevertheless these baseline values were not altered by the model of OA pain.

3.4.3. KNEE PATHOLOGY IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER HOODED RATS

In line with the behavioural results, microscopic histological analysis showed limited morphological alterations on the affected knee joint in animals injected with 1 mg MIA. The absence of chondrocytes in the cartilage in the MIA-injected rats shows that MIA was properly delivered in the knee joint and inhibited the glycolysis, reducing the number of chondrocytes. However, this effect was not enough to induce the other OA features usually observed with 1mg MIA, i.e., cartilage damage, synovium inflammation and osteophyte formation. Only a small number of rats showed these features in the knee joint.

As previously mentioned, young SD rats have been largely used in our lab, and strong and consistent pain phenotype and knee pathology have been reported (Guingamp et al., 1997; Marker and Pomonis, 2012). The major difference between the SD previously used and the SD rats used in this chapter is the age, here we were using young adult and not juvenile/young rats. Since at the same time of these studies, the same batch of MIA drug was being used for other researchers and robust pain behaviour and knee histology were being detected in those studies, the issue was not the drug.

To test the hypothesis that 1mg of MIA was not enough to induce cartilage damage and consequently a robust pain phenotype possibly due to a bigger knee joint in our older animals, a third study was conducted. In this pilot study, adult SD and LH rats were tested for pain behaviour MIA injection.

3mg MIA induced not only chondrocyte death but also substantial cartilage damage, subchondral bone changes and synovitis. 3mg MIA was associated with a pronounced pain phenotype, with decreased weight bearing asymmetry and increased hindpaw mechanical hypersensitivity after model induction. As previously mentioned in table I, 1 mg MIA in younger albino strains displays chondrocyte death, loss of cartilage integrity, osteophytes and synovitis (OA histologic features).

3.5. CONCLUSION

The aim of this work was to transfer the MIA model of OA pain to the adult Lister Hooded rats. In the first instance the transfer of the 1mg MIA model to LH rats did not result in significant pain behaviour or joint pathology. This likely reflects the difference in age and size of LH rats required for the cognitive tests. This was confirmed to not be strain specific as this was also evident in older SD rats. Increasing the dose of MIA to 3mg produced robust pain behaviour and joint pathology in the LH rats. It was therefore deemed that this dose of MIA was suitable for future studies in LH rats in this thesis.

CHAPTER 4

HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY IN MIA-INDUCED OSTEOARTHRITIS KNEE PAIN IN LISTER HOODED RATS

4.1. INTRODUCTION

Chronic pain has been associated with a range of comorbidities, such as depression (Bair et al., 2003), anxiety (Gerrits et al., 2014) and cognitive impairments (Teodoro et al., 2018), including memory impairments.

4.1.1. HIPPOCAMPUS AND MEMORY

The hippocampus is traditionally associated with specific learning and memory functions, particularly aspects of place and declarative learning and memory (with 'declarative' referring to memory that can be consciously recalled and, in humans, be 'declared'), but is also related with emotional, motivational and sensorimotor functions (Bast, 2007). Additionally, a study in healthy people showed hippocampal activation when a painful stimuli was applied, indicating hippocampal involvement in pain processing (Bingel et al., 2002).

As Tulving described "memory is many things", and there are different memory stages encoding, storage, consolidation and retrieval – and memory types, differing with respect to the type of information that is stored, the way it is learned (e.g., slowly or rapidly) and the duration for which it is stored (Spence, 1996). The hippocampus is particularly important for the rapid encoding and subsequent retrieval of spatial and declarative memory (Bast, 2007).

4.1.2. MEMORY IMPAIRMENTS AND CHANGES IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS IN CHRONIC PAIN PATIENTS

Memory impairments have been reported by patients with chronic pain, with nearly 70% of chronic pain patients reporting memory deficits (Dick and Rashiq, 2007; Berryman et al., 2013). Some of the subjectively reported memory impairments, problems with everyday

type spatial memory or episodic memory (the aspect of declarative memory storing information about personally experienced events and their spatio-temporal context), may be related to hippocampal dysfunction (Bast, 2007).

Chronic pain patients also show poor performance on tasks related with spatial, verbal and recognition memory and impaired perceptual motor coordination and long-term spatial memory, when compared with healthy people. Chronic pain patients may also be more susceptible to interference with memory. For example, fibromyalgia patients, when presented with a distraction, showed impaired short-term memory compared with healthy volunteers (Leavitt and Katz, 2006).

Modern brain imaging methods allow to link hippocampal volume and connectivity alterations with chronic pain. One neuroimaging study conducted in older patients with no dementia reported a correlation between hippocampal volume and all-cause pain: severe acute pain and chronic pain were associated with smaller hippocampal volume (Zimmerman et al., 2009). Another study reported an association between chronic pain with loss of volume in selective hippocampal subfields, but only in female patients (Ezzati et al., 2014). Hippocampal volume reduction was also shown in patients with fibromyalgia (McCrae et al., 2015). Also, altered hippocampal connectivity was associated with chronic pain. Mutso and colleagues followed patients with subacute back pain and back pain and reported increases in hippocampal connectivity compared to controls (Mutso et al., 2014). Interestingly, they also reported a longitudinal reorganization of the connectivity between the hippocampus and medial pre-frontal cortex. No correlation between hippocampal volume and connectivity was observed in this study.

4.1.3. MEMORY IMPAIRMENTS AND CHANGES IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS IN RODENT MODELS OF CHRONIC PAIN

During the last decade several studies have reported changes in the hippocampus using rodent models of persistent and chronic pain. Hippocampal plasticity changes were also reported in rodent models of neuropathic pain. Peripheral nerve injury was not only associated with disruption of long-term potentiation and frequency facilitation at hippocampal regions, but also with working and short-term memory deficits (Ren et al., 2011). Furthermore, in this study Ren and colleagues reported a positive correlation between plasticity change and memory deficits. Altered hippocampal cytokine expression during chronic pain has been reported in a neuropathic mice model and dependent of the pain phenotype (del Rey et al., 2011). Peripheral nerve injury in rodents has also been associated with molecular changes in the hippocampus, with the alteration in the microtubules stability (You et al., 2018) and structural synaptic and morphological changes in the hippocampal neurons (Liu et al., 2017b).

Neuropathic pain induced by a diabetic model caused a reduced learning rate in the Morris water maze (Moriarty et al., 2016b). The possible effects of inflammatory pain on the hippocampus and its function is less known. Acute and chronic inflammatory pain in rodents was associated with an increased hippocampal volume in rat models of acute and chronic inflammatory pain, (Duric and McCarson, 2005), the opposite to the changes reported in the human pain studies mentioned above.

4.1.4. TRANSLATIONAL ASSESSMENT OF HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY USING THE WATERMAZE DELAYED-MATCHING-TO-PLACE TASK

Watermaze tasks are a key tool to study hippocampal place learning and memory in rodents. The watermaze is a circular pool containing a submerged platform, onto which the rodents can escape. In the standard reference memory version, the platform is fixed in the same location across trials and days, therefore allowing for slow incremental place learning (Morris, 1984). While in the delayed-matching-to-place (DMP) task, modified version of the watermaze, the platform location is changed daily, which allows to evaluate rapid, 1-trial, place learning.

The DMP variant of the watermaze task is highly sensitive to hippocampal dysfunction (Bast et al., 2009; da Silva et al., 2013). More specifically, DMP performance is markedly impaired by disrupting hippocampal plasticity or by partial hippocampal lesions, whereas these manipulations can leave performance on the standard reference place memory task in the watermaze relatively intact and even rats with complete hippocampal lesion can come to show good performance on the standard reference place memory task when overtrained with many trials (Morris, 1984; Steele and Morris, 1999; Bast et al., 2009; Pezze and Bast, 2012). In this task, long-term memory consolidation is not required, and animals learn within one trial the daily changing place. Therefore, on the DMP task, the animal's ability to escape efficiently from the water depends on the rapid acquisition of place information and its subsequent retrieval a few minutes later.

The DMP task mimics everyday problems like the car park problem. Imagine you drive to work and you do not have an allocated car park, so the location where you park your car would usually be different each day. By the end of the working day you would need to remember where the car is parked, but this would be a different location every day, which you had to learn in the morning.

Importantly, the DMP watermaze task has also been reverse-translated into a human task, using a virtual environment on a computer screen (Buckley and Bast, 2018), and the task also appears to be closely associated with hippocampal function in human participants, individual differences in theta-band oscillations in a spatial memory network revealed by EEG predict rapid place learning (Bauer et al., 2020).

4.1.5. CHAPTER AIMS

In sum, there is evidence that chronic pain may affect significantly the hippocampus and cause memory impairments in both humans and rodents. However, the understanding of these changes and the mechanisms behind it are not completely understood and there is a lack of knowledge if, and how OA in particular affects this cognitive function. Some evidence indicates that the impact of chronic pain on the hippocampus and its functions may depend on the condition and, specifically, that OA may have less impact on the hippocampus than other chronic pain conditions (Mutso et al., 2012).

To test if OA impacts hippocampus-dependent memory, in this chapter, MIA-injected adult Lister hooded (LH) rats were subjected to the watermaze DMP task (Bast et al., 2009) to longitudinally evaluate the impact of OA-chronic knee pain on hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning performance. Pain and sensorimotor testing were also assessed across the study.

4.2. METHODS

Refer to Chapter 2 for general methodology.

4.2.1. ANIMALS

For this study, 16 (n=8 per group) adult male Lister hooded (LH) rats (Charles Rivers, UK), weighing between 250-280g and approximately 2-3 months old at the beginning of the experiment, were used. The target sample size for this study was 32 (n=16 per group), so group differences corresponding to an effect size of Cohen's d=1 could be detected with a power of about 80%, using an independent t-test (2-tailed, p < 0.05). However, the first series of the experiments clearly indicated that there were no substantial group differences in the main memory measures, and that completion of the second series to achieve the target sample size would not reveal significant group differences. Therefore, the study was terminated due to futility after only completion of the first series (Neumann et al., 2017). 1 rat (MIA) was excluded from the study due to a physiological abnormality, not related with MIA model, preventing the collection of behaviour data in the last two time points.

4.2.2. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY

The model of OA pain was induced with a single intra-articular injection of MIA (as described in 2.2.). Rats were injected with either 50 μ L of MIA (3 mg/50 μ L; n=8) or the same volume of sterile saline solution (n=8) as control. Rats were initially allocated to the treatment groups before model induction based on the pain and sensorimotor activity baseline measurements to match the prospective treatment groups for their baseline measurements as closely as possible. In each cage half of the animals received treatment and the other half saline. The experimenter (S.G.) was blinded to the treatment allocations throughout the data collection and analysis.

Nociceptive pain behaviours were assessed using weight-bearing and Von-Frey tests, as described in 2.3., and sensorimotor measures, locomotor activity and startle/prepulse inhibition, were taken as described in 2.4. Rats were first handled for a few days and habituated to the pain test apparatus. Baseline pain behaviour and sensorimotor activity measurements were collected before model induction with one day apart. After MIA/saline injection (day 0), pain measurements were taken on day 3, 14, 28, 50 and 84; and

sensorimotor processes were assessed on day 15, 29, 51 and 85 after model induction as described in Fig.4.1.

4.2.3. WATERMAZE DELAYED MATCHING-TO-PLACE TEST

To evaluate the effects of OA-like knee pain on hippocampus-dependent memory, the watermaze DMP task was used in this study. Animals were pretrained for 8 consecutive days in this task prior to MIA induction and then tested at several time points across the study, using established protocols (Steele and Morris, 1999; da Silva et al., 2013; McGarrity et al., 2016).

4.2.3.1. APPARATUS

The watermaze apparatus (Fig.4.1) consisted of an open-field circular white pool (2 m in diameter and 60 cm height) filled with water at 25±1°C made opaque by the addition of children white paint (Go Create). Four start points were equally spaced along the circumference of the pool (north [N], east [E], south [S], and west [W]).

Hidden in the watermaze pool, was an escape platform (1–3 cm below the water surface), which rats had to find to escape from the water. Rats are naturally very good swimmers, however they do not particularly like water which makes them swim to escape from it. Therefore, watermaze tasks are an excellent test to evaluate place memory without food restriction. The "Atlantis platform" used can be withheld at >30 cm below the water surface by a computer-controlled electromagnet a predetermined time, making it unavailable to the rats.

The lighting of the room was kept constant at about 200 lux at water level. The room was filled with spatial cues, including a traffic cone, lampshades hanging from the wall and different geometric 2D and 3D shapes. Cues were carefully kept in the same place during the study and between studies.

The rats' behaviour was monitored and collected by an overhead video camera connected to a video recorder and a computer with EthoVision XT 8.5 software in an adjacent control room.

4.2.3.2. PROCEDURE

Rats performed four daily trials. During trial 1, animals could rapidly learn the novel location of the hidden platform using the prominent visual cues on the room, and then on subsequent

trials they use the place memory to efficiently locate the hidden platform. To start the test, rats were placed into the water facing the pool walls at one of the four start positions in a predetermined and arbitrary sequence to prevent egocentric strategies. Egocentric navigation is based on direction strategies, for example, memorising routes (such as distances, directions and sequential turns) instead of using environmental cues. Platform location was changed daily, but remained constant during the four consecutive daily trials. Rats were tested with a novel goal location each day. Each trial had the maximum duration of 120 s, after which the animal was guided to the platform by the experimenter in case of failing to find it. Following each trial, rats were allowed 30 s on the platform before they were dried gently on a towel and returned to a carrier box, resulting in an inter-trial interval of around 10-30 s.

Trial 2 was occasionally run as "probe trial". During this probe, the platform was withheld for the first 60 s, to monitor the animals' search preference for the zone containing the platform (the target zone). After the 60 s, the platform was automatically released allowing the animal to find and climb onto it. Between trial 1 and the probe trial the inter-trial interval was about 20 min, instead of 10-30 s, as this would render the task more sensitive to any impairment in hippocampal plasticity mechanisms (Steele & Morris, 1999).

4.2.3.3. PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The overhead video camera connected to the video recorder and the computer with the Ethovision tracking software captured all the trials that digitized the rats' paths and several behavioral measures, including latencies and path lengths to reach the platform location, and times spent in the different pool zones.

Latency and path length to reach the platform location, swim speed, the percentage time spent in all the zones and in the target zone are analysed. To measure search preference for the correct zone, eight virtual 20 cm diameter zones were considered (Bast et al., 2009). These extended platform zones were symmetrically arranged and positioned on virtual inner circle or outer ring. Percentage of time searching the correct platform position or previous day's zone were calculated as: $\frac{\text{time in correct zone or in previous } day}{\text{total time in all the eight zones}} * 100.$

The main measure of hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning performance was the search preference for the correct zone during probe trials. This measure has been shown to be the most robust measure of hippocampal rapid place learning performance, where latencies and path length measures are more variable and less dependent on hippocampal

function (Bast et al., 2009; da Silva et al., 2013) (also see Bauer et al., 2020, for related findings in human participants).



FIGURE 4.1. – WATERMAZE DELAYED MATCHING-TO-PLACE (DMP) TASK. The DMP task allows to evaluate the "everyday" memory. Rats learn to escape from the water to a hidden platform. Platform is moved to a new location each day but remains in the same position during the four consecutive daily trials. In probe days, the platform is unavailable during the first 60 sec of the trial. Inter-trial interval (ITI) is generally 10-20 sec, on probe days between T1 and T2 ITI is 20 min. Performance is followed across many days/weeks.

4.2.4. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Before model induction, rats were pre-trained for 8 consecutive days in the watermaze DMP task. Then, after model induction, rapid place memory was evaluated testing the rats for 4 consecutive days in the watermaze DMP task at week 2, 4, 7 and 12 (Fig. 4.2).

At day 93 after MIA/saline injection, rats were anesthetized with a lethal dose of sodium pentobarbitone and transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Brains, spinal cords, DRGs and knees were carefully excised,

preserved and stored. Knee joint sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin- or safranin-O/fast green and then scored for overall joint morphology and proteoglycan loss. Total cartilage joint damage, osteophyte, proteoglycan loss, synovial inflammation and chondrocyte presence were scored to evaluate the severity of the knee joint pathology as described in 2.7.



FIGURE 4.2. – **TIME COURSE OF THE HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY STUDY.** 16 adult male LH rats were used in this study. Animals were either injected with MIA (3mg/50µl, n=8) or saline (n=8). *indicates probe days.

4.2.5. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

GraphPad Prism 8 and IBM SPSS Statistics 24 were used to prepare the graphs and the statistical analysis. Results from the pain behaviour studies were analysed using an analysis of variance (ANOVA), with group as between-subjects and time as repeated measures/within-subjects variable of testing day. Results from the sensorimotor behaviour studies were analysed using a mixed design factorial ANOVA test with testing day and task blocks (or pulse intensity in the PPI test) as within-subjects factors and group as between-subjects factor. When main effect of group or interaction involving group was observed, 2-way ANOVAs were conducted at each time point. Watermaze DMP results (search preference, latencies and path lengths) were analysed using a 2-way ANOVA with testing time points as within-subjects factors and group as between-groups factor. Bonferroni multiple comparison was used as *post-hoc* testing.

Knee pathology was analysed with an independent t test or with Mann-Whitney test when D'Agostino-Pearson test showed that assumption of normality was violated. P<0.05 was considered to represent a significant difference and all results were expressed as mean±standard error (SEM). Baseline measures were not included in the ANOVA analysis, t-tests were conducted at baseline to ensure no significant difference between groups at this stage.

4.3. RESULTS

MIA injection did not cause any obvious distress to the animals, and regular weight measurements showed no significant difference between groups at any time point during the study (group: $F_{(1,14)}$ =1.89, p=0.19) (Fig.4.3).



FIGURE 4.3. – BODY WEIGHT OF LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS AFTER MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) OR SALINE INJECTIONS. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (•, n=8) or saline (•, n=8) in the left knee at week 0. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

4.3.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR

Weight bearing asymmetry significantly increased after MIA injection, MIA-injected rats showed weight bearing asymmetry placing less weight on the injured leg compared with saline controls (group: $F_{(1,13)}$ =66.22, *p*<0.0001) (Fig.4.4). This effect was observed from week 1 until the end of the study (time: $F_{(4,52)}$ =3.32, *p*<0.0001). No interaction effects were observed between time and group (time x group: $F_{(4,52)}$ =0.42, *p*=0.80).

No evidence for mechanical allodynia was observed in the ipsilateral paw withdrawal threshold in the MIA-injected rats (group: $F_{(1,13)}=0.63$, p=0.44) (Fig.4.5A). However, a significant effect of group was observed on the contralateral hindpaw thresholds (group: $F_{(1,13)}=14.78$, p=0.002), with saline rats showing a lower response compared with MIA rats (Fig.4.5B). To explore these results, a 2-way ANOVA was performed considering the difference between the contralateral and the ipsilateral withdrawal threshold. While the control animals showed difference scores around 0, with very little fluctuations, the MIA rats showed a significant increase in the difference score after model induction (group: $F_{(1,13)}=28.4$, p=0.0001) (Fig.4.5C), with the group difference tending to decrease with time after model induction, although there was neither a main effect of time ($F_{(5,65)}<1.74$, p>0.15) nor an interaction of time and group ($F_{(5,65)}<1.52$, p>0.21).



Days post-MIA/Saline injection

FIGURE 4.4. – **MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) INDUCED ASYMMETRY IN WEIGHT BEARING IN LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS.** LH rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (*; n=7) or saline (\bullet ; n=8) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.004, *** p<0.0003, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing.





FIGURE 4.5. – MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) INDUCED WEAK CHANGES IN MECHANICAL ALLODYNIA IN LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (•; n=7) or saline (•; n=8) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.003, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing.

4.3.2. SENSORIMOTOR MEASURES

Locomotor activity was not substantially affected by MIA model induction. No changes in horizontal activity were observed in MIA-injected rats, compared to control rats (group: $F_{(1,13)}=0.02$, p=0.88) (Fig.4.6A). However, MIA-injected rats showed less rearing than controls (group: $F_{(1,13)}=4.86$, p=0.046) (Fig.4.6B). All animals showed habituation to the apparatus within the individual open field test sessions (block: $F_{(2,26)}>146.45$, p<0.0001) and across test days (time: $F_{(4,52)}>6.05$, p<0.0001). No interaction involving group was observed in the horizontal activity (time x block: $F_{(4,52)}=1.61$, p=0.39). No interaction of block/testing day x group was observed in the vertical activity (block x group: $F_{(2,26)}<1.84$, p>0.23), but the interaction block x time was significant in the vertical locomotor activity (time x block: $F_{(8,104)}=11.36$, p<0.0001).

Startle response was not affected by MIA injection (Fig.4.7A), but MIA-injected rats showed some evidence of lower PPI at higher prepulse intensities (Fig.4.7B). No main effect of group was observed on startle response (group: $F_{(1,13)}=0.168$; p=0.69) or prepulse inhibition (group: $F_{(1,13)}=2.079$; p=0.17). Animals showed habituation to the pulse-alone (pulse-alone: $F_{(2,26)}$ =70.45, p<0.0001) and increasing PPI with increasing prepulse intensity (pulse: $F_{(3,39)}$ =208.30, p<0.0001) during the trials within the session. In addition, main effect of day was observed, startle increased across days possibly reflecting that animals were getting bigger (time: F>11.35, p<0.0001). 3-way ANOVA using MIA group as between-subjects factor and test day and startle block as within-subjects factors showed no triple interaction effect on startle responses (group x pulse-alone x time: $F_{(8, 104)}=0.60$, p=0.77). Both groups showed relatively comparable PPI, but there was some evidence for different PPI at some prepulse intensities (prepulse x group: $F_{(3,39)}$ =3.42; p=0.03). No interaction between prepulse intensity, day and group was observed (group x prepulse x time: $F_{(12, 156)}=1.20$, p=0.29), however there was some evidence that MIA rats had a lower PPI at higher prepulse intensities (prepulse x day: F_(12,156)=2.056; p=0.02), but not between day and group (time x group: F_(4,52)=0.82; p=0.52).







FIGURE 4.7. – STARTLE HABITUATION (A) AND PREPULSE INHIBITION ACTIVITIES (B) IN LISTER HOODED RATS INDUCED WITH MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) MODEL. RATS were injected of MIA (•, n=7) or saline (•, n=8) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM. Mixed factorial ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparison posthoc testing.

4.3.3. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY

To investigate the effects of OA-like chronic knee pain on hippocampal rapid place learning performance, MIA and saline animals were tested on the watermaze DMP task. Both prospective groups learned the task similar to what was reported in previous studies (Steele&Morris, 1999; Bast et al., 2009), showing the characteristic reductions in the latency to reach the hidden platform from trial 1 (encoding) to trial 2 (retrieval) and improvement across days (day x trial: $F_{(21,294)}=4.32$; p<0.0001) (Fig.4.8.). There were no differences between the prospective groups (group: $F_{(1,14)}=1.08$; p=0.32; interactions involving group: F<1). Also, on the probes conducted on days 6 and 8 during the pretraining, no differences between the prospective groups were found in the time spent exploring the target zone, previous day's zone, the total eight zones or in the swim speed (all p>0.22).



FIGURE 4.8. – LATENCIES TO REACH THE PLATFORM DURING PRETRAINING. Rats were trained in the watermaze delayed-matching-to-place for 8 consecutive days before model induction. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

After model induction, both groups showed virtually identical performance patterns in terms of latencies and also of path length (Fig.4.9). There was no main effect or interaction involving the factor group in both latencies and path length measures (main effect of group and interaction involving group: all F<1). There was a significant main effect of trial, reflecting rapid place learning, on latency to reach the platform (trial: $F_{(3,174)}$ =170.70; p<0.0001) (Fig.4.9A) and on the path length (trial: $F_{(3,84)}$ =80.19; p<0.0001) (Fig.4.9B).



FIGURE 4.9. – **LATENCY (A) AND PATH LENGTH (B) TO REACH THE PLATFORM WERE NOT AFFECTED BY MIA INJECTION.** Rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (*, n=7) or saline (\bullet , n=8) in the left knee. Rats were tested in the watermaze DMP task four times in each week, trial data are presented as average. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

During the probe trials, when the platform was unavailable during the first 60 seconds, rats were tested for search preference (Fig.4.10). MIA-injected rats, compared with control rats, spent a similar percentage of time exploring the target zone (group: $F_{(1,28)}=1.72$; p=0.20) (Fig.4.10A) and the previous day's zone (group: $F_{(1,28)}<1$) (Fig.4.10B) and spent a similar total time exploring the eight zones (group: $F_{(1,28)}=2.17$; p=0.15) (Fig.4.10C). There was a main effect of time on the percentage of time spent exploring the previous day's zone ($F_{(3,84)}=4.63$; p=0.005), reflecting that both groups spent more time in the previous day's zone at the last two testing time points (probably reflecting that goal locations were not fully counterbalanced across test days, but only across groups). No other main effect of time and interaction effects were observed (F<1).

Regarding the swim speed, overall MIA-injected rats and controls did not show significant differences (group: $F_{(1,28)}$ = 1.58; p=0.22) (Fig.4.10D). However, there was a significant

interaction of group X time point ($F_{(3,84)}$ =8.87; *p*<0.0001), reflecting that MIA rats showed lower swim speed than control rats at the last two testing time points. More specifically, MIA rats showed a stable swim speed throughout the study, whereas control animals slightly increased their swim speed from week 7.



FIGURE 4.10. – **EFFECTS OF MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) ON THE PLACE MEMORY OF YOUNG ADULT LISTER HOODED RATS.** Rats injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (*, n=7) or saline (\bullet , n=8) in the left knee performed a hippocampus-dependent memory task. Twice per week, rats were tested in a probe task during the second trial when the escape platform was unavailable to evaluate the search preference. MIA-injected rats did not show differences in the total time exploring the target zone (A), the previous day's zones (B) or the total eight zone (C) when compared with control saline. Control rats increased their swim speed in the last time points (D). Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing.

4.3.4. KNEE PATHOLOGY

At the end of the study, knees were collected and processed for pathology scoring as described in section 2.7. Joints were scored for cartilage integrity (cartilage damage x involvement), synovial inflammation and osteophyte formation on three different levels of both lateral and medial tibial plateau (Fig.4.11). Results are showed as mean between medial and tibial plateau values, as no differences were observed between tibial parts. During the

splitting process, one of the saline animals was split with the wrong angle making it impossible to score.

MIA injected rats showed increases in both lateral and medial tibial plateau loss of cartilage integrity (Fig.4.11A; t=4.63, p=0.0005) and in synovial inflammation (Fig.4.11B; U=0, p=0.0003) compared with control animals. There was a trend for MIA-injected rats to show a higher number of osteophytes (U=14, p=0.08), with 4 out of 8 rats in the MIA group showing osteophytes, but not a single control rat (Fig.4.11C).



FIGURE 4.11. – MICROSCOPIC QUANTIFICATION OF HISTOLOGICAL CHANGES OF TIBIAL PLATEAU IN LISTER HOODED RATS INJECTED WITH EITHER 3 MG MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) MODEL OR SALINE. Average scores for medial and lateral tibial plateu. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (•, n=8) or saline (•, n=7) in the left knee. Knees were collected and processed for scoring at day 93 after model induction. 3 mg MIA were able to induce cartilage damage (A). Data are presented as mean \pm SEM *** p<0.001. Unpaired t-test. 3 mg MIA were also able to induce synovial inflammation (B) and only a few animals injected with MIA showed presence of osteophytes (C). Data are presented as median \pm IQR, ***<0.001. Mann-Whitney U test.
4.4. DISCUSSION

In this study, MIA-injected LH rats were tested on the watermaze DMP task to investigate the impact of OA on hippocampus-dependent memory. No evidence of impaired hippocampal memory was found after MIA model induction. MIA injected rats showed robust weight bearing asymmetry, slightly decreased rearing activity and features of knee joint pathology. Also, there was some evidence for MIA rats to show reduced PPI at higher prepulse intensities compared with saline rats.

4.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOR, SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY AND KNEE PATHOLOGY

Pain behaviour was assessed across this study, with MIA-injected rats showing a robust pain phenotype. As in the pilot study conducted in chapter 3, 3 mg of MIA caused asymmetry in the weight bearing distribution and did not induce mechanical allodynia. Interestingly, the paw withdrawal threshold difference between paws was significantly different between MIAinjected and control rats. Saline animals showed a similar drop across the study in both contralateral and ipsilateral paws, whereas, in MIA rats, the threshold only dropped in the ipsilateral paw. Apart from the finding that MIA did not induce mechanical allodynia compared with saline controls, this abnormal behaviour may reflect an extra protective and careful behaviour regarding the paw on the leg with the injured knee by the MIA-injected rats. This type of behaviour was not observed in chapter 3, or in previous studies, as far as we know. We found marked knee pathology at the end of the study, with MIA-injected rats showing similar features to chronic OA in humans, such as cartilage degradation and synovial inflammation.

Sensorimotor measures were mildly affected by MIA model induction. MIA-injected rats did not show changes in horizontal locomotor activity, but results show that rats with an injured knee tend to rear slightly less than controls. Decreased rearing activity may reflect spontaneous ongoing pain. It is important to note that all the animals were housed in IVC cages with two floors, and, based on visual inspection, no rats showed marked issues in jumping to the top floor. MIA injection also did not affect the startle response. However, there was some evidence for sensorimotor gating processes, as reflected by PPI of the acoustic startle response, to be mildly affected by the MIA injections. PPI was mildly reduced in MIA-injected rats at the higher prepulse. Several forebrain areas, such as the medial PFC, nucleus accumbens and basolateral amygdala are involved in PPI regulation (Koch, 1999). Additionally, abnormal hippocampus activity has been associated with altered PPI (Zhang et al., 2002). The reduced PPI observed in this study may indicate possible impacts of MIA in some of the forebrain regions involved in this task. Therefore more studies are needed to unveil areas and/or mechanisms leading to the changes observed.

4.4.2. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY IN MIA LH RATS

The main aim of this chapter was to evaluate if OA-like chronic pain affected hippocampus-dependent memory in young adult LH rats. Before induction of the chronic pain model, all animals were pre-trained to the watermaze DMP task. The key feature of this watermaze task is the fact that the platform is moved to a different location daily, allowing to assess "everyday"-type rapid place learning. After MIA model induction, DMP task performance was assessed at different time points to evaluate if and how the progression of the disease affected hippocampus-dependent memory. No deficits were observed during the watermaze DMP task after MIA model induction in LH rats. On standard testing days, the latencies or path lengths to reach the platform were not altered by the MIA model at any time point. Rats from both groups decreased latencies and path lengths across daily trials, showing that MIA did not affect the rapid encoding and subsequent retrieval of place information.

Search preference during the probe trial was also not affected by MIA model induction. MIA-injected rats spent a similar percentage of time exploring the target zone and the previous day's zone compared with control animal. Animals from both groups spent a similar time exploring the total eight zones of the pool. Interestingly, control rats slightly increased the swim speed at the two last time points of the study.

Altogether, our results suggest that OA-like chronic knee pain did not affect hippocampusdependent memory in young adult LH rats. A study conducted in Wistar Han rats with spared nerve injury reported no impairments in Morris water maze performance (Leite-Almeida et al., 2009). Rats of three different ages were tested (3-, 10- and 22-months old), general performance was not affected by chronic neuropathic pain; however, young adults only showed deficits during the reversal phase of the Morris watermaze. Similarly, a different study in young adult Sprague Dawley rats with spinal nerve ligation reported impairments in the reversal task of the Morris watermaze (Moriarty et al., 2016a). Moreover, no reports of memory impairment were reported in Lister hooded rats with diabetic neuropathic pain in the acquisition phase of the Morris watermaze task (Moriarty et al., 2016b); these animals showed deficits in spatial learning with slower acquisition of the task, as reflected by reduced latency improvements across training days (which may reflect reduced swim speed), but memory performance during a probe trial, as reflected by search preference was not affected. Although these studies used different tasks, these are consistent with our findings in showing limited evidence for impairment of place learning and memory in the watermaze in rat models of chronic pain. It is important to note that these studies used neuropathic pain models, which have different pathological mechanisms.

Importantly, mechanical allodynia development was reported in the studies above. In this chapter no evidence of mechanical allodynia were observed, so the possibility that our MIA-injected rats do not show central sensitization should also be considered. Central nervous system may not be impacted and consequently not impacting the cognitive function.

4.4.3. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY IN CHRONIC OA PAIN?

As previously mentioned, there is some evidence that chronic pain is associated with changes in the hippocampus in both rodents and humans. Additionally, clinical observations indicate that chronic pain is associated with memory impairments (Berryman et al., 2013). However, no previous studies have focused on OA yet. Our findings in this chapter indicate that hippocampal memory is not impaired by OA-like chronic pain in the MIA model in LH rats.

In order to study the impact of persistent pain on the hippocampus, Mutso and colleagues measured the hippocampal volume in human patients in three different pain conditions – chronic back pain, complex regional pain syndrome and OA (Mutso et al., 2012). In accordance with previous studies, they found robust decreases in the hippocampus volume in chronic back pain (CBP) and complex regional pain syndrome (CRPS), but not in OA patients, compared with controls. CBP and CRPS seem to have a higher impact on hippocampal volume than OA. These findings may indicate that the hippocampus may be less affected in OA than in other chronic pain conditions, which may explain the results obtained in this chapter.

Other factors associated with chronic pain in humans may account for why chronic pain patients show memory impairments, but MIA-injected rats may not show these. Cognitive decline is most usually associated with ageing (Deary et al., 2009), a factor that can also be related or occur at the same time but independent of some of the most popular chronic diseases such as osteoarthritis (Vos et al., 2016). Age is one of the most important factors that can be influencing these reported cognitive deficits. From the human studies exploring the impacts of pain on cognition, only a few of them take in consideration the impact of dementia and medication for example. Ageing and memory loss are strongly linked, and as reported the majority of chronic pain conditions such as OA are more commonly find in older people. Chronic pain treatments, such as opioids, can also be associated with cognitive declines – this will be discussed in detail on chapter 6. Other factors might also be associated with cognitive/memory deficits reported, as for example sleep deprivation and alcohol consumption (Yeung et al., 2017; McCrae et al., 2018). In fact, a relationship between alcohol consumption and hippocampus volume has been reported in patients with fibromyalgia (Boissoneault et al., 2017).

Life style seems to play an important role in the implications of chronic pain. Rheumatoid arthritis patients self-reported with poor memory, word finding and concentration but those who were physically active reported less cognitive dysfunctions (Shadick et al., 2019). Chronic pain patients who feel a higher sense of inclusion and engagement with others also reported lower impact of pain in daily life (Karayannis et al., 2019), which may result in less self-reported comorbidities associated with chronic pain.

4.5. CONCLUSION

In sum, our results showed that hippocampus-dependent memory was not affected by chronic OA knee-like pain in male young adult MIA-injected Lister hooded rats.

Previous studies have shown that changes in the hippocampus are associated with chronic pain in both rodents and humans. Also, clinical observations reported memory impairments in chronic pain conditions. However, the knowledge regarding OA and memory remains unclear, and even less is known regarding hippocampus-dependent memory in particular. OA pain may be associated with less brain changes in hippocampus than in other types of pain (Mutso et al., 2012) and consequently may have less impact on hippocampal functions, which may explain the absence of hippocampus-dependent memory impairments observed in this chapter.

In accordance with findings in this chapter, rodents with different pain models and using a different version of the watermaze showed limited evidence of spatial memory deficits. However, in these models, there was some evidence for impairments in the acquisition and reversal phases of place learning tasks in the watermaze. These deficits in the reversal task may indicate that behavioural flexibility is compromised in this condition, a possibility that will be addressed in the next chapter.

Other types of memory may also be impaired, in fact recognition memory deficits were observed in rodents with OA (Negrete et al., 2017). This will be also addressed in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 5

COGNITIVE FLEXIBILITY AND NOVEL OBJECT RECOGNITION MEMORY IN LISTER HOODED RATS WITH MIA-INDUCED OSTEOARTHRITIS-LIKE KNEE PAIN

5.1. INTRODUCTION

5.1.1. RECOGNITION MEMORY

Recognition memory is a subtype of declarative memory which allows to know or remember a familiar person, object or experience (Brown et al., 2010). In humans recognition memory is usually assessed using visual-paired comparison memory tasks, while in rodents the test used is the novel object recognition(NOR) test (Cohen and Stackman Jr., 2015). In this test, animals are presented with a familiar and a novel object, and the time exploring both objects is quantified and the discrimination index between objects is calculated (more details about the protocol in 5.2.3.) (Ennaceur and Delacour, 1988). Rodents have the innate tendency to explore novel items, so there is no need for extensive training or external motivation in this test. Animals without any impairment in recognition memory are expected to spend more time exploring the novel item/object.

Preclinical studies have shown impairments in recognition memory in rodents under chronic pain condition. Neuropathic rats showed reduced novel exploration time in the NOR test after nerve injury surgery compared with controls (Moriarty et al., 2016a). Furthermore, a study conducted in mice induced with MIA model of OA-pain also showed that OA may be linked to deficits in recognition memory (Negrete et al., 2017). Negrete and colleagues reported that wild-type MIA mice had a lower discrimination index compared with the wildtype saline mice in the NOR test, showing that OA pain may in fact affect this type of memory.

5.1.2. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY

Cognitive flexibility refers to the ability to switch and adapt behaviour in response to emergent changes in the internal or external environment. Cognitive flexibility cannot be directly observed; however, it is possible to observe and study the associated behavioural change, behavioural flexibility. Both terms are often used as synonymous (Mikhalevich et al., 2017), but behavioural flexibility refers to the adaptive behaviour reflecting the cognitive change.

Some researchers argue that cognitive flexibility involves more than one major component (Martin and Rubin, 1995). In a first instance the person needs to be aware that there is another alternative, then the individual must be willing to adjust and finally the individual needs to feel confident and able to adapt the behaviour (Laureiro-Martínez et al., 2009). Altogether, this complex cognitive function involves attention, motivation and decision-making.

Behavioural flexibility is commonly assessed using questionnaire measures, attentional shifting tests, rule switching and reversal learning (Lange et al., 2017). Standardized tests such as card sorting or gambling tests – such as the Wisconsin Card Sorting test, the intradimensional/extra-dimensional set-shift task of the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery or the Trail-Making test have been widely used in humans (Brown and Tait, 2014).

5.1.3. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY ASSESSMENT IN RATS

In rodents, to investigate the relationship between cognitive flexibility and diseases, reversal and set-shifting tasks have been used. Reversal learning consists in a change in response strategy while shifting strategy refers to a change in the stimulus dimension.

Floresco and colleagues have developed an automated strategy shifting and reversal task using operant chambers that allows to test the same animals in both tasks (Brady and Floresco, 2015). In contrast with the digging task, a well described rodent task to assess attentional set-shifting (Birrell and Brown, 2000), this automated method allows to test several animals at the same time and, most importantly, the analysis is not manually controlled by the experimenter, making the test less subjective to interpretation and/or human error. Furthermore, Brady and Floresco have showed that similarly with previous digging and maze tasks, this automated task is sensitive to disruptions in the PFC and subcortical circuits (Brady and Floresco, 2015). This task was used in this chapter, and more detail about the protocol can be found below in the methods.

5.1.4. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY IN RODENTS WITH CHRONIC PAIN

Evidence suggests that behavioural flexibility is impaired in rodent models of chronic pain (Brown and Tait, 2014; Murray et al., 2015; Moriarty et al., 2016a; Cowen et al., 2018). Cowen and colleagues showed impairments in the cognitive flexibility induced by neuropathic pain in rats when tested in an operant protocol (Cowen et al., 2018). Moriarty et al, also reported impaired cognitive flexibility in neuropathic rats (Moriarty et al., 2016a). In this study the same rodent model was used, spinal nerve ligation, but this time animals were tested in a reversal task during the Morris watermaze. Neuropathic rats showed worse performance than controls in the reversals (Moriarty et al., 2016a).

These results indicate that chronic neuropathic pain may affect and impair cognitive flexibility; however, there is no evidence so far that similar results would occur with other types of pain including OA.

5.1.3.1. PREFRONTAL CORTEX, PAIN AND COGNITION

The PFC is known for its important role in pain processing, including in knee OA pain (Parks et al., 2012). Several studies conducted in both humans and animal models have been showing the involvement of PFC in both acute and chronic pain; structure, anatomical and connectivity changes in PFC have been reported in chronic pain condition (Ong et al., 2019). Brain imaging studies have showed significant decreases in the volume of grey matter in the PFC in patients with chronic pain (Kelley and Domesick, 1982; Kuchinad et al., 2007; Moriarty et al., 2011), and this morphological alteration was suggested to contribute to cognitive impairments (Luerding et al., 2008).

Moreover, this forebrain region has also been reported to have a major role in several different cognitive functions (Hiser and Koenigs, 2018; Parnaudeau et al., 2018), including, in NOR and cognitive flexibility. While, pain processing was suggested to be more localized in the dorsal mPFC, cognitive processing seems to be more ventrally localized (Jahn et al., 2016).

Impairments in decision-making have been linked to chronic pain patients (Apkarian et al., 2004), decision-making deficits were correlated positively with cortical grey matter volume changes in chronic pain patients (Elvemo et al., 2014).

Several studies have assessed the role of the rodent hippocampus in NOR memory, besides some conflicting and diverse results the hippocampus seems important for the NOR memory at least with a delay greater than 10 minutes between sample and testing (for review see (Cohen and Stackman Jr., 2015)). However, recent works have indicated that other areas as the perirhinal cortex (Brown and Aggleton, 2001) and the PFC have a crucial role in NOR (see for review (Morici et al., 2015)).

Additionally, one key function associated with the PFC, although not exclusively, is cognitive flexibility (Kim et al., 2011; Brown and Tait, 2014; Brady and Floresco, 2015). There is evidence that pain severity negatively correlates with behavioural flexibility in patients with chronic pain (Karp et al., 2006). Interestingly, there is evidence that PFC pharmacological manipulations of both dopamine and serotonin systems altered behavioural flexibility (Winter et al., 2009; Nilsson et al., 2019).

5.1.6. CHAPTER AIMS

In sum, there is evidence that indicates that chronic pain may disrupt the PFC and consequently associated functions, including cognitive flexibility. Unfortunately, the knowledge behind the relationship between chronic pain and cognitive flexibility remains unclear, even less is known regarding if, and how OA in particular affects this cognitive function.

In the previous chapter, we focused only on the possible impact of chronic OA knee pain on hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning performance and no significant impairments were detected. However, as discussed above chronic pain has been also associated with recognition memory deficits. Therefore, in this chapter we tested MIAinjected LH rats in the NOR test to investigate the possible impacts of OA-chronic knee pain on NOR memory.

To test if OA causes cognitive flexibility deficits, in this chapter, the same cohort of MIAinjected adult LH rats were subjected to an automated set-shifting task (Brady and Floresco, 2015) to evaluate the impact of OA-chronic knee pain on behavioural flexibility.

5.2. METHODS

Refer to Chapter 2 for general methodology.

5.2.1. ANIMALS

A total of 32 adult male Lister hooded (LH) rats weighing between 253-283g, approximately 2-3 months old, (Charles Rivers, UK) at the beginning of the experiment were used in this study. The target sample size for this study was 32 (n=16 per group), so group differences corresponding to an effect size of Cohen's d=1 could be detected with a power of about 80%, using an independent t-test (2-tailed, p<0.05).

5.2.2. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY

The model of OA pain was induced with a single intra-articular injection of MIA (as described in 2.2.). LH rats were injected with either 50 μ L of MIA (3 mg/50 μ L; n=16) or the same volume of sterile saline solution (n=16) as control. Rats were initially allocated to the treatment groups before model induction based on the pain and sensorimotor activity baseline measurements to match the prospective treatment groups for their baseline measurements as closely as possible. In each cage half of the animals received treatment and the other half saline. The experimenter (S.G.) was blinded to the treatment allocations throughout the data collection and analysis.

Nociceptive pain behaviours were assessed using weight-bearing and Von-Frey tests, as described in 2.3., and sensorimotor measures, locomotor activity and startle/prepulse inhibition, were taken as described in 2.4.. Rats were first handled for a few days and habituated to the pain test apparatus. Baseline pain behaviour and sensorimotor activity measurements were collected before model induction with one day apart. After MIA/saline injection (day 0), pain measurements were taken on day 3, 14, 28, and 63; and sensorimotor processes were assessed on day 15, 29, and 63 after model induction.

5.2.3. NOVEL OBJECT RECOGNITION TEST

To assess if NOR memory was impaired in MIA-injected LH rats, animals were submitted to the NOR test at baseline, i.e. 10 days prior to model induction, and 30 days after model induction, adapting NOR testing procedures described in (Pezze et al., 2015).

5.2.3.1. NOR APPARATUS

Animals were tested in groups of 4. The animals were tested in individual plastic rectangular arenas (38 x 40 x 54 cm high walls) with an opaque plastic lid. Objects consisted of duplicate copies of bottles of glass or plastic with different shapes, colour and sizes. These objects were filled with water to make them too heavy to be displaced by the animal. Objects were counterbalanced across groups and placement (right or left of arena). Sessions were recorded using an overhead camera and later analysed. Arenas and objects were cleaned with 20% ethanol before each trial/session to remove odour cues.

5.2.3.2. NOR PROCEDURE

The NOR task consists of three major phases: habituation to the apparatus, sampling and testing phase. On the first day, animals were placed into the empty arena for 1h for acclimatisation (habituation). On the following day, animals were placed in the empty arenas for 3 min for re-acclimatisation, returned to the home cage for 30 - 45 s while arenas were cleaned and objects placed, and then placed in the arenas again for the sampling phase. The two copies of the object were placed in opposite corners of the arena as in Fig.5.1. and animals were then allowed to explore them for 5 min (familiar/sampling phase), after which the animal was returned to the home cage. 24 h after the sampling phase, animals were



Day 3: Testing day



FIGURE 5.1. – NOVEL OBJECT RECOGNITION (NOR) TEST. Rats were allowed to explore two identical objects (sampling day) and after 24 hours one of the objects was replaced by a novel one (testing day).

replaced into the arena for 3 min; at this point, the arena contained one of the objects used in the sampling phase on the previous day (the familiar object) and one novel object (testing phase). Both sampling phase and testing phase were recorded and later analysed. The duration of sampling and test phase were selected based on previous studies (Pezze et al., 2015).

Time exploring each object was defined as only direct contact/active exploring the object by directing the nose at the object at a distance of less than 1 cm, e.g. sniffing and or interacting with the object. Contact with the object, but facing it or sitting next to it was not scored as exploration time (Ennaceur and Delacour, 1988; Pezze et al., 2015). The discrimination ratio was calculated using the following equation: total time exploring Novel Object _/total time exploring Novel + Familiar Object[.]

5.2.4. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY TEST

To assess the behavioural flexibility, an automated strategy shifting and reversal task was used in this study. The protocol used was based on a previously established protocol (Brady and Floresco, 2015). Animals were food-restricted during this test to provide better control of food intake. Food-restriction was gradually introduced a few days prior to the beginning of the pretraining. Moreover, 10-20 sugar pellets (Purified rodent tablet 5TUL, TestDiet) per animal were placed in the animal's home cage to familiarise animals with the pellets on the day before the pretraining. The target animal weight was 85-90% of the free feeding weight; animals were carefully weighed every day before the task and only fed with their normal food after the task.

5.2.4.1. APPARATUS

The task was conducted in individual operant chambers (MED-Associate Operant Chambers). Each chamber was equipped with a house-light, two retractable levers, two stimulus lights above the levers and a reinforcement pellet dispenser located between the levers. Each animal was assigned to an operant chamber. Chambers were cleaned with 20% ethanol between tests to prevent odour cues. The stimuli presented, lever operation and data collection were controlled via an interface with the computer and using custom software (MED-PC software) (Brady and Floresco, 2015).

5.2.4.2. PRETRAINING

Phase 1: Food restricted rats were initially trained to respond by lever pressing under a fixed-ratio (FR1) schedule of reinforcement. In this phase 1, only one lever (right or left) was extended and one reward pellet was delivered for each lever press. Phase 1 had the duration of 4 days. In the first 2 days animals were trained with only one lever (right or left) and on the next 2 days animals were trained on the opposite lever, with half of the animals first trained on the right lever and the other half on the left lever. On the first day only, two reward pellets were placed in the magazine cup and crushed pellets on the top of the extended lever. Minimum trial criterion was 50 lever presses in a maximum of 30 min.

Phase 2: Animals were then trained on the retractable lever to familiarise them with the extension and retraction of the levers and the respective sound. Levers were pseudorandomly extended, but the same lever was not presented more than two consecutive times. The program started with the house-light off, then both stimulus light turned on, 3s after house-light came on and one of the levers extended for 10 seconds. Pressing the lever resulted in its retraction, release of a reward pellet and switching off of all lights, no lever press was considered an omission. Each session was composed of 90 trials. Phase 2 lasted 5 days, and on the 5th day rats should be making fewer than 5 omissions over the session to proceed to the next phase.

Phase 3: On the 5th day, a side preference test was conducted immediately after the end of phase 2 - rats were not removed from the chamber after phase 2. Both levers were extended into the chamber on each trial and no light stimulus was presented during this phase. On the first trial a press on either levers was rewarded with a sugar pellet, on second trial (20 seconds after) press on the opposite lever was rewarded, choosing the same lever as the first trial was not rewarded. The opposite levers should be pressed 7 times, so 7 + 7 presses in total. The test only ended after 7 pairs of rewarded trials were achieved. In the response phase animals were trained to press the levers opposite the one they showed preference during this side preference training.

5.2.4.3. VISUAL CUE DISCRIMINATION

Phase 4: This was the first testing phase. Both levers extended into the chamber and only one cue light was illuminated (Fig.5.2.A). To receive a reward, the animal needed to press the

levers with the cue light illuminated above it. The program stopped after the rat reached the criterion – 10 consecutive correct trials – or after a maximum of 150 trials.

The pre-exposure to stimulus lights presented during phase 2 reduces the novelty and, therefore, may also reduce the salience of the stimulus lights, and consequently increase the difficulty and increase the number of trials required to achieve criterion performance on this visual cue discrimination phase (Floresco et al., 2008). Animals may require multiple days to learn this rule under these conditions. If rats did not reach the criterion on day 1, the rat was tested again on the following day up to a maximum of 3 days. Rats that did not reach the criterion on the 3rd day were excluded from further behavioural testing.

5.2.4.4. SET SHIFT TO SPATIAL RESPONSE STRATEGY

Phase 5: At the beginning of phase 5 and just on the first day, the program ran the first 20 trials identical to phase 4, i.e. with responding according to the cue rule being rewarded (Fig.5.2.B). These trials served to measure retrieval/expression of the cue discrimination rule. On trial 21 the program shifted to the spatial response strategy. Either the left or right stimulus light was pseudorandomly illuminated for 3 s, then both levers extended into the chamber for 10 seconds or until a response occurred. The reward was delivered only when the rat pressed the opposite lever of the side bias defined during side preference training, independent of the position of the light. The program again stopped after the rat reached the criterion - 10 consecutive correct choices and only after it completed a minimum of 30 trials - or after a maximum of 180 trials on the first set shift day and a maximum of 150 trials on subsequent set shift days. Rats performed 3 consecutive days of this task. A few days later,



FIGURE 5.2. – **DISCRIMINATION TASKS. A)** During visual cue discrimination task (phase 4), rats are reinforced for a response on the lever under the illuminated stimulus light. **B)** During shift to response discrimination task (phase 5), rats are reinforced for a response on one lever (either left or right) regardless of the position of the stimulus light. Adapted from (Brady and Floresco, 2015).

a fourth day as a reminder of phase 5 was presented to the rats, to ensure robust performance on the spatial response task, followed, on the next day, by reversals.

5.2.4.5. REVERSAL TASK

The reversal task was run similar to phase 5. Either left or right stimulus light were pseudorandomly illuminated for 3 seconds, then both levers were extended into the chamber for 10 seconds or until a response occurred. However, here the correct response was 'reversed'. So, if in phase 5 the designated lever for a particular rat was the right lever, now the left lever was the designated lever to receive a reward pellet, and vice versa. The criterion was again 10 consecutive correct responses, with maximum of 150 trials. All rats performed this task for 4 consecutive days, lever only changed on the first day.

5.2.4.6. BEHAVIOURAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The analysis of this test focused on trials to criterion, the percentage of correct responses and percentage of omissions. Errors were also counted and analysed during the shifting and reversal phases.

Two types of errors were taken in consideration: perseverative error - when rats responded incorrectly, but in accordance with the rule that was correct on the previous task, and never-reinforced errors – when rats responded incorrectly on the task with a response that was not correct either according to the current or previous rule.

5.2.5. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

This experiment was conducted in two batches; half of the animals were in batch 1 and the other half in the batch 2. Both batches were ran with only 1 day of delay between them to facilitate the behaviour testing, so all animals could be tested during the morning.

Study was conducted as described in Fig 5.3.. Before model induction, rats were tested for NOR, followed by pain behaviour and sensorimotor activity (baseline). Then, after model induction (day 0), pain measurements were taken on day 3, 14, 28, and 63; and sensorimotor processes were assessed on day 15, 29, and 63 after model induction as described in Fig.5.2.. NOR was also re-assessed at day 30 (sample phase) and 31 (testing phase) after model

induction. Then, food restriction started on the day after NOR testing animals. Pretraining of automated set shifting task started on day 37 after model induction.

At day 70 after MIA/saline injection, rats were anesthetized with a lethal dose of sodium pentobarbitone and transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Brains, spinal cords, DRGs and knees were carefully excised, preserved and stored. Knee joint sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin- or safranin-O/fast green and then scored for overall joint morphology and proteoglycan loss. Total cartilage joint damage, osteophyte, proteoglycan loss, synovial inflammation and chondrocyte presence were scored to evaluate the severity of the knee joint pathology as described in 2.7.



FIGURE 5.3. – TIME COURSE OF THE BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY AND RECOGNITION MEMORY STUDY. 32 adult males Lister hooded rats were used in this study. Animals were either injected with MIA (3mg/50µl, n=16) or saline (n=16).

5.2.6. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

GraphPad Prism 8 and IBM SPSS Statistics 24 were used to prepare the graphs and the statistical analysis.

Results from the pain behaviour studies were analysed using an analysis of variance (ANOVA), with group as between-subjects factor and days from model induction as repeated measures/within-subjects variable. Results from the sensorimotor behaviour studies were analysed using a mixed design factorial ANOVA test with days from model induction and task blocks (or pulse intensity in the PPI test) as within-subjects factors and group as between-subjects factor. NOR results were analysed also using an ANOVA test with testing day and object as within-subjects factors and group as between-subjects factor.

From the cognitive flexibility test, results of the Cue Acquisition phase were analysed using unpaired t-test or the Mann-Whitney when normality could not be assumed. For the shifting and reversal phase that involved four sessions of trials, a mixed design factorial ANOVA test was used with testing day as within-subjects factors and group as betweensubjects factor.

Knee pathology was analysed with an independent t test or with Mann-Whitney test when normality was violated.

P<0.05 was considered to represent a significant difference and all results were expressed as mean±standard error (SEM). Normality was tested using D'Agostino-Pearson test. Baseline measures were not included in the ANOVAS analysis, t-tests were conducted at baseline two ensure no significant difference between groups at this stage. Bonferroni multiple comparison was used as *post-hoc* testing.

5.3. RESULTS

5.3.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR

Rats showed weight-bearing asymmetry, placing less weight on the injured leg, after MIA injection, compared to saline injection (group: $F_{(1,30)}=33.89$, p<0.0001) (Fig.5.4). No main effect of time and interaction between time and group were observed (time: $F_{(3,90)}=0.71$, p=0.55; group x time: $F_{(3,90)}=0.21$, p=0.89).

Paw withdrawal measures did not differ between MIA and control rats (Fig.5.5). No differences were observed between MIA and controls in the paw withdrawal threshold of the ipsilateral (group: $F_{(1,30)}$ =1.24, p=0.27; Fig.5.5A) and the contralateral paw (group: $F_{(1,30)}$ =0.03, p=0.87; Fig.5.4B). No difference between the contralateral and the ipsilateral withdrawal threshold was observed as well (group: $F_{(1,30)}$ =0.70, p=0.41; Fig.5.5C). No main effect of time or interaction involving group were observed (time: $F_{(3,90)}$ <2.67, p>0.07; group x time: $F_{(1,90)}$ <0.43, p>0.0.33).



Days post-MIA/Saline injection

FIGURE 5.4. – MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) INDUCED ASYMMETRY IN WEIGHT BEARING IN LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS. LH rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (\cdot ; n=16) or saline (\bullet ; n=16) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.003, *** p<0.0006, 2way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing.





Contralateral paw

FIGURE 5.5. – MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) INDUCED WEAK CHANGES IN MECHANICAL ALLODYNIA IN LISTER HOODED (LH) RATS. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (\cdot ; n=16) or saline (\bullet ; n=16) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

5.3.2. SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY

MIA injection did not affect horizontal locomotor activity (Fig.5.6A), however rearing (vertical locomotor activity) was significantly reduced in these animals compared with saline injected controls (Fig. 5.6B). A 3-way ANOVA of horizontal locomotor activity, using group as between-subjects factor, and day from model induction and 10-min blocks of testing as within-subjects factor, revealed no significant main effect of group (group: $F_{(1,30)}$ =3.65, p=0.07). However, MIA rats tend to be a little less active than saline, but this is likely to reflect a pre-existing difference, unrelated to the MIA injection, as a similar difference was already present at baseline. However, significant difference in the vertical activity was observed (group: $F_{(1,30)}$ =5.08, p=0.03), MIA injected rats stand on the rear paws less than controls.

In both horizontal and vertical activity, no interactions of block or testing day with group were observed (time/block x group: $F_{(2,60)}$ <1.05, p>0.36), nor triple interaction of block, testing day and group (time x block x group: $F_{(4,120)}$ <0.92, p>0.45). For both horizontal and vertical activity, animals showed habituation to the apparatus within the individual open field test sessions, reflected by a main effect of 10-min block (block: $F_{(2,60)}$ =319.19, p<0.0001; $F_{(2,60)}$ =95.38, p<0.0001) and across test days, reflected by a main effect of days (time: $F_{(2,60)}$ =3.42, p=0.04; $F_{(2,60)}$ =3.22, p=0.047).









Startle response and prepulse inhibition were not affected by MIA injection (Fig.5.7). Animals have showed habituation to the pulse-alone ($F_{(2.60)}$ =113.06, p<0.0001) and pulse intensity ($F_{(3.90)}$ =320.68, p<0.0001) during the trials within the session. In addition, rats showed habituation to the test during the study ($F_{(2.60)}$ >3.20, p<0.04). MIA model induction did not affect the startle response ($F_{(1.30)}$ =2.91; p=0.10) (Fig.5.7A) or prepulse inhibition ($F_{(1.30)}$ =2.14; p=0.15) (Fig.5.7B). No interaction effect with group was observed in the startle response ($F_{(2.60)}$ <1.88, p>0.16) and in the prepulse inhibition, also no double interaction ($F_{(3.90)}$ <1.07, p>0.38).

5.3.3. RECOGNITION MEMORY

Novel object recognition memory was not affected after MIA model induction (Fig. 5.8). Before model induction, exploration time was similar in both groups (group: $F_{(1,30)}=0.41$, p=0.52) and animals from both groups showed a similar preference for the novel object, i.e. there was a significant main effect of object (object: $F_{(1,30)}=41.26$, p<0.0001). MIA model induction did not affect exploration time (group: $F_{(1,30)}=0.02$) and both groups showed a similar preference for the novel object ($F_{(1,30)}=27.26$, p<0.0001).. The discrimination ratio between familiar and novel object was not affected by MIA injection (group: $F_{(1,30)}=2.27$, p=0.14) compared with saline controls. No interaction effect between group and object was observed at baseline, post model induction or in the discrimination ration analysis (object x group: $F_{(1,30)}<1.03$, p>0.32).



FIGURE 5.8. – **RESULTS FROM THE TESTING PHASE FROM THE NOVEL OBJECT RECOGNITION MEMORY TEST.** LH rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (\cdot ; n=16) or saline (\bullet ; n=16) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

To ensure that the possible preference for the novel object did not decline rapidly over the 3-min session the results were also scored and analysed in 1-min bins using object and bin as within-subjects and group as between-subjects (data not showed). The 3-way ANOVA at baseline showed decrease of exploration time over time during the 3-min session (time: $F_{(2,60)}=8.94$, p>0.0001). Animals spent more time exploring the novel object (object: $F_{(1,30)}=41.3$, p>0.0001), but no main effect of group (group: $F_{(1,30)}=0.42$, p=0.5) or interaction involving group ($F_{(1,60)}<1.03$, p>0.3) was observed. Similar results were obtained post model induction, decrease of exploration time over time session (time: $F_{(2,60)}=28.88$, p>0.0001). Animals spent more time exploring the novel object (object: $F_{(1,30)}=27.26$, p>0.0001), but no main effect of group (group: $F_{(1,30)}=0.02$, p=0.9) or interaction with group ($F_{(2,60)}<1.15$, p>0.2) were observed. No minute by minute alteration in object exploration over the 3-min session was observed by the 3-way ANOVA interaction between group, object and 1-min bins, at both baseline ($F_{(2,60)}=0.74$, p=0.5) and post model induction ($F_{(2,60)}=2.52$, p=0.09).

5.3.4. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY

5.3.4.1. CUE ACQUISITION

MIA did not impair acquisition of the cue discrimination task. An unpaired t-test showed that MIA (mean=119±34.12) and saline (mean=169.6±38.45) rats did not differ in trials to reach the criterion (t<1, df=30) (Fig.5.9A). No changes were also observed in terms of % of correct responses (t=1.35, df=30, p=0.19) (Fig.5.9B) and % of omissions (U=109.5, p=0.46) (Fig.5.9C) between MIA and saline controls. At this phase, 4 animals (3 saline + 1 MIA) failed to make streak of 10 correct responses within the three 150-trial sessions and failed to reach the criterion so they were excluded from further testing (signed in grey ellipses in Fig.5.9.A).



FIGURE 5.9. - TRIALS TO CRITERION (A), % OF CORRECT RESPONSES (B) AND % OF OMISSIONS (C) ON THE INITIAL CUE DISCRIMINATION TASK (SET). Cue Acquisition was not affected after MIA injection compared with controls. Animals in the grey ellipses did not reach criterion on the 3 days of testing and were excluded from the further testing phases. LH rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (•; n=16) or saline (•; n=16) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM.

5.3.4.2. SHIFT TO RESPONSE STRATEGY

Shift from visual cue discrimination to response strategy was not affected by the MIA injection (Fig.5.10.). Trials to reach criterion decreased across days (time: $F_{(3,78)}=123.8$, p<0.0001) (Fig.5.10A) and % of correct responses increased across days ($F_{(3,78)}=38.73$, p<0.0001) (Fig.5.10B), however in both parameters there was no main effect of group (group: $F_{(1,26)}<1$) or interaction involving group (time x group: $F_{(3,78)}>1.77$, p<0.1). Omissions were never greater than 1 and did not differ between groups (data not shown). Perseverative (Fig.5.10C) and never-reinforcement errors (Fig.5.10D) decreased across days (time: $F_{(3,78)}=14.21$, p<0.0001; $F_{(3,78)}=9.60$, p<0.0001), however there was no main effect of group (group: $F_{(1,26)}=0.22$, p=0.6; $F_{(1,26)}=0.004$, p=0.9) or interaction involving group (time x group: $F_{(3,78)}=1.23$, p=0.3; $F_{(3,78)}=0.92$, p=0.4).



FIGURE 5.10. - TRIALS TO CRITERION (A), % OF CORRECT RESPONSES (B), % OF PERSEVERATIVE (C) AND NEVER-REINFORCEMENT (D) ERRORS ON THE SHIFT TO RESPONSE TASK (SHIFTING PHASE). Shift was not affected after MIA injection compared with controls. LH rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (•; n=13) or saline (•; n=15) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

5.3.4.3. REVERSALS

MIA did not impair the ability to reverse the spatial response rule (Fig.5.11). Both groups decreased the number of trials to reach criterion across days (time: $F_{(3,78)}=96.82$, p<0.0001) (Fig.5.11A) and slightly increased the % of correct responses (time: $F_{(3,78)}=130.5$, p<0.0001) (Fig.5.11B). However, in both parameters there was no main of group (group: $F_{(1,26)}<1$) or interaction involving group (time x group: $F_{(3,78)}>1.67$, p<0.2). Omissions were never greater than 1 and did not differ between groups (data not shown).

Perseverative (Fig.5.11C) and never-reinforcement errors (Fig.5.11D) decreased across days (time: $F_{(3,78)}$ =90.20, p<0.0001; $F_{(3,78)}$ =79.17,p<0.0001), however no main effect of group (group: $F_{(1,26)}$ =0.0.05, p=0.8; $F_{(1,26)}$ =4.07, p=0.054) and interaction involving group (time x group: $F_{(3,78)}$ =0.46, p=0.7; $F_{(3,78)}$ =0.92,p<=0.4) were observed.



FIGURE 5.11. - **TRIALS TO CRITERION (A), % OF CORRECT RESPONSES (B), % OF PERSEVERATIVE (C) AND NEVER-REINFORCEMENT (D) ERRORS ON THE REVERSALS.** Reversal task was not affected after MIA injection compared with controls. LH rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (\cdot ; n=13) or saline (\cdot ; n=15) in the left knee. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

5.3.5. KNEE PATHOLOGY

Knees were collected and processed for pathology scoring at the end of the study as described in section 2.7. Joints were scored for cartilage integrity (cartilage damage x involvement), synovial inflammation and osteophyte formation on three different levels of both lateral and medial tibial plateau (Fig.5.12). Results are shown as mean between medial and tibial plateau values, as no differences were observed between medial and lateral tibial parts. During the splitting process, one knee joint from a saline animal was split with the wrong angle making it impossible to score.

MIA injected rats lost cartilage integrity (Fig.5.12A; U=24, p<0.0001), developed synovial inflammation (Fig.4.12B; U=48, p=0.0002) and showed a higher number osteophytes (Fig.5.12C; t=2.51; df=29, p=0.02), compared with control animals.



FIGURE 5.12. – MICROSCOPIC QUANTIFICATION OF HISTOLOGICAL CHANGES OF TIBIAL PLATEAU IN LISTER HOODED RATS INJECTED WITH EITHER 3 MG MONOSODIUM IODOACETATE (MIA) MODEL OR SALINE. Average scores for medial and lateral tibial plateau. Rats were injected with either 50ul of 3mg of MIA (•, n=15) or saline (•, n=16) in the left knee. Knees were collected and processed for scoring at day 70 after model induction. 3 mg MIA was able to induce cartilage damage (A), synovial inflammation (B) and osteophyte formation (C). Data are presented as mean±SEM. **** p<0.0001; *** p<0.001; * p<0.05.

5.4. DISCUSSION

In this study, MIA-injected LH rats were subjected to a novel object recognition test and to an automated set shifting task to investigate the impacts of OA on recognition memory and behavioural flexibility. No evidences of impaired recognition memory and behavioural flexibility after induction of chronic MIA were observed.

5.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR, SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY AND KNEE PATHOLOGY

Pain behaviour was assessed across this study. 3 mg of MIA injected into the knee, as in the previous experiments (chapter 2 and 3), produced a pain phenotype, reflected by weight bearing asymmetry. As observed in previous chapters, there was no evidence for mechanical allodynia, so the possibility that our MIA-injected rats do not show central sensitization should also be considered. Both MIA and control animals showed a slight decrease in ipsilateral paw withdrawal threshold after MIA/saline injection into the knee, with values then remaining at this lower level throughout the rest of the study.

Locomotor activity was slightly affected after MIA injection. As in chapter 3, in this study, MIA injected rats showed a significant decrease in the vertical activity compared with saline. As in chapter 4, there was no evidence for changes in startle response. Nevertheless, the PPI was mildly affected in MIA-injected rats at the higher prepulse in chapter 4, these effects were not observed in this chapter.

Similarly to the knee pathology results in chapter 3 (at day 35 after MIA injection) and 4 (at day 93), knee histology conducted at the end of this study at day 70 confirmed that MIA induced cartilage damage, synovial inflammation, and some animals developed osteophytes.

5.4.2. RECOGNITION MEMORY

MIA injected rats did not show impairments in novel object recognition memory compared with saline controls. Both sham and MIA rats spent more time exploring the novel object, the discrimination ratio was not affected after induction of the model, indicating that memory may not be affected by MIA.

Previous studies using a neuropathic pain model in both young adult (7weeks old) (You et al., 2018) and mid-aged (41 weeks old) male Sprague Dawley rats (Moriarty et al., 2016a),

showed that chronic neuropathic pain may be associated with recognition memory deficits. Impaired recognition memory was also reported in MIA-induced OA model in mice (Negrete et al., 2017). However, in contrast with these previous findings in rodents, in this study chronic knee OA-like pain in adult LH rats did not affect novel object recognition memory.

On top of the different models and animals used between studies, the principal barrier when comparing recognition memory results between studies is the protocol used across labs. First, the test is usually conducted in an open rectangular arena with high walls as in this study, however some labs use Y-mazes (Negrete et al., 2017). Second, in the study by Negrete et al. (2017), as in the present study, mice were tested 30 days after MIA induction and the interval time between sampling and testing phase was 24h.

Beside the evidence previously mentioned that chronic pain may be affecting recognition memory, there are also a few human studies that seem to be in accordance with our finding, indicating a limited impact. Once more, this conflicting data shows the importance to further investigate this relationship. A study conducted in middle-aged male patients with fibromyalgia showed no impairments in recognition memory compared with pain free groups when tested in the Camden Topographical Recognition Memory test (Lee et al., 2010). In addition, chronic back pain patients also did not show deficits in recognition memory when tested in the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery test (Schiltenwolf et al., 2017).

5.4.3. BEHAVIOURAL FLEXIBILITY

Behavioural flexibility was not affected in adult LH rats after induction of chronic OA like knee pain. Both MIA-injected rats and saline controls were able to learn and perform operant rules, and shift and reverse them similarly well during the automated set shifting test.

Cowen and colleagues conducted a study in adult Sprague Dawley rats with neuropathic pain showing weak impairments in behavioural flexibility in an operant chamber task with choice testing and progressive ratio tasks (Cowen et al., 2018). Rats with spinal nerve ligation did not show deficits in terms of learning and motivation, however, when compared with controls (both naïve and sham rats) chronic pain animals were slower to adapt to a new and more challenging task. However, impairments may have been less specific, since the in rats seem to show a non-specific impairment in operant learning, rather than specific impairments in behavioural flexibility. As previously observed in chronic pain patients that tend to stay longer on the previous rule even when less proficient than healthy controls (Verdejo-Garcia et al., 2009; Indart et al., 2017), these neuropathic rats also seem to take longer to revert to an optimal choice. Interestingly, these neuropathic rats pressed the lever in bursts followed by long delays. This unique and possible adaptive coping strategy lead the authors to hypothesize and suggest that chronic neuropathic pain may drive a preference for familiar situations.

Leite-Almeida et al. showed during a spatial navigation reversal task in the watermaze test that only adult neuropathic rats had difficulties to shift from the old task compared with both young and old neuropathic Sprague Dawley rats. Furthermore, old sham rats also failed to adapt the behaviour to the new rule in this task, showing a relevant age-related impairment in behavioural flexibility (Leite-Almeida et al., 2009). This study points out once more the importance of considering the relationship between ageing, pain severity and cognition. In both human and principally in rodent studies, the age range is restricted which may be a translational issue for both pain and cognition research. Increasing the age range may increase clinical utility/relevance of the findings.

Cognitive flexibility in chronic pain patients has been very poorly investigated. Karp and colleagues showed that pain severity may be associated with mental flexibility (Karp et al., 2006), importantly, the sample of older adults appears to indicate that mental flexibility was more impaired as pain severity increased. Interestingly, Weiner et al (Weiner et al., 2006), demonstrated that older adults suffering from OA with chronic low back pain performed worse in a mental flexibility task compared with pain-free OA subjects. These results lead to hypothesise that OA by itself is not sufficient to affect neurocognitive function, but that chronic pain associated with OA is critical for the neurocognitive impairment.

5.5. CONCLUSIONS

In sum, our results showed that in contrast with some evidence in other rodent models of pain, chronic OA knee-like pain in MIA-injected Lister hooded rats does not seem to be associated with recognition memory and behavioural flexibility deficits.

Previous studies in rodents to investigate the impacts of pain on recognition memory and behavioural flexibility have been used mainly neuropathic models of chronic pain. As previously mentioned, OA pain may be associated with less brain changes compared with other types of pain (Mutso et al., 2012) and consequently has less impact in the respective cognitive functions which may explain the lack of cognitive impairments in our MIA model. However, Negrete's study conducted a study in MIA mice and showed recognition memory impaired in these animals. Despite, the species and dose difference, this result difference was not expected since MIA is a well-established model across species due to its chemical induction nature.

As briefly mention in chapter 4, another point that should be considered is the possibility that our MIA-injected rats do not show evidence of central sensitization. In contrast with the rodent studies mentioned, in this discussion including Negrete's study, our MIA-injected rats did not show mechanical allodynia changes which may indicate that their central nervous system may not be impacted and consequently not impacting the cognitive function observed in the other studies.

Several factors may mediate the relationship between chronic pain and cognitive functions, such as life style, age and medication. In fact, some studies have shown evidence that chronic pain patients under long-term opioid treatments perform worst in cognitive tasks than patients undergoing non-opioid treatments (Schiltenwolf et al., 2017; Richards et al., 2018). Opioid use for analgesics effects in patients under chronic pain states have rapidly escalated with wide ranging consequences. Furthermore, the long-term use of opioids can induce hyperalgesia (Angst and Clark, 2006), i.e. central nervous system changes and by itself cause cognitive function deficits. This topic will be studied and discussed in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 6

SUSTAINED OPIOID TREATMENT EFFECTS ON MEMORY IN MIA-INDUCED LISTER HOODED RATS

6.1. INTRODUCTION

Chronic pain has been associated with cognitive function impairments. However, the relationship between osteoarthritis (OA) and such impairments remains unclear. Results in chapters 4 and 5 suggest that chronic OA-like pain behaviour in a rat model does not affect memory and cognitive flexibility. This finding may reflect the relatively short duration of OA-like pain behaviour in the rat model compared to the clinical situation, or may reflect the combined impact of other factors with OA pain on cognitive function. For example, the development of cognitive deficits in humans is associated with life style (alcohol intake, lack of sleep, etc.), comorbidities (anxiety, stress, etc.), age and medication. In particular, there is evidence that some drugs used to treat chronic pain can contribute to cognitive deficits, such as opioids (Schiltenwolf et al., 2017; Richards et al., 2018).

6.1.1. TREATMENTS FOR OSTEOARTHRITIS PAIN

OA is a progressive and degenerative disease and a major public health burden. Pain is the main symptom of OA, but this disease is also associated with other comorbidities (Moriarty et al., 2011). Unfortunately, effective medication to either prevent or treat this disease has not been found yet, and, in order to improve the quality of life and joint mobility, current OA treatments are mainly focused on symptomatic relief of pain and/or inflammation. Surgical intervention is only indicated when pharmacological treatments do not work or when the degree of pathology is high (Hunter and Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019). Nonpharmacological methods are recommended as a first key management strategy; such methods include exercise, weight loss if overweight, patient education and self-management (Hunter and Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019). Pharmacological treatments are mainly focused on analgesics, such as paracetamol, opioids, duloxetine; and/or anti-inflammatory agents, such as non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (Hunter and Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019).

The first-line of the pharmacological treatments is focused on the use of NSAIDs (oral or topical administration). Although NSAIDs have beneficial effects in some people (da Costa et al., 2014; Bannuru et al., 2015), several adverse effects in particular in the gastrointestinal tract or renal effects have been reported in some patients with long-term treatment (Pelletier et al., 2016). Intra-articular injection of corticosteroids produces beneficial pain relief and improves joint mobility in knee OA in patients not responding to oral analgesics/anti-inflammatory agents (Hunter and Bierma-Zeinstra, 2019). Several other pain management therapies have been used and several new pain treatments are currently in study and development (Tive et al., 2019; Gowler et al., 2020). Strong opioids are prescribed for moderate to severe pain in patients unresponsive to NSAIDS.

6.1.2. OPIOIDS AND OSTEOARTHRITIS

The huge increase in opioid prescription, misuse and abuse has been considered as an epidemic, particularly in North America (Shipton et al., 2018). In England, the long-term prescription of opioids to manage chronic pain increased around 34% (or 127% after correcting for total oral morphine equivalency) between 1988 and 2016 (Curtis et al., 2019). Between 2016 and 2017 there was a decline in the prescription of opioids, however the number is still high compared with the previous decade (Curtis et al., 2019).

Opioid drugs are a common treatment to manage OA pain despite lack of supporting evidence regarding its efficacy (Krebs et al., 2018). Krebs and colleagues (2018) conducted a randomised trial including 240 patients with moderate to severe chronic back pain or hip or knee pain. Half of the patients were under opioid treatment and the other half under nonopioid analgesics. Opioids had no superior improvements in pain-related effect over nonopioid treatments over 12 months. These recent findings demonstrated that opioids are not more effective than the non-opioid treatments, and recently the Osteoarthritis Research Society International (OARSI) updated the guidelines for the management of OA and strongly recommended against the use of opioids (Bannuru et al., 2019). Increasing awareness has been raised concerning the use and the consequences of opioids (Yip and Oettinger, 2020).

The most common types of opioids prescribed are codeine and its combinations, followed by the strong opioid tramadol, and then buprenorphine, morphine and oxycodone (Ashaye et al., 2018). There are three main types of opioid receptors: mu (μ), delta (δ), and kappa (κ), which are G-protein coupled receptors and activate inhibitory G-proteins (Al-Hasani and Bruchas, 2011). μ -receptors are essential for the analgesic action of opioids (Williams et al., 2013) and are expressed throughout the central nervous system, including both spinal cord and supraspinal areas (Al-Hasani and Bruchas, 2011).

6.1.3. OPIOID TOLERANCE AND HYPERALGESIA

Opioid use to manage pain has been associated with increased adverse effects related with gastrointestinal depression (constipation, nausea and vomiting) and respiratory depression (Imam et al., 2018). Opioid use also increases risk of addiction and overdose in a dose-dependent manner (Bedson et al., 2019). The prolonged use of opioids has additionally been associated with tolerance and hyperalgesia (Colvin et al., 2019).

Opioid tolerance occurs when an increased dose is required to achieve the same amount of analgesic effect. Ongoing opioid exposure can lead to a reduction of the responsiveness to the drug, resulting in less analgesia over time (Colvin et al., 2019). Clinical loss of analgesic efficacy during opioid treatments may also result from a different phenomenon, known as opioid-induced hyperalgesia (OIH) (Chu et al., 2008).

OIH is associated with prolonged opioid treatment and has been shown mechanistically to be a pronociceptive process, leading to an increase in pain sensitivity (Silverman, 2009). OIH was reported in both humans (Chu et al., 2008) and animal models (Araldi et al., 2015). Additionally, OIH has been reported following various routes of opioid administration at both high and ultra-low doses (Angst and Clark, 2006). Several studies have been conducted to investigate the mechanisms behind OIH, the majority of which have focused on peripheral neuronal and spinal cord mechanisms, but there is some evidence for a contribution from supraspinal areas (Chu et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2010; Ferrini et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2019).

6.1.4. COGNITIVE IMPACT OF OPIOID ANALGESIA

There is evidence that some analgesic drugs, including opioids, may interfere with cognitive function [see for review (Moriarty et al., 2011)]. μ -receptor activation inhibits GABA transmission in some brain areas, such as the hippocampus (Zieglgansberger et al., 1979; Valentino and Volkow, 2018). Also, μ -receptors activate GABA inhibition in the reward brain circuits, which can lead to increased dopamine release into ventral tegmental area and

prefrontal cortex (Bull et al., 2017; Colvin et al., 2019). These results may suggest that opioids acting on μ -receptors may stimulate GABAergic inhibition and consequently this may cause inhibition of brain circuits involved in cognitive functions. Such (hippocampal and prefrontal) disinhibition may well cause cognitive impairments (Bast et al., 2017) and increased dopamine transmission may also disrupt some cognitive processes.

The impact of opioid treatment for chronic pain on cognitive function is under-studied. In some studies of chronic pain and cognition, patients under medication are excluded or the medication effect is corrected (Moriarty et al., 2011). Nevertheless, there are some studies addressing this question. Chronic pain patients taking opioids performed worse in memory tasks compared with non-opioid patients (Karp et al., 2006). In this study, no correlation between pain severity and memory was detected and pain scores between non-opioid patients taking opioids were also not statistically different, however patients taking opioids had more difficulty with unprompted memory compared with non-opioid treatment had worse spatial working memory compared with non-opioid patients (Sjøgren et al., 2000).

A study including chronic back pain patients under long-term opioid treatment versus non-opioid treatment showed an interaction of low back pain and opioid treatment with cognitive deficits. Chronic back pain patients using both treatments showed impairments in attention and cognitive flexibility compared with controls, patients who underwent opioid therapy showed a trend to perform even worse in the tasks compared with healthy controls. Interestingly, only patients who underwent opioid therapy showed impairments in short term memory and working memory compared with both patients under non-opioid treatment and healthy controls. In this study cognitive impairments were associated with pain intensity (Schiltenwolf et al., 2014).

Preclinical studies have also associated chronic opioid treatment with cognitive dysfunction. For example, chronic administration of morphine in naïve rats was associated with impaired learning during an operant chamber task (Wang et al., 2006) and in spatial memory during the probe trial in the Morris watermaze (Brolin et al., 2018). On the other hand, morphine treatment improved attention and recognition memory in a rat model of visceral pain (Millecamps et al., 2004).

6.1.5. AIMS OF CHAPTER

Opioids are widely used to manage chronic pain despite the potential for adverse effects and misuse. Opioids have wide-ranging effects on neuronal function, including in brain regions contributing to cognition. The impact of long-term exposure to opioids upon cognitive function in people suffering chronic pain is poorly understood. Evidence suggests that opioids may lead to an exacerbation of the pain phenotype and also cognitive dysfunction.

The aim of this chapter was to investigate the effects of sustained morphine treatment and withdrawal from such treatment on hippocampal rapid place learning performance and recognition memory performance in the MIA model of OA-like knee pain in LH rats.

To address this aim, I first investigated whether morphine treatment, following early acute analgesic action, induced morphine tolerance and/or OIH in LH rats following sustained morphine treatment and withdrawal from such treatment. Naïve LH were chronically treated with morphine, and pain behaviour and locomotor activity were assessed during the treatment and during drug withdrawal.

Secondly, I investigated whether sustained morphine treatment altered memory in MIAinjected LH rats using the watermaze DMP task and the novel object recognition memory task. Cognitive and pain phenotypes were assessed acutely and during withdrawal from morphine treatment.
6.2. METHODS

Refer to Chapter 2 for general methodology.

6.2.1. MORPHINE DOSE – PILOT STUDY TO EXAMINE WHETHER MORPHINE CAUSES TOLERANCE AND HYPERALGESIA IN LISTER HOODED RATS

6.2.1.1. ANIMALS

A pilot study using 10 Lister hooded (LH) (Charles Rivers, UK) rats weighing between 250-280g was conducted to evaluate pain behaviour changes in naïve LH rats during a sustained morphine treatment. Rats were housed in groups – 1 cage with 4 and 2 cages with 3 rats. The target sample size was calculated so group differences corresponding to an effect size of Cohen's d=1 could be detected with a power of about 80%, using an independent t-test (2-tailed, p<0.05).

6.2.1.2. MORPHINE ADMINISTRATION

Morphine (sulphate, Sigma) was dissolved in saline and administered subcutaneously (3mg/kg); based on previous studies (Babbini and Davis, 1972; Aguilar et al., 1998; Raghavendra et al., 2004; Ferrini et al., 2013; Brolin et al., 2018) and unpublished studies of our lab. Rats were allocated randomly to the treatment groups, with half of the animals in each cage receiving treatment and the other half saline (n=5 per treatment group). Animals were injected twice a day, in the morning (between 9-10 am) and in the evening (between 4-5 pm), for 7 days. Controls received an injection of saline. The experimenter (S.G.) was blinded to the drug treatment throughout the data collection and analysis.

6.2.1.3. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY

Nociceptive pain behaviour was assessed using the Von-Frey test, as described in 2.3. and locomotor activity was assessed as described in 2.4. Rats were first handled for a few days and habituated to the Von-Frey test apparatus. Baseline locomotor activity measurements were collected one day before the treatment, and baseline pain behaviour was measured on the day of the treatment, 1h before the first injection.

6.2.1.4. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

As indicated in the scheme in fig 6.1., rats were first handled and habituated to the pain behaviour apparatus. Then, baseline measurements were collected prior to morphine treatment. Animals were either injected with morphine twice a day for 7 days (sc., 3mg/kg x 2 day, n=5) or saline (sc., x 2 day, n=5). Locomotor activity was measured one day before the start of the treatment and then on day 5 of the treatment (1h after the morning injection), and then during withdrawal, on days 10 and 15 after the first day of treatment. Pain behaviour was assessed using the Von-Frey test, and measures were taken 1 h before and 1 h after the morning injections from day 1 to 4, 6 and 7 of treatment days, and then on day 8 and 12. Von-Frey measures collected 1h before the injection on the first treatment day were used as baseline.



FIGURE 6.1. – TIME COURSE OF MORPHINE PILOT STUDY. 10 adult male LH rats were used in this study. Animals were injected (dark blue rectangle) with either morphine twice a day (morning and evening) (sc., 3mg/kg x 2 per day x 7days, n=5) or saline (sc. x 2 per day x 7days, n=5). Green rectangles – locomotor activity. Light blue rectangle- Von-Frey test.

6.2.2. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT ON PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND MEMORY IN MIA-INDUCED LH RATS

6.2.2.1. ANIMALS

For this study, 12 (n=6 per group) adult male LH rats (Charles Rivers, UK) weighing between 250-280g at the beginning of the experiment were used. The target sample size for this study was 32 (n=16 per group), so group differences corresponding to an effect size of Cohen's d=1 could be detected with a power of about 80%, using an independent t-test (2-tailed, p < 0.05). However, the first series of the experiment clearly indicated that there were no substantial group differences in the main memory measures, and that completion of the additional series to achieve the target sample size would not reveal significant group differences. Therefore, the study was terminated due to futility after only completion of the first series (Neumann et al., 2017).

6.2.4. PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY

The model of OA pain was induced with a single intra-articular injection of MIA (as described in 2.2.). All the LH rats were injected with 50 μ L of MIA (3 mg/50 μ L; n=12). Nociceptive pain behaviours were assessed using weight-bearing and Von-Frey tests, as described in 2.3., and sensorimotor measures, locomotor activity and startle/prepulse inhibition, were taken as described in 2.4.. Rats were first handled for a few days and habituated to the pain test apparatus. Baseline pain behaviour and sensorimotor activity measurements were collected before MIA injections with one day apart. After MIA/saline injection (day 0), pain measurements and sensorimotor processes were then collected as indicated in fig 6.2.

6.2.5. MEMORY ASSESSMENTS

To assess if recognition memory was impaired in MIA-injected LH rats treated with morphine, animals were subjected to the novel object recognition (NOR) test as described in 5.2.3.. Measures were collected prior to MIA injection and any morphine injection and 47-49 days after MIA injection, i.e. 7-9 days after the end of the morphine treatment, as indicated in fig 6.2.

Hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning performance was evaluated using the watermaze DMP task as described in 4.2.3.. Animals were pretrained for 8 consecutive days on this task prior to MIA injection and any morphine treatment and then tested at several time point across the study (before, during and after morphine treatment) as indicated in fig 6.2.

6.2.6. EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Rats were first handled and habituated to the pain behaviour and NOR apparatus, then baseline NOR measures were collected, watermaze DMP pretraining was conducted and pain behaviour and sensorimotor activity baseline measurements were collected (Fig.6.2).

The MIA model was then induced in all rats. Before the start of morphine treatment, pain behaviour measures were collected on days 7, 14 and 28 and the sensorimotor activity measures on days 8, 15 and 29. Also before the start of morphine treatment, 2 extra days of watermaze testing, including a probe day, was conducted to re-baseline. Morphine treatment started on day 30 after MIA injection, to ensure that complete development of OA phenotype. Animals were either treated for 10 days with morphine (sc., 3mg/kg x 2 per day x 10 days, n=6) or saline (sc. x 2 per day x 10 days, n=6). During the treatment, pain behaviour was assessed using the Von-Frey test (days 1, 3 and 8 of treatment) or weight bearing (days 2 and 4 of treatment); measures were taken 1h before and 1h after the morning injections. Also during treatment, locomotor activity was measured on day 5, 1h after the morning injection. Watermaze DMP performance was assessed on days 6, 7, 9 and 10 – days 7 and 10 were probe days.

On day 50 after MIA injection, rats were anaesthetized with a lethal dose of sodium pentobarbitone and transcardially perfused with 0.9% saline followed by 4% paraformaldehyde. Brains, spinal cords, DRGs and knees were carefully excised, preserved and stored. Knee joint sections were stained with haematoxylin and eosin- or safranin-O/fast green and then scored for overall joint morphology and proteoglycan loss. Total cartilage joint damage, osteophyte, proteoglycan loss, synovial inflammation and chondrocyte presence were scored to evaluate the severity of the knee joint pathology as described in 2.7.



FIGURE 6.2. – **TIME COURSE OF OPIOID TREATMENT EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT ON PAIN BEHAVIOUR AND MEMORY STUDY.** 12 adult male LH rats were injected with MIA (3mg). At day 30 post model induction animals were either treated with morphine (3mg/kg x 2 per day, n=6) or saline (x 2 per day, n=6) for 10 days (dark blue rectangle). Yellow rectangles – novel object recognition test. Grey rectangle – watermaze delayed matching-to-place task, * indicates probe days. Light blue rectangleweight bearing (W) and Von-Frey (V) test. Green rectangles - locomotor activity and startle prepulse inhibition. During morphine treatment days, pain behaviour measures were collected 1h before and 1 h after the morning injection, locomotor activity and watermaze measure were collected 1h after morning injection.

6.2.7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

GraphPad Prism 8 and IBM SPSS Statistics 24 were used to prepare the graphs and perform the statistical analysis, respectively.

Results from the pain behaviour studies were analysed using an ANOVA, with group as between-subjects factor, and testing day as repeated measures/within-subjects variable. Results from the sensorimotor behaviour studies were analysed using ANOVA, with time points and task blocks (or pulse intensity in the PPI test) as within-subjects factors and treatment group as between-subjects factor. Unpaired t-tests were used to compare activity between groups on the treatment days to evaluate acute morphine effect. Watermaze DMP results were analysed using ANOVA with testing time points and trials as within-subjects factors and group as between-groups factor. Bonferroni multiple comparison was used as *post-hoc* testing.

Knee pathology was analysed with unpaired t-tests or with Mann-Whitney test when normality was violated. NOR results were analysed using ANOVA, with testing day and object (novel vs familiar) as within-subjects factors and group as between-subjects factor. P<0.05 was considered to represent a significant difference and all results were expressed as mean±standard error (SEM). Normality was tested using D'Agostino-Pearson test. Baseline measures were not included in the ANOVAs, but were analysed separately, using unpaired ttests to ensure that there were no significant difference between groups at this stage.

6.3.1. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT ON PAIN BEHAVIOR AND LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY IN LISTER HOODED RATS

Body weight of LH rats tended to gradually diverge during the first days of morphine treatment and converge again after the treatment (time x group: $F_{(13,104)}=9.16$, p<0.0001), post hoc analysis showed significant differences between control saline and morphine rats only on day 9 (p=0.016) (Fig.6.3). Visual inspection indicated hyperactivity, licking of cage walls and digging behaviour in rats, starting within about 10 min of the morphine injection and lasting for about 1 to 1.5h.



FIGURE 6.3. – **BODY WEIGHT OF LISTER HOODED RATS DURING SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT AND DURING WITHDRAWAL.** LH rats were treated subcutaneously with morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, \bullet ; n=5) or saline (*; n=5) for 7 days. Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing

LH rats treated with morphine for 7 days developed morphine-induced hyperalgesia, which was evident in the daily tests 1 h before the first daily morphine injection and during the tests after cessation of the morphine treatment, i.e. during withdrawal (Fig.6.4A). PWTs were lowered from day 2 until the end of the study in both morphine and saline treated rats, reflecting habituation to the test itself (time: $F_{(6,48)}$ =18.96, p<0.0001). Morphine group had numerically lower PWT values from day 4 of treatment until day 7 and during treatment withdrawal, post-hoc analysis showed difference between saline and morphine group on day 12 (p=0.018), supporting development of morphine-induced hyperalgesia. Although inspection of the data indicates that morphine-treated rats did not show reduced PWTs compared to saline-injected rats before day 3 of treatment, there was only a significant main effect of treatment group (group: $F_{(1,8)}$ =7.93, p=0.02), but no group x day interaction ($F_{(6,48)}$ <1).

In the tests following 1 h after morphine treatment, acute antinociceptive effects were apparent, but tolerance to the drug's antinociceptive effects developed within the 7 days of treatment (Fig.6.4B). Acute morphine injection increased PWTs, but this effect decreased across days and was not evident by the 6th day of morphine injection, reflecting a tolerance to the antinociceptive effect of morphine. In support of this finding, a 2-way ANOVA using group as between subjects factor and day of morphine treatment as repeated measures factor showed an interaction of group x time: $F_{(5,40)}=2.42$, p=0.05 (alongside a significant main effect of time, $F_{(5,40)}=7.68$, p<0.0001 and a trend towards a main effect of group ($F_{(1,8)}=3.82$, p=0.09).



FIGURE 6.4. – **PAW WITHDRAWAL THRESHOLD PRE-INJECTION AND WITHDRAWAL FROM MORPHINE (A) AND POST-INJECTION (B) OF MORPHINE/SALINE.** LH rats were treated subcutaneously with morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, •; n=5) or saline (=; n=5•) for 7 days. Measurements were collected 1h prior (A) and 1h after (B) each morning injection. Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing

Morphine treatment only affected acutely the horizontal activity (Fig.6.5). Main effect of group (group: $F_{(1,8)}=10.02$, p=0.01) and time (time: $F_{(2,16)}=4.05$, p=0.04) were observed in the horizontal activity. No interaction involving group was observed (time x group: $F_{(2,16)}=1.44$, p=0.27). Post-hoc analysis show that on day 5 of the morphine treatment (1h after morphine injection), rats showed acute horizontal locomotor hyperactivity compared to saline treated rats (p=0.03). Vertical activity did not differ between groups (group: $F_{(1,8)}=1.79$, p=0.22) no time and interaction effect were observed (time: $F_{(1.6; 12.5)}=2.01$, p=0.17; time x group: $F_{(1,8)}=1.79$, p=0.22).



FIGURE 6.5. – HORIZONTAL (A) AND VERTICAL (B) LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY DURING THE FIRST 10-MIN BINS. Locomotor activity was assessed at baseline, 1h after morphine/saline injection on day 5 and the on day 10 and 12 after treatment commenced. LH rats were treated subcutaneously with either morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, •; n=5) or saline (*; n=5) for 7 days. Dashed rectangles indicate day when locomotor activity was assessed 1h after injection. Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing

6.3.2. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT IN MIA-INJECTED LH RATS

6.3.2.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR

MIA injection caused weight-bearing asymmetry in LH rats, as in the previous studies (chapter 3, 4 and 5): rats placed less weight on the injured limb after MIA injection reflected by an increase in the asymmetry after baseline (time: $F_{(2.6,25.8)}=20.62$; p<0.0001). No main effect of group or interaction involving group was observed in the prospective groups (F<1) (Fig.6.6A). Morphine treatment had acute analgesic actions, i.e. antagonised the weigh bearing asymmetry, on day 34 (day 4 of treatment), but not day 31 (day 2 of treatment) (Fig. 6.6B). 2X2 ANOVA of weight bearing data on day 31 and 34 revealed a significant interaction treatment by day (group: $F_{(1,10)}=15.95$, p=0.003), as simple main effects analysis revealed weight bearing asymmetry was reduced in morphine treated compared to saline treated rats on day 34 (p<0.02), but not day 31. There was no evidence of morphine-induced hyperalgesia, weight bearing asymmetry did not differ between morphine and saline groups before morning injections on days 31 and 34 (no main effect or interaction involving group, F<1) or during treatment withdrawal on day 40 (t=0.38,df=10,p=0.71).



FIGURE 6.6. – WEIGHT BEARING ASYMMETRY AFTER MIA MODEL INDUCTION IN LH RATS (A) AND THE EFFECTS OF MORPHINE TREATMENT IN THIS PAIN BEHAVIOUR (B). (A) Weight bearing asymmetry was assessed at baseline and after MIA model induction in LH rats (3mg, n=12) at day 7, 14 and 28. (B) Rats were then treated subcutaneously with either morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, \bullet ; n=6) or saline (\bullet ; n=6) for 10 days from day 30 post-MIA. Weight bearing was assessed 1h prior and 1 h after the morning injection. Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing

Slight reductions of PWTs were observed in ipsilateral paw (time: $F_{(2.14,21.48)}$ =16.86, p<0.0001) in the prospective treatment groups after MIA injection, reductions were also observed in the contralateral side (time: $F_{(2.35,23.57)}$ =4.62, p=0.02), which may reflect sensitization (Fig. 6A and B, left panels). No differences were found between prospective groups prior to the treatment in both contra (time x group: $F_{(2,20)}$ <1) and ipsilateral paw (time x group: $F_{(2,20)}$ =2.07; p=0.15). Also, in both contra and ipsilateral paw no main effect of group and interaction involving group were observed (F<1).

Acute injection of morphine induced a pronounced analgesic effect across day 30, 32 and 37 (day 1, 3 and 8 of treatment), increasing PWTs compared with saline control injection in both ipsilateral ($F_{(1,10)}$ =66.21; p<0.001) and contralateral paws ($F_{(1,10)}$ =23.27; p=0.0007) (Fig. 6.6A and B, right). The analgesic effect was numerically, but no statically significant, attenuated across treatment days reflecting tolerance to the drug, although the interaction of day X group did not attain significance (ipsilateral: $F_{(2,20)}$ =1.55, p=0.24; contralateral: $F_{(2,20)}$ <1) and no main effect of day was observed. Additionally, no evidence of morphine-induced hyperalgesia was found for either hindpaws (time x group: $F_{(3,30)}$ <1). PWTs measured prior to morning injection (on days 30, 32 and 37) and after the treatment was ended (on day 40) reduced across days in both ipsilateral ($F_{(3,30)}$ =22.19; p<0.0001) and contralateral paws ($F_{(3,30)}$ =10.39; p=0.007), but this reduction was similar between morphine and saline treated rats (time x group: F<1).



FIGURE 6.7. – **PAW WITHDRAWAL THRESHOLD OF IPSILATERAL (A) AND CONTRALATERAL (B) PAWS AND THE EFFECTS OF MORPHINE TREATMENT.** (A) PWTs were assessed at baseline and after MIA model induction in LH rats (3mg, n=12) at day 7, 14 and 28. (B) Rats were treated subcutaneously with morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, •; n=6) or saline (•; n=6) for 10 days from day 30 after MIA injection. PWTs were measured 1h prior and 1 h after the morning injection. Data are presented as mean±SEM. * p<0.05, ** p<0.001, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing.

6.3.2.2. SENSORIMOTOR FUNCTIONS

As observed in the naïve LH rats in the pilot study, acute morphine injection numerically increased the horizontal locomotor activity of the MIA LH rats on day 34 (day 5 of treatment) (Fig.6.8A), although this was not significant (t=1.63, df=10, p=0.13). Interestingly, and contrasting with the findings in the naïve rats in the pilot study, morphine acutely reduced vertical locomotor activity (t=3.90, df=10, p=0.003) (Fig.6.8B).

Acute morphine injection did not affect the startle response or prepulse inhibition (Fig.6.9). Following morphine injection on day 35 (day 5 of morphine treatment), no differences were observed between morphine-treated MIA rats and saline-treated MIA rats in both the startle response (group: $F_{(1,10)}<1$) (Fig.6.9A) and prepulse inhibition (group: $F_{(1,10)}<1$) (Fig.6.9B). Animals from both groups showed habituation to startle amplitude (time: $F_{(2,20)}=41.28$, p<0.0001), and no pulse-alone trials x group interaction ($F_{(2,20)}<1$) were observed. Also, animals from both treatment groups showed similar increase of % prepulse inhibition with the increase of pulse intensity (time: $F_{(3,30)}=74.53$, p<0.0001), and there was

no pulse x group interaction ($F_{(3,30)}$ <1). Before the start of morphine treatment, during testing between days 8 and 34, the prospective treatment groups did not differ in their startle response or prepulse inhibition (data not shown).



FIGURE 6.8. – HORIZONTAL (A) AND VERTICAL (B) LOCOMOTOR ACTIVITY OF MIA-INDUCED LH RATS ON THE FIRST 10-MIN BINS. LH rats were treated subcutaneously with either morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, •; n=6) or saline (•; n=6) for 10 days from day 30 post-MIA. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. ** p<0.001, 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni multiple comparisons *post-hoc* testing.



FIGURE 6.9. – **STARTLE RESPONSE (A) AND PREPULSE INHIBITION (B) OF MIA-INDUCED LH RATS ON DAY 34 AFTER MIA INJECTION – DAY 5 OF THE MORPHINE/SALINE SUSTAINED TREATMENT.** LH rats were treated subcutaneously with either morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, •; n=6) or saline (•; n=6) for 10 days from day 30 after MIA injection. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

6.3.2.3. HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY

6.3.2.3.1. PATH LENGTHS

At pretraining, all rats were able to learn the watermaze DMP task, no differences were observed between the prospective groups in the path length (effect of interaction involving prospective treatment group: all F<1) (data not showed). MIA model induction, as previously observed in chapter 4, did not affect performance of rats, path lengths did not differ from baseline to re-baseline on days 26 and 27 (before the sustained treatment) (day x group x trial: $F_{(21,168)}$ =1.39, p=0.13) (data not showed).

Acute morphine treatment of MIA rats did not affect hippocampus-dependent memory compared with saline controls. Morphine did not affect path length of MIA LH rats across treatment days (days 35, 36, 37 and 38) and morphine withdrawal (days 41 to 44) (Fig.6.10). 3-way ANOVA showed no main effect of group or interactions involving group (F<1.32, p>0.13).

6.3.2.3.2. SEARCH PREFERENCE DURING PROBE TRIALS

During the probe trials, no evidence of impaired hippocampus-dependent memory was observed following acute morphine treatment or during withdrawal (Fig.6.11). At all time points, following acute morphine injections (day 36 and day 39) or during withdrawal from that sustained treatment (day 42 and 44), morphine treated MIA rats spent a similar percentage of time exploring the target zone (Fig.6.11A; $F_{(1,10)}$ =1.33; p=0.25) and the previous day's zone (Fig.6.11B; $F_{(1,10)}$ <1), compared with control rats. Also, no differences were observed between groups in the total time spent exploring the eight zones (Fig.6.11C; $F_{(1,10)}$ =0.003; p=0.96). Swim speed was not affected by morphine treatment compared with saline controls (Fig.6.11D; $F_{(1,10)}$ =0.31; p=0.59). Apart from swim speed, a main effect of time was observed on all parameters analysed ($F_{(3,39)}$ >3.98; p<0.001) and no group x time interaction was found ($F_{(3,29)}$ <0.84; p>0.27).







FIGURE 6.11. – PLACE MEMORY IN MIA-INJECTED LH RATS SUSTAINED TREATMENT WITH MORPHINE. LH rats were treated subcutaneously with either morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, •; n=6) or saline (•; n=6) for 10 days from day 30 after MIA injection. Rats were tested on probe trials during the second trial when the escape platform was unavailable in order to evaluate the search preference at baseline, rebaseline and following morphine injection during the drug treatment period (day 36 and 39) and during drug withdrawal after the end of the sustained morphine treatment (day 42 and 44). Total time exploring the target zone (A), the previous day's zone (B), the total eight zone (C) and swim speed in the last time points (D) were analysed. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

6.3.2.4. RECOGNITION MEMORY

There was some evidence for an impaired recognition memory after MIA model induction and treatment, but this deficit was not associated with the sustained morphine treatment (Fig.6.12). Rats in both prospective treatment groups were able to recognise the novel object at baseline ($F_{(1,10)}$ =20.29; p=0.001), with no differences between prospective groups (object x group: $F_{(1,10)}$ =1.16; p=0.31). 49 days after MIA or saline injection into the knee (10 days after last day of morphine treatment), both groups of rats showed numerically more exploration of the novel object compared to the familiar object, but this preference was not significant ($F_{(1,10)}$ =1.27; p=0.29). There was no main effect of group or group x object interaction ($F_{(1,10)}$ <1), indicating that this impairment was not associated with the morphine treatment. The discrimination ratio was not different between groups at baseline and day 49 (F<1.20; p>0.30).



FIGURE 6.12. – **EXPLORATION TIMES OF THE FAMILIAR AND NOVEL OBJECTS (A) DURING THE OBJECT RECOGNITION TEST AND DISCRIMINATION INDEX (B) OF MIA-INDUCED LH RATS AFTER A SUSTAINED TREATMENT WITH MORPHINE/SALINE.** LH rats were treated subcutaneously with either morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, red; n=6) or saline (black; n=6) for 10 days from day 30 after MIA injection. Results presented correspond to the testing phase of the novel objected recognition test conducted during the treatment withdrawal. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

6.3.2.5. KNEE PATHOLOGY

Knees were collected at the end of the study and processed for pathology and then scored as described in section 2.7. Joints were scored for cartilage integrity (cartilage damage x involvement), synovial inflammation and osteophytes formation on three different levels of both lateral and medial tibial plateau (Fig.6.12). Results are shown as mean between medial and tibial plateau values, as no differences were observed between medial and lateral tibial parts.

Similar to the results obtained in the previous chapters, MIA model induction was associated with loss of cartilage integrity and synovial inflammation. In this study, MIA-injected rats were either treated for 10 consecutive days with either morphine or saline. MIA morphine treated rats and controls showed similar degrees of cartilage damage (t=<1, df=10) (Fig.6.12A) and synovial inflammation (t=1.80, df=10, p=0.10) (Fig.6.12B), however morphine treated rats showed a trend for higher degree of synovitis compared with MIA saline treated rats. A similar degree of osteophytes were observed between morphine and control groups (U=17.50, p>0.99) (Fig.6.12C).



FIGURE 6.12. – **MICROSCOPIC QUANTIFICATION OF HISTOLOGICAL CHANGES OF TIBIAL PLATEAU IN MIA-INDUCED LH RATS AFTER A SUSTAINED TREATED WITH MORPHINE/SALINE.** Average scores for medial and lateral tibial plateau. Rats were injected with 50ul of 3mg of MIA in the left knee. Rats were treated subcutaneously with either morphine (3mg/kg, twice a day, •; n=6) or saline (•; n=6) for 10 days from day 30 after MIA injection. Knees were collected and processed for scoring at day 50 after model induction. Cartilage damage (A), synovial inflammation (B) and osteophytes (C) were scored. Data are presented as mean±SEM.

6.4. DISCUSSION

Morphine treatment induced antinociceptive effects in LH rats, followed by tolerance and development of morphine-induced hyperalgesia. Following induction of the model of OA pain (MIA) in LH rats, morphine had analgesic effects with no evidence of morphine-induced hyperalgesia. In both naïve and MIA LH rats, morphine acutely promoted hyperactivity. There was no evidence that the sustained morphine treatment induced any impairment in hippocampal or recognition memory in MIA-injected rats. However, in this study, MIA-injected LH rats did not show significant object recognition memory 49 days after model induction.

6.4.1. PAIN BEHAVIOUR, SENSORIMOTOR ACTIVITY AND KNEE PATHOLOGY

In this study, effects of sustained morphine treatment on pain behaviour of LH rats were first investigated. As expected, morphine acutely induced antinociception, reflected by the increase in PWTs. This effect decreased within days of treatment, and by the end of treatment, this effect was not evident. These results indicate that the LH rats developed tolerance to the antinociceptive effects of morphine. These results are in accordance with previous findings in Sprague Dawley rats treated subcutaneously with 10mg/kg twice daily for 7 days (Ferrini et al., 2013).

Morphine also induced analgesic effects in MIA LH rats, weight bearing asymmetry was reduced and PWT increased. Regarding the weight bearing, on the second day of treatment no significant analgesic effect was observed, contrasting with day 4 when analgesia was present. However, the analgesic effect observed in the mechanical withdrawal peaked on the first day of treatment, decreasing on days 3 and 8 of treatment.

The development of morphine hyperalgesia was evaluated by assessing pain behaviour 1h before the morning injection of morphine and during treatment withdrawal. No evidence of morphine-induced hyperalgesia was observed in the LH MIA rats. There was no difference in the weight bearing and PWTs data collected before the morning injection of morphine and during withdrawal between the morphine-treated rats and saline controls. An important consideration is that the measurement of PWT may be subject to a ceiling effect which may mask any further change, i.e. PWT values were already very low, so were difficult to reduce further and detect changes.

Locomotor activity was assessed half way through the sustained treatment in both naïve LH and MIA-injected LH rats. In both studies, acute morphine increased horizontal locomotor activity. Previous studies in rats have also reported that morphine at low doses, similar to the one used in the present study (3 mg/kg), can promote increased locomotor activity, although higher doses of morphine (such as 40mg/kg) can cause sedation and substantially reduce locomotor activity (Babbini and Davis, 1972; Zhang and Kong, 2017). Our results are in accordance with the locomotor hyperactivity previously observed using 3mg/kg morphine in mice (Murphy et al., 2008). With regards to rearing, morphine treatment did not affect rearing in the naïve LH rats in the pilot study, however MIA LH rats treated with morphine showed decreased rearing compared with MIA LH rats treated with saline. It should be noted that an analgesic effect of morphine would be expected to cause the opposite effect – i.e., increase rearing, as rats are able to put more weight on their hind legs. It is possible that the reduced rearing reflects that morphine-injected rats spend less time rearing because they showed other hyperactive behaviours caused by the morphine injection, but this does not explain why we found a reduction in morphine-induced rearing in MIA-injected, but not naïve, rats.

Startle response and PPI were not affected by morphine treatment showing no impairments in sensorimotor gating. Acute morphine administration in healthy humans has previously been reported to increase PPI without altering startle habituation (Quednow et al., 2008). In rats, impaired startle was reported during morphine withdrawal (Harris and Gewirtz, 2004; Rothwell et al., 2009); unfortunately, in this study we did not assess startle habituation and PPI during this period.

6.4.2. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT ON HIPPOCAMPUS-DEPENDENT MEMORY

To evaluate if the sustained treatment of MIA with morphine caused impairments in hippocampal memory, MIA LH rats were tested in the watermaze DMP task during and after morphine treatment. In chapter 4, we showed that OA chronic pain did not affect hippocampus-dependent memory in LH rats. So, in this chapter all animals were injected with MIA, and then on day 30 post-MIA half of them were either treated with morphine or saline as control, to examine if morphine may induce memory impairments in MIA-injected rats. No changes in DMP performance were observed during and after morphine treatment. On standard days of DMP task, the latency to reach and path length to the platform were not altered by the morphine treatment at any time point. Rats from both groups decreased time across daily trials, showing normal evidence of rapid place learning as expected on this task.

Search preference on probe trials of the DMP task has been suggested to be a more sensitive measure of hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning than latencies or path lengths (Bast et al., 2009; da Silva et al., 2013). The search preference during probe trials was also not affected by morphine treatment. Morphine did not alter the percentage of time exploring the target zone, the previous day's zone and time exploring the total eight zones of the pool. Morphine also did not affect swim speed of MIA rats.

Previous studies of the impact of morphine on place learning and memory in watermaze tasks have produced somewhat inconsistent findings. Hippocampal LTP was shown to be reduced in Sprague Dawley rats chronically treated with morphine (10 mg/kg) twice daily for 10 days (Pu et al., 2002). The same animals were then re-exposed to morphine after the 10 days treatment and tested in the Morris watermaze task, animals who showed previous severe reduction in hippocampal LTP exhibited worse performances compared with controls. Sprague Dawley rats chronically administered morphine for 28 days (17.5 mg/kg/day by osmotic mini pumps) showed impaired performance during the probe trial when tested in the Morris water maze during treatment (Brolin et al., 2018). Wistar rats chronically treated with morphine (10mg/kg, s.c.) twice per day for 12 days have also been tested in the Morris water maze task 1h after morning injection and 5 weeks after withdrawal. Chronic morphine treated rats spent less time exploring the target area compared with control, but no impairments were observed during task acquisition phase (Wang et al., 2006). This previous study also tested the animals in an operant conditioning task and showed impaired operant learning, which was alleviated 5 weeks after treatment withdrawal. Altogether these studies suggest that sustained morphine treatment might impair operant learning, but not hippocampal place learning and memory. These results hint at the possibility that higher doses of opioids and/or a longer time of treatment may be necessary for morphine induced changes in hippocampal memory impairments. Therefore, it is possible that if the morphine treatment had lasted longer in our study LH animals would present impairments in the watermaze DMP task. Additionally, testing for learning impairments might also be important to establish possible effects of prolonged exposure to opioids.

To date few studies have investigated effects of chronic opioid treatments on memory of patients with chronic pain. In both humans and animal models the results are somewhat inconsistent. However, it is really important to notice that in human studies, in some cases it is impossible for ethical reasons to have the appropriate control groups and in animal models the administration routes, strains and drug doses are not always consistent.

Clinical studies have showed that patients with non-malignant pain (Sjøgren et al., 2000) and chronic low back pain (Schiltenwolf et al., 2014) under long-term opioid treatment (at least 3 months) showed worse spatial working memory compared with non-opioid patients. However, in another study, non-cancer pain patients under long-term opioid treatment (12months) did not show cognitive dysfunction (Tassain et al., 2003).

6.4.3. EFFECTS OF SUSTAINED MORPHINE TREATMENT OF MIA LH RATS IN RECOGNITION MEMORY

Regarding recognition memory, no differences were observed regarding recognition memory between morphine- and saline-treated rats with MIA-induced knee pain. However, when tested on day 49 after MIA injection, there was no evidence for significant object recognition memory compared to the saline controls. This may indicate that MIA itself can induce recognition memory deficits. However, this was not apparent in the data presented in chapter 5. However, in chapter 5 NOR memory was assessed on day 32 post-MIA, whereas in the present study NOR memory was assessed on day 49 post-MIA. These results suggest recognition deficits may develop at later stages in the MIA model. Further studies including appropriate control groups should be conducted to investigate this question further. Furthermore it would be interesting to assess cognition at later stages of the MIA model.

NOR measures were not collected immediately after morphine injection, as we focused on the assessment of hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning performance; we only tested recognition memory during treatment withdrawal. Impaired recognition memory was previously shown in mice during morphine withdrawal, exposure to different morphine doses was associated with impairments in Y-maze recognition task (Ma et al., 2007). Our results did not speak to whether or not morphine withdrawal impairs NOR memory, because our control rats (saline-injected MIA rats) did not show NOR when tested during morphine withdrawal. Although it may be interesting to explore these questions further, it is worth noting that chronic low back pain patients with ongoing long-term opioid treatment did not show impairments in pattern recognition memory, compared with non-opioid patients (Schiltenwolf et al., 2014).

6.5. CONCLUSIONS

Some studies have associated chronic pain with memory impairments or changes in the hippocampal morphology (Moriarty et al., 2011). However, in chapter 4 we showed that hippocampus-dependent memory was not affected in MIA LH rats and in chapter 5 that recognition memory was not affected as well. Other factors associated with chronic pain in humans may account for why human chronic pain conditions show memory impairments, such as the effects of treatment. In this chapter, we evaluated the possible impacts of morphine treatment in both hippocampal and recognition memory.

Hippocampal plasticity is believed to be altered after exposure to opioids (Valentino and Volkow, 2018). In fact, hippocampal LTP was showed to be severely reduced after chronic morphine treatment in Sprague Dawley rats (Pu et al., 2002). However, the work in this chapter presents no evidence that the sustained treatment of morphine in MIA LH rats impaired the hippocampus-dependent memory. In sum, our results indicate that a sustained morphine treatment of MIA LH rats was able to produce analgesia; however, this effect was rapidly lost due to the development of morphine tolerance. Furthermore, the sustained morphine treatment did not induce OIH or any impairment in hippocampal rapid place learning performance on the DMP task for the time period tested in this study. Interestingly, results in this chapter do suggest that memory impairments in the MIA rat model may emerge at later stages than tested herein and therefore future research should be conducted addressing this hypothesis.

CHAPTER 7

GENERAL DISCUSSION

This thesis investigated if and how chronic OA-like knee pain in the MIA rat model affects cognitive function, more specifically hippocampal one-trial place memory, recognition memory and behavioural flexibility. Additionally, we examined the impact of sustained opioid treatment on pain behaviour and memory function in the MIA rat model.

7.1. KNEE PATHOLOGY, WEIGHT BEARING ASYMMETRY AND REDUCED REARING IN MIA-INJECTED LISTER HOODED RATS

First, we transferred the MIA model to young adult Lister Hooded (LH) rats. The MIA model is a well-established model of OA pain in our and other labs. As discussed in chapter 3, The MIA model has been widely used in albino rat strains, including Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats, and in mice to mimic the development of OA and associated pain responses. Unfortunately, albino rats show comparatively poorer performances in translational tests of clinically relevant cognitive function compared with pigmented strains, such as LH rats. MIA-induced pain phenotype and join pathology, are dose and time dependent.

As described in table I in chapter 3, in young albino rats, injection of 1 mg/50 µl MIA into the knee induces pain behaviours, such as weight bearing asymmetry and mechanical allodynia, and OA-like knee damage, reflected by chondrocyte death, loss of cartilage integrity, osteophytes and synovitis. Therefore, no problems were anticipated with transferring the MIA model to LH rats. However, there were limited pain phenotype with the standard 1mg dose of MIA in LH rats or age matched SD rats. A point that should be considered is the environmental differences between the studies conducted in this thesis and the previous studies conducted in our lab using the MIA model. In the previous studies conventional cages have been used, however due to the bigger size and increased inquisitive behaviour of the LH rats, double decker ICV cages were used in this thesis. Some studies have been suggested that environmental enrichment (EE) can improve pain behaviour which may explain the attenuated pain phenotype observed compared with previous studies conducted using conventional cages. In fact, mechanical allodynia after spared nerve injury in SD rats was shown to be alleviated in animals placed in EE cages after surgery compared with animals in standard cages (Parent-Vachon and Vachon, 2018). Similarly, EE has been shown to have a positive impact in SD rats after carrageenan-induced inflammatory model, mechanical allodynia was attenuated in animals housed in EE prior and after model induction and in animals housed in EE cages only prior to model induction (Gabriel et al., 2010). However, limited knee pathology was also observed by the dose of 1 mg. The limited pain and joint pathology phenotypes likely reflect the difference in age and size of LH rats required for the cognitive tests.

Increasing the dose to 3mg MIA in the young adult LH rats overcame this limitation and it was therefore deemed that this dose of MIA was suitable for the studies involving LH rats in this thesis. This dose produced consistent pain behaviour and knee pathology in young adult LH rats across all studies in this thesis, including robust weight bearing asymmetry and knee pathology with a loss of cartilage integrity, synovitis and occasional osteophyte formation.

Following induction of the MIA model, rats also exhibited decreased rearing activity across all studies. Reduced locomotor activity has previously been suggested as an automated test to measure non-stimulus evoked pain (Deuis et al., 2017). An advantage of this technique is that animals are unrestrained and measures are collected in a completely objective way. The reduction of rearing may indicate movement-provoked pain behaviour, in fact reduced frequency of rearing in MIA-injected Sprague Dawley rats has been reported previously (Nagase et al., 2012). No consistent MIA-induced changes were observed in horizontal locomotor activity or in the other sensorimotor processes examined in this thesis, the acoustic startle response and its PPI.

7.2. NO EVIDENCE FOR COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS IN MIA-INJECTED LISTER HOODED RATS

To investigate the impact of chronic OA knee pain on hippocampus-dependent rapid place learning performance, MIA-injected LH rats were tested on the watermaze DMP task (see chapter 4). Previously, changes in the hippocampus have been associated with chronic pain in both rodents (Duric and McCarson, 2005) and humans (Zimmerman et al., 2009), and clinical observations also indicate that chronic pain is associated with memory impairments (Berryman et al., 2013). However, the impact of chronic OA-related pain is poorly understood. In this thesis, no evidence of impaired hippocampal memory was found after MIA model induction. Rats' performance on the DMP task, as reflected by path length reductions and search preference for the correct location on probe trials, was not affected by MIA model induction. Interestingly, there was evidence for reduced swim speed in MIA-injected compared to control rats at later test stages. Our findings of intact hippocampus-dependent memory in MIA-inject rats are consistent with the finding that hippocampal volume was found to be intact in patients with OA, whereas patients with other chronic pain conditions, including chronic back pain and complex regional pain syndrome, showed reduced hippocampal volume (Mutso et al., 2012).

MIA-injected LH rats were also tested on the novel object recognition test (NOR) to evaluate the impact of OA-chronic knee pain on recognition memory (chapter 5). MIA injected rats did not show impairments in NOR memory compared with saline controls. Our findings contrast with previous preclinical studies using different models, impaired recognition memory was reported in MIA-induced mice (Negrete et al., 2017), and associating chronic pain with recognition memory deficits (Moriarty et al., 2016a; You et al., 2018). However, our findings of intact recognition memory in MIA-injected rats with OA-like knee pain are in accordance with some clinical studies conducted in chronic back pain and fibromyalgia patients, indicating a limited impact of chronic pain on patients' recognition memory in some conditions (Lee et al., 2010; Schiltenwolf et al., 2017).

We also investigated the impact of OA-like knee pain on behavioural flexibility, using an automated operant assay of set-shifting and reversal learning in MIA-injected LH rats (chapter 5). Behavioural flexibility was not affected in young adult LH rats after MIA injection. There is limited evidence concerning behavioural flexibility in chronic pain patients. However, a previous study, based on findings on the spatial reversal task in the watermaze, suggested impaired behavioural flexibility in neuropathic rodent models (Leite-Almeida et al., 2009). On an operant task, neuropathic rodents also adapted more slowly to new and optimal choices (Cowen et al., 2018). Moreover, on a task involving behavioural flexibility (the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test - WCST), chronic pain patients tend to stay longer on the previous rule than healthy controls (Verdejo-Garcia et al., 2009; Indart et al., 2017). A clinical study in older adults suggested that pain severity measured by questionnaire may be associated with impaired mental flexibility measured with the Trail Making Test, interestingly cognitive impairments seemed to correlate with pain severity (Karp et al., 2006). In fact, age-related impairments in behavioural flexibility have been reported in both rodent (Leite-Almeida et al., 2009) and human studies (Weiner et al., 2006). Ageing may affect pain and its impact on

cognition. Therefore, the very restricted age range in most rodent studies of chronic pain, including in the present study, may limit the translational validity of these studies. Increasing the age range may increase the clinical relevance of the findings. It is also important to consider that ageing is a key factor contributing to cognitive decline (Deary et al., 2009) and is also associated with osteoarthritis (Vos et al., 2016). Therefore, aging may interact with chronic pain to impair cognitive functions in patients with OA.

7.3. IMPACT OF MORPHINE TREATMENT IN IN MIA-INJECTED LISTER HOODED RATS

Other factors associated with chronic pain in humans may also account for why chronic pain patients show cognitive impairments, such as medication. Drugs used to treat chronic pain, such as opioids, can also be associated with cognitive decline. In this thesis, we investigated the effects of sustained morphine treatment and withdrawal from such treatment on hippocampal rapid place learning performance and recognition memory in MIA model of OA-like knee pain in LH rats. No changes in the watermaze DMP task were observed during and after morphine treatment. In addition, no differences were observed in recognition memory between morphine- and saline-treated rats with MIA-induced knee pain. Interestingly, when tested on day 49 after MIA injection, there was no evidence for significant object recognition memory in the MIA-injected rats. As discussed in Chapter 6, these results may indicate that MIA itself can induce recognition memory deficits at later stages in the MIA model. However, further studies including appropriate control groups should be conducted to investigate this question.

7.4. LIMITATION OF THE MIA MODEL IN LISTER HOODED RATS

Although OA rodent models, including the MIA model, show knee pathology and pain behaviour comparable to human OA, it is important bear in mind that rodent models develop rapidly compared to human OA, and, therefore, the pain mechanisms might differ from human OA development (see chapter 3). Nevertheless, preclinical studies in rodent models play a crucial role in improving our understanding in several aspects of a disease. In this specific thesis, the use of a rat model allowed us to evaluate the impact of chronic knee OA pain on objective measures of cognitive function, independently of confounding factors, such as age, comorbidities and pain medication. Importantly, pain behaviour tests can be subjective. To minimise possible bias, data collection and analysis were conducted blind to the treatment. The weight bearing test is well-suited to measure spontaneous nociception in unilateral models as the MIA model. However, the test requires that the animals freely adopt and then maintain for a few seconds the appropriate position for the measures to be taken, which can be challenging in inquisitive strains as LH rats. In fact, in chapter 4, one rat could not be tested in the weight bearing test because he did not settle into the right position. Measures in both weight bearing and von-Frey test can be very variable between rats. Also, it is important to note that the von-Frey test requires some repeated stimulation, which can lead to sensitization (Deuis et al., 2017).

An important point that should be considered is that there was very limited evidence of central sensitization in our MIA-injected LH rats. More specifically, there was limited evidence for mechanical allodynia, as indicated by reduced PWTs, which is considered an indication of central sensitisation (Merksey and Bogduk, 1994). Previous studies mentioned across this thesis that showed cognitive impairments in rodent models of chronic pain usually reported central sensitisation by showing reduced paw withdrawal threshold, and this is likely an important factor to impact the forebrain. Previous studies in the MIA model in SD rats also showed central sensitisation, as reflected by reduced paw withdrawal thresholds (see chapter 3). In contrast, MIA-injected LH rats used across this thesis did not show mechanical allodynia changes, which may indicate that their central nervous system may not be impacted, and this may explain that we did not find impairments in cognitive function. However, it is also important to bear in mind that Von-Frey test may not be sensitive to the model of OA pain in LH rats. Complementary analysis of microglia and astrocyte activation in the spinal cord of these animals might be conducted to analyse these markers of central sensitization (Sagar et al., 2014).

Although the LH rats are a challenging strain to work with in pain research, these inquisitive rats have been widely used to investigate cognitive functions, whereas albino rat strains are of limited use for cognitive tests (see chapter 3 and 4). In fact, in a recent study using nerve-injured LH rats authors reported the exclusion of one cohort of animals due to failure to collect von-Frey data (Phelps et al., 2021). In this study, animals were tested in a battery of cognitive tasks (bowl digging: reward learning and affective bias assays; sucrose preference and operant chamber: successive negative contrast task) and in the Von-Frey test (up-down method) after partial saphenous nerve injury surgery, but one cohort of animals failed to show reduced activity in the von-Frey cages to allow measurements to be collected.

7.5. SOME FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Some others points may also be interesting to further investigate. First, some previous results regarding chronic opioid use hint at the possibility that higher doses of opioids and/or a longer time of treatment may be necessary for morphine-induced impairments in hippocampal memory function (see chapter 6). Therefore, it is possible that if the morphine treatment had lasted longer in our study LH rats would have presented impairments in the watermaze DMP task.

Also, as highlighted by the absence of significant NOR memory in MIA-injected LH rats when tested on Day 49 after MIA injection (chapter 6), some cognitive deficits may emerge later in the model. This possibility may be further investigated in a study with an appropriate control group and appropriate sample sizes.

7.5. SUMMARY/CONCLUSION

The purpose of this thesis was to investigate, in a rat model, the impact of chronic OA-like knee pain on cognitive function, more specifically hippocampal and recognition memory and behavioural flexibility, and to investigate how sustained opioid treatment may affect memory function. Chronic pain has been associated with changes in forebrain regions, as well as impairments in related cognitive functions, and it has been suggested that this relationship between chronic pain and cognitive dysfunction is the reflection of the competition for the same neural network. However, specific evidence on the cognitive impact of chronic pain in patients with OA has been largely lacking.

In this thesis, we did not find evidence for cognitive impairment in the MIA model in LH rats. Also, we did not find evidence that sustained morphine treatment induces any cognitive impairment in MIA-injected LH rats. However, future studies may examine this further in a wider age range and for longer periods after model induction. On the other hand, it should be noted that present clinical evidence in OA is mainly limited to subjective reports of cognitive impairments (see chapter 1), and it remains to be demonstrated if OA patients with chronic pain show objective impairments on translational assays similar to the ones used in the present study.

REFERENCES

- Abaei M, Sagar DR, Stockley EG, Spicer CH, Prior M, Chapman V, Auer DP (2016) Neural correlates of hyperalgesia in the monosodium iodoacetate model of osteoarthritis pain. Mol Pain 12:174480691664244 Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1744806916642445.
- Aguilar MA, Miñarro J, Simón VM (1998) Dose-Dependent Impairing Effects of Morphine on Avoidance Acquisition and Performance in Male Mice. Neurobiol Learn Mem 69:92–105 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1074742797938041.
- Al-Hasani R, Bruchas MR (2011) Molecular Mechanisms of Opioid Receptor-dependent Signaling and Behavior. Anesthesiology 115:1363–1381 Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3624763/pdf/nihms412728.pdf.
- Almeida TF, Roizenblatt S, Tufik S (2004) Afferent pain pathways: a neuroanatomical review. Brain Res 1000:40–56 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0006899304001052.
- Angst MS, Clark JD (2006) Opioid-induced hyperalgesia: A qualitative systematic review.AcutePain8:191Availableat:https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1366007106001380.
- Apkarian AV, Baliki MN, Geha PY (2009) Towards a theory of chronic pain. Prog Neurobiol 87:81–97 Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2650821&tool=pmcentre z&rendertype=abstract.
- Apkarian AV, Bushnell MC, Treede R-D, Zubieta J-K (2005) Human brain mechanisms of pain perception and regulation in health and disease. Eur J Pain 9:463–463 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.11.001.
- Apkarian VA, Sosa Y, Krauss BR, Thomas SP, Fredrickson BE, Levy RE, Harden NR, Chialvo DR (2004) Chronic pain patients are impaired on an emotional decision-making task. Pain 108:129–136 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-200403000-00017.
- Araldi D, Ferrari LF, Levine JD (2015) Repeated Mu-Opioid Exposure Induces a Novel Form of the Hyperalgesic Priming Model for Transition to Chronic Pain. J Neurosci 35:12502– 12517 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1673-15.2015.
- Arden N, Nevitt M (2006) Osteoarthritis: Epidemiology. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 20:3– 25 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1521694205001087.
- Arendt-Nielsen L (2017) Pain sensitisation in osteoarthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 35 Suppl 1:68–74 Available at: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L6 18570320.
- Arendt-Nielsen L, Morlion B, Perrot S, Dahan A, Dickenson A, Kress HG, Wells C, Bouhassira D, Mohr Drewes A (2018) Assessment and manifestation of central sensitisation across different chronic pain conditions. Eur J Pain 22:216–241 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ejp.1140.
- Arendt-Nielsen L, Skou ST, Nielsen TA, Petersen KK (2015) Altered Central Sensitization and Pain Modulation in the CNS in Chronic Joint Pain. Curr Osteoporos Rep 13:225–234

Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11914-015-0276-x.

- Ashaye T, Hounsome N, Carnes D, Taylor SJC, Homer K, Eldridge S, Spencer A, Rahman A, Foell J, Underwood MR, COPERS Study Team (ISRCTN 24426731). (2018) Opioid prescribing for chronic musculoskeletal pain in UK primary care: results from a cohort analysis of the COPERS trial. BMJ Open 8:e019491 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29880563.
- Aso K, Izumi M, Sugimura N, Okanoue Y, Ushida T, Ikeuchi M (2016) Nociceptive phenotype alterations of dorsal root ganglia neurons innervating the subchondral bone in osteoarthritic rat knee joints. Osteoarthr Cartil 24:1596–1603 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.04.009.
- Babbini M, Davis WM (1972) Time-dose relationships for locomotor activity effects of morphine after acute or repeated treatment. Br J Pharmacol 46:213–224 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1476-5381.1972.tb06866.x.
- Bair MJ, Robinson RL, Katon W, Kroenke K (2003) Depression and Pain Comorbidity. ArchInternMed163:2433Availablehttp://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/archinte.163.20.2433.
- Baliki MN, Schnitzer TJ, Bauer WR, Apkarian AV (2011) Brain Morphological Signatures for Chronic Pain Luque RM, ed. PLoS One 6:e26010 Available at: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026010.
- Bannuru RR et al. (2019) OARSI guidelines for the non-surgical management of knee, hip, and polyarticular osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 27:1578–1589 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2019.06.011.
- Bannuru RR, Schmid CH, Kent DM, Vaysbrot EE, Wong JB, McAlindon TE (2015) Comparative Effectiveness of Pharmacologic Interventions for Knee Osteoarthritis. Ann Intern Med 162:46 Available at: http://annals.org/article.aspx?doi=10.7326/M14-1231.
- Barroso J, Vigotsky AD, Branco P, Reis AM, Schnitzer TJ, Galhardo V, Apkarian AV (2020) Brain gray matter abnormalities in osteoarthritis pain: a cross-sectional evaluation. Pain 161:2167–2178 Available at: https://journals.lww.com/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001904.
- Bast T (2007) Toward an integrative perspective on hippocampal function: from the rapid encoding of experience to adaptive behavior. Rev Neurosci 18:253–281 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18019609.
- Bast T, Pezze M, McGarrity S (2017) Cognitive deficits caused by prefrontal cortical and hippocampal neural disinhibition. Br J Pharmacol 174:3211–3225 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/bph.13850.
- Bast T, Wilson IA, Witter MP, Morris RGM (2009) From Rapid Place Learning to Behavioral Performance: A Key Role for the Intermediate Hippocampus Rugg MD, ed. PLoS Biol 7:e1000089 Available at: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000089.
- Bauer M, Buckley M, Bast T (2020) Individual differences in theta-band oscillations in a spatial memory network revealed by EEG predict rapid place learning. bioRxiv.
- Bedson J, Chen Y, Ashworth J, Hayward RA, Dunn KM, Jordan KP (2019) Risk of adverse events in patients prescribed long-term opioids: A cohort study in the UK Clinical Practice Research Datalink. Eur J Pain 23:908–922 Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ejp.1357.

- Berryman C, Stanton TR, Bowering JK, Tabor A, McFarlane A, Moseley LG (2013) Evidence for working memory deficits in chronic pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Pain 154:1181–1196 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.03.002.
- Bingel U, Quante M, Knab R, Bromm B, Weiller C, Büchel C (2002) Subcortical structures involved in pain processing: evidence from single-trial fMRI. Pain 99:313–321 Available at:

http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=000063 96-200209000-00033.

- Bingham B, Ajit SK, Blake DR, Samad TA (2009) The molecular basis of pain and its clinical implications in rheumatology. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 5:28–37 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/ncprheum0972.
- Birrell JM, Brown VJ (2000) Medial Frontal Cortex Mediates Perceptual Attentional Set Shifting in the Rat. J Neurosci 20:4320–4324 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.20-11-04320.2000.
- Boissoneault J, Vatthauer K, O'Shea A, Craggs JG, Robinson M, Staud R, Berry RB, Perlstein W, Waxenberg L, McCrae CS (2017) Low-to-Moderate Alcohol Consumption is Associated With Hippocampal Volume in Fibromyalgia and Insomnia. Behav Sleep Med 15:438–450 Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15402002.2016.1150279.
- Bove S, Calcaterra S, Brooker R, Huber C, Guzman R, Juneau P, Schrier D, Kilgore K (2003)
 Weight bearing as a measure of disease progression and efficacy of anti-inflammatory compounds in a model of monosodium iodoacetate-induced osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 11:821–830 Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1063458403001638.
- Brady AM, Floresco SB (2015) Operant Procedures for Assessing Behavioral Flexibility in Rats. J Vis Exp:1–13 Available at: http://www.jove.com/video/52387/operant-proceduresfor-assessing-behavioral-flexibility-in-rats.
- Bree D, Moriarty O, Broom DC, Kelly JP, Roche M, Finn DP (2016) Characterization of the Affective Component of Acute Postoperative Pain Associated with a Novel Rat Model of Inguinal Hernia Repair Pain. CNS Neurosci Ther 22:146–153 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/cns.12483.
- Brolin E, Zelleroth S, Jonsson A, Hallberg M, Grönbladh A, Nyberg F (2018) Chronic administration of morphine using mini-osmotic pumps affects spatial memory in the male rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 167:1–8 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0091305717301983.
- Brooks J, Tracey I (2005) From nociception to pain perception: imaging the spinal and supraspinal pathways. J Anat 207:19–33 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2005.00428.x.
- Brown MW, Aggleton JP (2001) Recognition memory: What are the roles of the perirhinal cortex and hippocampus? Nat Rev Neurosci 2:51–61 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/35049064.
- Brown MW, Warburton EC, Aggleton JP (2010) Recognition memory: Material, processes, and substrates. Hippocampus 20:1228–1244 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/hipo.20858.

- Brown VJ, Tait DS (2014) Behavioral Flexibility: Attentional Shifting, Rule Switching, and Response Reversal. In: Encyclopedia of Psychopharmacology (Stolerman IP, Price LH, eds), pp 1–7. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-27772-6.
- Buckley MG, Bast T (2018) A new human delayed-matching-to-place test in a virtual environment reverse-translated from the rodent watermaze paradigm: Characterization of performance measures and sex differences. Hippocampus 28:796–812 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/hipo.22992.
- Buckwalter J, Martin J (2006) Osteoarthritis☆ Adv Drug Deliv Rev 58:150–167 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0169409X06000135.
- Bull FA, Baptista-Hon DT, Lambert JJ, Walwyn W, Hales TG (2017) Morphine activation of mu opioid receptors causes disinhibition of neurons in the ventral tegmental area mediated by β-arrestin2 and c-Src. Sci Rep 7:9969 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-10360-8.
- Bushnell MC, Čeko M, Low LA (2013) Cognitive and emotional control of pain and its disruption in chronic pain. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:502–511 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/nrn3516.
- Butler RK, Nilsson-Todd L, Cleren C, Léna I, Garcia R, Finn DP (2011) Molecular and electrophysiological changes in the prefrontal cortex—amygdala—dorsal periaqueductal grey pathway during persistent pain state and fear-conditioned analgesia. Physiol Behav 104:1075–1081 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.05.028.
- Cao B, Wang J, Mu L, Poon DC-H, Li Y (2016) Impairment of decision making associated with disruption of phase-locking in the anterior cingulate cortex in viscerally hypersensitive rats. Exp Neurol 286:21–31 Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0014488616302801.
- Cardoso-Cruz H, Paiva P, Monteiro C, Galhardo V (2019) Bidirectional optogenetic modulation of prefrontal-hippocampal connectivity in pain-related working memory deficits. Sci Rep 9:10980 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47555-0.
- Chaplan SR, Bach FW, Pogrel JW, Chung JM, Yaksh TL (1994) Quantitative assessment of tactile allodynia in the rat paw. J Neurosci Methods 53:55–63 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0165027094901449.
- Chen Y, Yang C, Wang ZJ (2010) Ca2+/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II Is Required for the Initiation and Maintenance of Opioid-Induced Hyperalgesia. J Neurosci 30:38–46 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4346-09.2010.
- Christiansen CL, Stevens-Lapsley JE (2010) Weight-Bearing Asymmetry in Relation to Measures of Impairment and Functional Mobility for People With Knee Osteoarthritis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 91:1524–1528 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0022202X15370834.
- Chu LF, Angst MS, Clark D (2008) Opioid-induced Hyperalgesia in Humans. Clin J Pain 24:479–496 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00002508-200807000-00003.
- Clemens LE, Jansson EKH, Portal E, Riess O, Nguyen HP (2014) A behavioral comparison of the common laboratory rat strains Lister Hooded, Lewis, Fischer 344 and Wistar in an automated homecage system. Genes, Brain Behav 13:305–321 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/gbb.12093.

- Cohen-Solal M, Funck-Brentano T, Hay E (2013) Animal models of osteoarthritis for the understanding of the bone contribution. Bonekey Rep 2 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24422124.
- Cohen SJ, Stackman Jr. RW (2015) Assessing rodent hippocampal involvement in the novel object recognition task. A review. Behav Brain Res 285:105–117 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.08.002.
- Colvin LA, Bull F, Hales TG (2019) Perioperative opioid analgesia—when is enough too much? A review of opioid-induced tolerance and hyperalgesia. Lancet 393:1558–1568 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30430-1.
- Combe R, Bramwell S, Field MJ (2004) The monosodium iodoacetate model of osteoarthritis: a model of chronic nociceptive pain in rats? Neurosci Lett 370:236–240 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0304394004010250.
- Cottam WJ, Iwabuchi SJ, Drabek MM, Reckziegel D, Auer DP (2018) Altered connectivity of the right anterior insula drives the pain connectome changes in chronic knee osteoarthritis. Pain 159:929–938 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-201805000-00012.
- Cowen SL, Phelps CE, Navratilova E, McKinzie DL, Okun A, Husain O, Gleason SD, Witkin JM, Porreca F (2018) Chronic pain impairs cognitive flexibility and engages novel learning strategies in rats. Pain 159:1403–1412 Available at: http://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00006396-90000000-99003%0Ahttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29578947.
- Craig AD (Bud) (2003) PAIN MECHANISMS: Labeled Lines Versus Convergence in Central Processing. Annu Rev Neurosci 26:1–30 Available at: http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.neuro.26.041002.131022.
- Cruz-Almeida Y, King CD, Goodin BR, Sibille KT, Glover TL, Riley JL, Sotolongo A, Herbert MS, Schmidt J, Fessler BJ, Redden DT, Staud R, Bradley LA, Fillingim RB (2013) Psychological Profiles and Pain Characteristics of Older Adults With Knee Osteoarthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 65:1786–1794 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/acr.22070.
- Curtis HJ, Croker R, Walker AJ, Richards GC, Quinlan J, Goldacre B (2019) Opioid prescribing trends and geographical variation in England, 1998–2018: a retrospective database study. The Lancet Psychiatry 6:140–150 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30471-1.
- da Costa BR, Nüesch E, Kasteler R, Husni E, Welch V, Rutjes AW, Jüni P (2014) Oral or transdermal opioids for osteoarthritis of the knee or hip. Cochrane Database Syst Rev Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD003115.pub4.
- da Silva BM, Bast T, Morris RGM (2013) Spatial memory: behavioral determinants of persistence in the watermaze delayed matching-to-place task. Learn Mem 21:767–775 Available at: http://learnmem.cshlp.org/cgi/doi/10.1101/lm.032169.113.
- Deary IJ, Corley J, Gow AJ, Harris SE, Houlihan LM, Marioni RE, Penke L, Rafnsson SB, Starr JM (2009) Age-associated cognitive decline. Br Med Bull 92:135–152 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/bmb/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/bmb/ldp033.
- del Rey A, Yau H-J, Randolf A, Centeno M V., Wildmann J, Martina M, Besedovsky HO, Apkarian VA (2011) Chronic neuropathic pain-like behavior correlates with IL-1β expression and disrupts cytokine interactions in the hippocampus. Pain 152:2827–2835

Available

http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=000063 96-201112000-00023.

- Deuis JR, Dvorakova LS, Vetter I (2017) Methods Used to Evaluate Pain Behaviors in Rodents.FrontMolNeurosci10:1–17Availableat:http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnmol.2017.00284/full.
- Deveza LA, Melo L, Yamato TP, Mills K, Ravi V, Hunter DJ (2017) Knee osteoarthritis phenotypes and their relevance for outcomes: a systematic review. Osteoarthr Cartil 25:1926–1941 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2017.08.009.
- Devor M (2009) Ectopic discharge in Aβ afferents as a source of neuropathic pain. Exp Brain Res 196:115–128 Available at: papers3://publication/doi/10.1007/s00221-009-1724-6.
- Dick B, Eccleston C, Crombez G (2002) Attentional functioning in fibromyalgia, rheumatoid arthritis, and musculoskeletal pain patients. Arthritis Rheum 47:639–644 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/art.10800.
- Dick BD, Rashiq S (2007) Disruption of Attention and Working Memory Traces in Individuals with Chronic Pain. Anesth Analg 104:1223–1229 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00000539-200705000-00039.
- Dieppe P a., Lohmander LS (2005) Pathogenesis and management of pain in osteoarthritis.Lancet365:965–973Availableat:https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673605710862.
- Dimitroulas T, Duarte R V, Behura A, Kitas GD, Raphael JH (2014) Neuropathic pain in osteoarthritis: A review of pathophysiological mechanisms and implications for treatment. Semin Arthritis Rheum 44:145–154 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2014.05.011.
- Dulay GS, Cooper C, Dennison EM (2015) Knee pain, knee injury, knee osteoarthritis & amp; work. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 29:454–461 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2015.05.005.
- Duric V, McCarson KE (2005) Hippocampal neurokinin-1 receptor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene expression is decreased in rat models of pain and stress. Neuroscience 133:999–1006 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306452205004021.
- Eccleston C, Crombez G, Aldrich S, Stannard C (1997) Attention and somatic awareness in chronic pain. Pain 72:209–215 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-199708000-00025.
- Egloff C, Hügle T, Valderrabano V (2012) Biomechanics and pathomechanisms of osteoarthritis. Swiss Med Wkly 142:1–14 Available at: http://doi.emh.ch/smw.2012.13583.
- Elvemo N-A, Nilsen KB, Landrø NI, Borchgrevink PC, Håberg AK (2014) Patients with chronic pain lack somatic markers during decision-making. J Pain Res 7:425–437 Available at: http://www.dovepress.com/patients-with-chronic-pain-lack-somatic-markers-duringdecision-making-peer-reviewed-article-JPR.
- Ennaceur A, Delacour J (1988) A new one-trial test for neurobiological studies of memory in rats. 1: Behavioral data. Behav Brain Res 31:47–59 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/016643288890157X.

- Ezzati A, Zimmerman ME, Katz MJ, Sundermann EE, Smith JL, Lipton ML, Lipton RB (2014) Hippocampal subfields differentially correlate with chronic pain in older adults. Brain Res 1573:54–62 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0006899314007148.
- Felson DT (2013) Osteoarthritis as a disease of mechanics. Osteoarthr Cartil 21:10–15 Available at: http://stg.jfponline.com/pdf/XMEsuppl.pdf.
- Ferreira-Gomes J, Adães S, Sousa RM, Mendonça M, Castro-Lopes JM (2012) Dose-Dependent Expression of Neuronal Injury Markers during Experimental Osteoarthritis Induced by Monoiodoacetate in the Rat. Mol Pain 8:1744-8069-8–50 Available at: http://www.molecularpain.com/content/8/1/50.
- Ferrini F, Trang T, Mattioli T-AM, Laffray S, Del'Guidice T, Lorenzo L-E, Castonguay A, Doyon N, Zhang W, Godin AG, Mohr D, Beggs S, Vandal K, Beaulieu J-M, Cahill CM, Salter MW, De Koninck Y (2013) Morphine hyperalgesia gated through microglia-mediated disruption of neuronal Cl– homeostasis. Nat Neurosci 16:183–192 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/nn.3295.
- Floresco SB, Block AE, Tse MTL (2008) Inactivation of the medial prefrontal cortex of the rat impairs strategy set-shifting, but not reversal learning, using a novel, automated procedure. Behav Brain Res 190:85–96 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0166432808000880.
- Gabriel AF, Marcus MAE, Honig WMM, Joosten EAJ (2010) Preoperative housing in an enriched environment significantly reduces the duration of post-operative pain in a rat model of knee inflammation. Neurosci Lett 469:219–223 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0304394009015699.
- Gerrits MMJG, van Oppen P, van Marwijk HWJ, Penninx BWJH, van der Horst HE (2014) Pain and the onset of depressive and anxiety disorders. Pain 155:53–59 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.09.005.
- Goldring MB, Marcu KB (2009) Cartilage homeostasis in health and rheumatic diseases. Arthritis Res Ther 11:224 Available at: http://arthritisresearch.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/ar2592.
- Gowler PRW, Li L, Woodhams SG, Bennett AJ, Suzuki R, Walsh DA, Chapman V (2020) Peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor contributes to chronic osteoarthritis joint pain. Pain 161:61–73 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001694.
- Graven-Nielsen T, Arendt-Nielsen L (2002) Peripheral and central sensitization in musculoskeletal pain disorders: An experimental approach. Curr Rheumatol Rep 4:313– 321 Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11926-002-0040-y.
- Guingamp C, Gegout-Pottie P, Philippe L, Terlain B, Netter P, Gillet P (1997) Monoiodoacetate-induced experimental osteoarthritis. A dose-response study of loss of mobility, morphology, and biochemistry. Arthritis Rheum 40:1670–1679 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/art.1780400917.
- Guzman RE, Evans MG, Bove S, Morenko B, Kilgore K (2003) Mono-Iodoacetate-Induced Histologic Changes in Subchondral Bone and Articular Cartilage of Rat Femorotibial Joints: An Animal Model of Osteoarthritis. Toxicol Pathol 31:619–624 Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1080/01926230390241800.

- Gwilym SE, Filippini N, Douaud G, Carr AJ, Tracey I (2010) Thalamic atrophy associated with painful osteoarthritis of the hip is reversible after arthroplasty: A longitudinal voxelbased morphometric study. Arthritis Rheum 62:2930–2940 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/art.27585.
- Harris AC, Gewirtz JC (2004) Elevated startle during withdrawal from acute morphine: a model of opiate withdrawal and anxiety. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 171:140–147 Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00213-003-1573-0.
- Hart RP, Martelli MF, Zasler ND (2000) Chronic pain and neuropsychological functioning.
NeuropsycholRev10:131–149Availableat:
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10983898.
- Havelin J, Imbert I, Cormier J, Allen J, Porreca F, King T (2016) Central Sensitization and Neuropathic Features of Ongoing Pain in a Rat Model of Advanced Osteoarthritis. J Pain 17:374–382 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1526590015009773.
- Hemington KS, Wu Q, Kucyi A, Inman RD, Davis KD (2016) Abnormal cross-network functional connectivity in chronic pain and its association with clinical symptoms. Brain Struct Funct 221:4203–4219 Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00429-015-1161-1.
- Hestehave S, Abelson KS, Brønnum Pedersen T, Munro G (2019) Stress sensitivity and cutaneous sensory thresholds before and after neuropathic injury in various inbred and outbred rat strains. Behav Brain Res 375:112149 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2019.112149.
- Higgins GA, Grzelak ME, Pond AJ, Cohen-Williams ME, Hodgson RA, Varty GB (2007) The effect of caffeine to increase reaction time in the rat during a test of attention is mediated through antagonism of adenosine A2A receptors. Behav Brain Res 185:32–42 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0166432807003646.
- Hiser J, Koenigs M (2018) The Multifaceted Role of the Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex in Emotion, Decision Making, Social Cognition, and Psychopathology. Biol Psychiatry 83:638–647 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0006322317322035.
- Hsia AW, Emami AJ, Tarke FD, Cunningham HC, Tjandra PM, Wong A, Christiansen BA, Collette NM (2017) Osteophytes and fracture calluses share developmental milestones and are diminished by unloading. J Orthop Res 36:699–710 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/jor.23779.
- Hughes PC, Tanner JM (1970) The assessment of skeletal maturity in the growing rat. J Anat 106:371–402 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4315144.
- Hunter DJ, Bierma-Zeinstra S (2019) Osteoarthritis. Lancet 393:1745–1759 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673619304179.
- Hunter DJ, Felson DT (2006) Osteoarthritis. BMJ 332:639–642 Available at: http://actamedicaportuguesa.com/revista/index.php/amp/article/view/5477.
- Hunter DJ, McDougall JJ, Keefe FJ (2008) The Symptoms of Osteoarthritis and the Genesis of Pain. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 34:623–643 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0889857X08000367.
- Ichesco E, Schmidt-Wilcke T, Bhavsar R, Clauw DJ, Peltier SJ, Kim J, Napadow V, Hampson JP,

Kairys AE, Williams DA, Harris RE (2014) Altered Resting State Connectivity of the Insular Cortex in Individuals With Fibromyalgia. J Pain 15:815-826.e1 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1526590014007007.

- Imam MZ, Kuo A, Ghassabian S, Smith MT (2018) Progress in understanding mechanisms of opioid-induced gastrointestinal adverse effects and respiratory depression. Neuropharmacology 131:238–255 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.12.032.
- Indart S, Hugon J, Guillausseau PJ, Gilbert A, Dumurgier J, Paquet C, Sène D (2017) Impact of pain on cognitive functions in primary Sjögren syndrome with small fiber neuropathy. Medicine (Baltimore) 96:e6384 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00005792-201704210-00010.
- Jahn A, Nee DE, Alexander WH, Brown JW (2016) Distinct Regions within Medial Prefrontal Cortex Process Pain and Cognition. J Neurosci 36:12385–12392 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2180-16.2016.
- Janusz MJ, Bendele AM, Brown KK, Taiwo YO, Hsieh L, Heitmeyer SA (2002) Induction of osteoarthritis in the rat by surgical tear of the meniscus: Inhibition of joint damage by a matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor. Osteoarthr Cartil 10:785–791 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S106345840290823X.
- Janusz MJ, Hookfin EB, Heitmeyer SA, Woessner JF, Freemont AJ, Hoyland JA, Brown KK, Hsieh LC, Almstead NG, De B, Natchus MG, Pikul S, Taiwo YO (2001) Moderation of iodoacetate-induced experimental osteoarthritis in rats by matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. Osteoarthr Cartil 9:751–760 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1063458401904728.
- Ji G, Sun H, Fu Y, Li Z, Pais-Vieira M, Galhardo V, Neugebauer V (2010) Cognitive Impairment in Pain through Amygdala-Driven Prefrontal Cortical Deactivation. J Neurosci 30:5451– 5464 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0225-10.2010.
- Jiang L, Li L, Geng C, Gong D, Jiang L, Ishikawa N, Kajima K, Zhong L (2013) Monosodium iodoacetate induces apoptosis via the mitochondrial pathway involving ROS production and caspase activation in rat chondrocytes in vitro. J Orthop Res 31:364–369 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/jor.22250.
- Karayannis N V., Baumann I, Sturgeon JA, Melloh M, Mackey SC (2019) The Impact of Social Isolation on Pain Interference: A Longitudinal Study. Ann Behav Med 53:65–74 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/abm/article/53/1/65/4969712.
- Karp JF, Reynolds CF, Butters MA, Dew MA, Mazumdar S, Begley AE, Lenze E, Weiner DK (2006) The Relationship Between Pain and Mental Flexibility in Older Adult Pain Clinic Patients. Pain Med 7:444–452 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/painmedicine/article-lookup/doi/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2006.00212.x.
- Kelley AE, Domesick VB (1982) The distribution of the projection from the hippocampal formation to the nucleus accumbens in the rat: An anterograde and retrogradehorseradish peroxidase study. Neuroscience 7:2321–2335 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0306452282901981.
- Kilkenny C, Browne WJ, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG (2010) Improving Bioscience Research Reporting: The ARRIVE Guidelines for Reporting Animal Research. PLoS Biol
8:e1000412 Available at: http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000412.

- Kim C, Johnson NF, Cilles SE, Gold BT (2011) Common and Distinct Mechanisms of Cognitive Flexibility in Prefrontal Cortex. J Neurosci 31:4771–4779 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5923-10.2011.
- Kim JE, Song D, Kim SH, Jung Y, Kim SJ (2018) Development and characterization of various osteoarthritis models for tissue engineering Lammi MJ, ed. PLoS One 13:e0194288 Available at: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194288.
- King CD, Sibille KT, Goodin BR, Cruz-Almeida Y, Glover TL, Bartley E, Riley JL, Herbert MS, Sotolongo A, Schmidt J, Fessler BJ, Redden DT, Staud R, Bradley LA, Fillingim RB (2013) Experimental pain sensitivity differs as a function of clinical pain severity in symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 21:1243–1252 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.05.015.
- Koch M (1999) The neurobiology of startle. Prog Neurobiol 59:107–128 Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0301008298000987.
- Kraus VB, Blanco FJ, Englund M, Karsdal MA, Lohmander LS (2015) Call for standardized definitions of osteoarthritis and risk stratification for clinical trials and clinical use. Osteoarthr Cartil 23:1233–1241 Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4516635/pdf/nihms679742.pdf.
- Kraus VB, Huebner JL, DeGroot J, Bendele A (2010) The OARSI histopathology initiative recommendations for histological assessments of osteoarthritis in the guinea pig. Osteoarthr Cartil 18:S35–S52 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2010.05.030.
- Krebs EE, Gravely A, Nugent S, Jensen AC, DeRonne B, Goldsmith ES, Kroenke K, Bair MJ, Noorbaloochi S (2018) Effect of Opioid vs Nonopioid Medications on Pain-Related Function in Patients With Chronic Back Pain or Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis Pain. JAMA 319:872 Available at: http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jama.2018.0899.
- Kuchinad A, Schweinhardt P, Seminowicz DA, Wood PB, Chizh BA, Bushnell MC (2007) Accelerated Brain Gray Matter Loss in Fibromyalgia Patients: Premature Aging of the Brain? J Neurosci 27:4004–4007 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0098-07.2007.
- Kumar G, Talpos J, Steckler T (2015) Strain-dependent effects on acquisition and reversal of visual and spatial tasks in a rat touchscreen battery of cognition. Physiol Behav 144:26– 36 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.03.001.
- Lampropoulou-Adamidou K, Lelovas P, Karadimas E V., Liakou C, Triantafillopoulos IK, Dontas I, Papaioannou NA (2014) Useful animal models for the research of osteoarthritis. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 24:263–271 Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00590-013-1205-2.
- Landrø NI, Fors EA, Våpenstad LL, Holthe Ø, Stiles TC, Borchgrevink PC (2013) The extent of neurocognitive dysfunction in a multidisciplinary pain centre population. Is there a relation between reported and tested neuropsychological functioning? Pain 154:972–977 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-201307000-00005.
- Lange F, Seer C, Kopp B (2017) Cognitive flexibility in neurological disorders: Cognitive components and event-related potentials. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 83:496–507

Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0149763417305110.

- Latremoliere A, Woolf CJ (2009) Central Sensitization: A Generator of Pain Hypersensitivity by Central Neural Plasticity. J Pain 10:895–926 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2009.06.012.
- Laureiro-Martínez D, Brusoni S, Zollo M (2009) Cognitive flexibility in decision- making: aneurological model of learning and change.
- Leavitt F, Katz RS (2006) Distraction as a key determinant of impaired memory in patients with fibromyalgia. J Rheumatol 33:127–132.
- Lee DM et al. (2010) Chronic widespread pain is associated with slower cognitive processing speed in middle-aged and older European men. Pain 151:30–36 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-201010000-00010.
- Legrain V, Damme S Van, Eccleston C, Davis KD, Seminowicz DA, Crombez G (2009a) A neurocognitive model of attention to pain: Behavioral and neuroimaging evidence. Pain 144:230–232 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.03.020.
- Legrain V, Perchet C, García-Larrea L (2009b) Involuntary Orienting of Attention to Nociceptive Events: Neural and Behavioral Signatures. J Neurophysiol 102:2423–2434 Available http://jn.physiology.org/content/102/4/2423.short%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov /pubmed/19692512.
- Leite-Almeida H, Almeida-Torres L, Mesquita AR, Pertovaara A, Sousa N, Cerqueira JJ, Almeida A (2009) The impact of age on emotional and cognitive behaviours triggered by experimental neuropathy in rats. Pain 144:57–65 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.02.024.
- Liu A, Kendzerska T, Stanaitis I, Hawker G (2014) The relationship between knee pain characteristics and symptom state acceptability in people with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 22:178–183 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2013.11.012.
- Liu Y, Zhou L-J, Wang J, Li D, Ren W-J, Peng J, Wei X, Xu T, Xin W-J, Pang R-P, Li Y-Y, Qin Z-H, Murugan M, Mattson MP, Wu L-J, Liu X-G (2017a) TNF-α Differentially Regulates Synaptic Plasticity in the Hippocampus and Spinal Cord by Microglia-Dependent Mechanisms after Peripheral Nerve Injury. J Neurosci 37:871–881 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2235-16.2017.
- Liu Y, Zhou L-J, Wang J, Li D, Ren W-J, Peng J, Wei X, Xu T, Xin W-J, Pang R-P, Li Y-Y, Qin Z-H, Murugan M, Mattson MP, Wu L-J, Liu X-G (2017b) TNF-α Differentially Regulates Synaptic Plasticity in the Hippocampus and Spinal Cord by Microglia-Dependent Mechanisms after Peripheral Nerve Injury. J Neurosci 37:871–881 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2235-16.2017.
- Lluch E, Torres R, Nijs J, Van Oosterwijck J (2014) Evidence for central sensitization in patients with osteoarthritis pain: A systematic literature review. Eur J Pain 18:1367–1375 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/j.1532-2149.2014.499.x.
- Loeser JD, Treede RD (2008) The Kyoto protocol of IASP Basic Pain Terminology. Pain 137:473–477.
- Luerding R, Weigand T, Bogdahn U, Schmidt-Wilcke T (2008) Working memory performance is correlated with local brain morphology in the medial frontal and anterior cingulate

cortex in fibromyalgia patients: structural correlates of pain–cognition interaction. Brain 131:3222–3231 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/brain/articlelookup/doi/10.1093/brain/awn229.

- Ma MX, Chen YM, He J, Zeng T, Wang JH (2007) Effects of morphine and its withdrawal on Ymaze spatial recognition memory in mice. Neuroscience 147:1059–1065 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S030645220700663X.
- Mao CP, Bai ZL, Zhang XN, Zhang QJ, Zhang L (2016) Abnormal Subcortical Brain Morphology in Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis: A Cross-sectional Study. Front Aging Neurosci 8:1– 9 Available at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/Article/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00003/abstract.
- Mapp PI, Avery PS, McWilliams DF, Bowyer J, Day C, Moores S, Webster R, Walsh DA (2008) Angiogenesis in two animal models of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 16:61–69 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1063458407001963.
- Mapp PI, Sagar DR, Ashraf S, Burston JJ, Suri S, Chapman V, Walsh DA (2013) Differences in structural and pain phenotypes in the sodium monoiodoacetate and meniscal transection models of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 21:1336–1345 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1063458413008911.
- Marker CL, Pomonis JD (2012) Pain Research (Luo ZD, ed). Totowa, NJ: Humana Press. Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-1-61779-561-9.
- Martin MM, Rubin RB (1995) A New Measure of Cognitive Flexibility. Psychol Rep 76:623–626 Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.2466/pr0.1995.76.2.623.
- McCrae C, O'Shea A, Boissoneault J, Vatthauer K, Robinson M, Staud R, Perlstein W, Craggs J (2015) Fibromyalgia patients have reduced hippocampal volume compared with healthy controls. J Pain Res 8:47 Available at: http://www.dovepress.com/fibromyalgia-patients-have-reduced-hippocampal-volume-compared-with-he-peer-reviewed-article-JPR.
- McCrae CS, Mundt JM, Curtis AF, Craggs JG, O'Shea AM, Staud R, Berry RB, Perlstein WM, Robinson ME (2018) Gray Matter Changes Following Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Patients With Comorbid Fibromyalgia and Insomnia: A Pilot Study. J Clin Sleep Med 14:1595–1603 Available at: http://jcsm.aasm.org/doi/10.5664/jcsm.7344.
- McDermott C, Kelly JP (2008) Comparison of the behavioural pharmacology of the Lister-Hooded with 2 commonly utilised albino rat strains. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry 32:1816–1823 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2008.08.004.
- McGarrity S, Mason R, Fone KC, Pezze M, Bast T (2016) Hippocampal Neural Disinhibition Causes Attentional and Memory Deficits. Cereb Cortex 27:4447–4462 Available at: http://cercor.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/doi/10.1093/cercor/bhw247.
- McGuire BE (2013) Chronic pain and cognitive function. Pain 154:964–965 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2013.04.008.
- Merksey H, Bogduk N (1994) Classification of chronic pain (Merksey H, Bogduk N, eds)., 2nd ed. Seattle: IASP Press.
- Metz AE, Yau H-J, Centeno M V., Apkarian A V., Martina M (2009) Morphological and functional reorganization of rat medial prefrontal cortex in neuropathic pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:2423–2428 Available at: https://cgscholar.com/bookstore/works/beyond-

diy.

- Mikhalevich I, Powell R, Logan C (2017) Is behavioural flexibility evidence of cognitive complexity? How evolution can inform comparative cognition. Interface Focus 7:20160121 Available at: https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rsfs.2016.0121.
- Millan MJ (1999) The induction of pain: an integrative review. Prog Neurobiol 57:1–164 Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301008298000483 [Accessed September 30, 2014].
- Millan MJ (2002) Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 66:355–474 Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301008202000096 [Accessed September 30, 2014].
- Millecamps M, Etienne M, Jourdan D, Eschalier A, Ardid D (2004) Decrease in non-selective, non-sustained attention induced by a chronic visceral inflammatory state as a new pain evaluation in rats. Pain 109:214–224 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-200406000-00005.
- Mora JC, Przkora R, Cruz-Almeida Y (2018) Knee osteoarthritis: pathophysiology and current treatment modalities. J Pain Res Volume 11:2189–2196 Available at: https://www.dovepress.com/knee-osteoarthritis-pathophysiology-and-current-treatment-modalities-peer-reviewed-article-JPR.
- Moriarty O, Gorman CL, McGowan F, Ford GK, Roche M, Thompson K, Dockery P, McGuire BE, Finn DP (2016a) Impaired recognition memory and cognitive flexibility in the rat L5– L6 spinal nerve ligation model of neuropathic pain. Scand J Pain 10:61–73 Available at: http://www.degruyter.com/view/j/sjpain.2016.10.issue-1/j.sjpain.2015.09.008/j.sjpain.2015.09.008.xml.
- Moriarty O, Lang Y, Idrees Z, McGuire BE, Finn DP (2016b) Impaired cued and spatial learning performance and altered cannabinoid CB1 receptor functionality in the substantia nigra in a rat model of diabetic neuropathy. Behav Brain Res 303:61–70 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0166432816300249.
- Moriarty O, McGuire BE, Finn DP (2011) The effect of pain on cognitive function: A review of clinical and preclinical research. Prog Neurobiol 93:385–404 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.01.002.
- Moriarty O, Ruane N, O'Gorman D, Maharaj CH, Mitchell C, Sarma KM, Finn DP, McGuire BE (2017) Cognitive Impairment in Patients with Chronic Neuropathic or Radicular Pain: An Interaction of Pain and Age. Front Behav Neurosci 11:1–13 Available at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00100/full.
- Morici JF, Bekinschtein P, Weisstaub N V. (2015) Medial prefrontal cortex role in recognition memory in rodents. Behav Brain Res 292:241–251 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.06.030.
- Morris R (1984) Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning in the rat. J Neurosci Methods 11:47–60 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0165027084900074.
- Murphy NP, Lam HA, Maidment NT (2008) A comparison of morphine-induced locomotor activity and mesolimbic dopamine release in C57BL6, 129Sv and DBA2 mice. J Neurochem 79:626–635 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1046/j.1471-

4159.2001.00599.x.

- Murphy SL, Phillips K, Williams DA, Clauw DJ (2012) The Role of the Central Nervous System in Osteoarthritis Pain and Implications for Rehabilitation. Curr Rheumatol Rep 14:576– 582 Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11926-012-0285-z.
- Murray AJ, Woloszynowska-Fraser MU, Ansel-Bollepalli L, Cole KLH, Foggetti A, Crouch B, Riedel G, Wulff P (2015) Parvalbumin-positive interneurons of the prefrontal cortex support working memory and cognitive flexibility. Sci Rep 5:16778 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/srep16778.
- Mutso AA, Petre B, Huang L, Baliki MN, Torbey S, Herrmann KM, Schnitzer TJ, Apkarian AV (2014) Reorganization of hippocampal functional connectivity with transition to chronic back pain. J Neurophysiol 111:1065–1076 Available at: https://www.physiology.org/doi/10.1152/jn.00611.2013.
- Mutso AA, Radzicki D, Baliki MN, Huang L, Banisadr G, Centeno M V., Radulovic J, Martina M, Miller RJ, Apkarian A V. (2012) Abnormalities in Hippocampal Functioning with Persistent Pain. J Neurosci 32:5747–5756 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0587-12.2012.
- Nagase H, Kumakura S, Shimada K (2012) Establishment of a novel objective and quantitative method to assess pain-related behavior in monosodium iodoacetate-induced osteoarthritis in rat knee. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 65:29–36 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.vascn.2011.10.002.
- Negrete R, García Gutiérrez MS, Manzanares J, Maldonado R (2017) Involvement of the dynorphin/KOR system on the nociceptive, emotional and cognitive manifestations of joint pain in mice. Neuropharmacology 116:315–327 Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0028390816303628.
- Neumann K, Grittner U, Piper SK, Rex A, Florez-Vargas O, Karystianis G, Schneider A, Wellwood I, Siegerink B, Ioannidis JPA, Kimmelman J, Dirnagl U (2017) Increasing efficiency of preclinical research by group sequential designs. PLOS Biol 15:e2001307 Available at: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2001307.
- Nilsson SRO, Phillips BU, Axelsson SFA, Alsiö J (2019) Serotonin and cognitive flexibility. In: The Serotonin System, pp 133–154. Elsevier. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813323-1.00008-6.
- Nwosu LN, Mapp PI, Chapman V, Walsh DA (2016a) Blocking the tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TrkA) receptor inhibits pain behaviour in two rat models of osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 75:1246–1254 Available at: http://ard.bmj.com/content/early/2015/08/18/annrheumdis-2014-207203.full.
- Nwosu LN, Mapp PI, Chapman V, Walsh DA (2016b) Relationship between structural pathology and pain behaviour in a model of osteoarthritis (OA). Osteoarthr Cartil 24:1910–1917 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2016.06.012.
- Ochsner KN, Ludlow DH, Knierim K, Hanelin J, Ramachandran T, Glover GC, Mackey SC (2006) Neural correlates of individual differences in pain-related fear and anxiety. Pain 120:69– 77 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-200601000-00009.
- Ogbonna AC, Clark AK, Gentry C, Hobbs C, Malcangio M (2013) Pain-like behaviour and spinal changes in the monosodium iodoacetate model of osteoarthritis in C57BI/6 mice. Eur J Pain 17:514–526 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/j.1532-

2149.2012.00223.x.

- Ong W-Y, Stohler CS, Herr DR (2019) Role of the Prefrontal Cortex in Pain Processing. Mol Neurobiol 56:1137–1166 Available at: http://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&from=export&id=L6 22473522%0Ahttp://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1130-9.
- Oosterman JM, Derksen LC, van Wijck AJM, Veldhuijzen DS, Kessels RPC (2011) Memory Functions in Chronic Pain. Clin J Pain 27:70–75 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00002508-201101000-00010.
- Pais-Vieira M, Lima D, Galhardo V (2009) Sustained attention deficits in rats with chronic inflammatory pain. Neurosci Lett 463:98–102 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0304394009009835.
- Palazzo C, Nguyen C, Lefevre-Colau M-M, Rannou F, Poiraudeau S (2016) Risk factors and burden of osteoarthritis. Ann Phys Rehabil Med 59:134–138 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1877065716000245.
- Parent-Vachon M, Vachon P (2018) Environmental enrichment alleviates chronic pain in rats following a spared nerve injury to induce neuropathic pain. A preliminary study. Vet Med Res Reports Volume 9:69–72 Available at: https://www.dovepress.com/environmental-enrichment-alleviates-chronic-pain-inrats-following-a-s-peer-reviewed-article-VMRR.
- Parks EL, Geha PY, Baliki MN, Katz J, Schnitzer TJ, Apkarian AV (2012) Brain activity for chronic knee osteoarthritis: dissociating evoked pain from spontaneous pain. Eur J Pain 15:1– 18.
- Parnaudeau S, Bolkan SS, Kellendonk C (2018) The Mediodorsal Thalamus: An Essential Partner of the Prefrontal Cortex for Cognition. Biol Psychiatry 83:648–656 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0006322317321935.
- Pattison LA, Krock E, Svensson CI, Smith ESJ (2021) Cell–cell interactions in joint pain: rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Pain 162:714–717 Available at: https://journals.lww.com/10.1097/j.pain.00000000002174.
- Pelletier J-P, Kapoor M, Martel-Pelletier J (2015) Animal models of osteoarthritis. In: Rheumatology, pp 1454–1461. Elsevier. Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780323091381001741.
- Pelletier J-P, Martel-Pelletier J, Rannou F, Cooper C (2016) Efficacy and safety of oral NSAIDs and analgesics in the management of osteoarthritis: Evidence from real-life setting trials and surveys. Semin Arthritis Rheum 45:S22–S27 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2015.11.009.
- Perrot S, Cohen M, Barke A, Korwisi B, Rief W, Treede R-D (2019) The IASP classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. Pain 160:77–82 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-201901000-00010.
- Pezze M, Bast T (2012) Dopaminergic modulation of hippocampus-dependent learning: Blockade of hippocampal D1-class receptors during learning impairs 1-trial place memory at a 30-min retention delay. Neuropharmacology 63:710–718 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.05.036.
- Pezze M, McGarrity S, Mason R, Fone KC, Bast T (2014) Too Little and Too Much: Hypoactivation and Disinhibition of Medial Prefrontal Cortex Cause Attentional Deficits.

J Neurosci 34:7931–7946 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/cgi/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3450-13.2014.

- Pezze MA, Marshall HJ, Fone KCF, Cassaday HJ (2015) Dopamine D1 receptor stimulation modulates the formation and retrieval of novel object recognition memory: Role of the prelimbic cortex. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 25:2145–2156 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.07.018.
- Phelps CE, Lumb BM, Donaldson LF, Robinson ES (2021) The partial saphenous nerve injury
model of pain impairs reward-related learning but not reward sensitivity or motivation.
Pain162:956–966Availableat:
https://journals.lww.com/10.1097/j.pain.00000000002177.
- Piperno M, Reboul P, Hellio Le Graverand M-P, Peschard MJ, Annefeld M, Richard M, Vignon E (1998) Osteoarthritic cartilage fibrillation is associated with a decrease in chrondrocyte adhesion to fibronectin. Osteoarthr Cartil 6:393–399 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1063458498901388.
- Pitcher T, Sousa-Valente J, Malcangio M (2016) The Monoiodoacetate Model of Osteoarthritis Pain in the Mouse. J Vis Exp e53746:6–10 Available at: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84971500395&partnerID=40&md5=82f91876e37323083b41eba163afbc30.
- Pritzker KPH, Gay S, Jimenez SA, Ostergaard K, Pelletier J-P, Revell PA, Salter D, van den Berg WB (2006) Osteoarthritis cartilage histopathology: grading and staging. Osteoarthr Cartil 14:13–29 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1063458405001974.
- Prusky GT, Harker KT, Douglas RM, Whishaw IQ (2002) Variation in visual acuity within pigmented, and between pigmented and albino rat strains. Behav Brain Res 136:339–348 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0166432802001262.
- Pu L, Bao G-B, Xu N-J, Ma L, Pei G (2002) Hippocampal Long-Term Potentiation Is Reduced by Chronic Opiate Treatment and Can Be Restored by Re-Exposure to Opiates. J Neurosci 22:1914–1921 Available at: http://www.jneurosci.org/lookup/doi/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-05-01914.2002.
- Quednow BB, Csomor PA, Chmiel J, Beck T, Vollenweider FX (2008) Sensorimotor gating and attentional set-shifting are improved by the μ -opioid receptor agonist morphine in healthy human volunteers. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 11:655–669 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/ijnp/article-lookup/doi/10.1017/S1461145707008322.
- Raghavendra V, Tanga FY, DeLeo JA (2004) Attenuation of Morphine Tolerance, Withdrawal-Induced Hyperalgesia, and Associated Spinal Inflammatory Immune Responses by Propentofylline in Rats. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:327–334 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/1300315.
- Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, Keefe FJ, Mogil JS, Ringkamp M, Sluka KA, Song X-J, Stevens B, Sullivan MD, Tutelman PR, Ushida T, Vader K (2020) The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. Pain 161:1976–1982 Available at: https://journals.lww.com/10.1097/j.pain.000000000001939.
- Raoof R, Willemen HLDM, Eijkelkamp N (2018) Divergent roles of immune cells and their mediators in pain. Rheumatology 57:429–440 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/rheumatology/article/57/3/429/4080841.

- Ren W-J, Liu Y, Zhou L-J, Li W, Zhong Y, Pang R-P, Xin W-J, Wei X-H, Wang J, Zhu H-Q, Wu C-Y, Qin Z-H, Liu G, Liu X-G (2011) Peripheral Nerve Injury Leads to Working Memory Deficits and Dysfunction of the Hippocampus by Upregulation of TNF-α in Rodents. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:979–992 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.236.
- Richards GC, Lluka LJ, Smith MT, Haslam C, Moore B, O'Callaghan J, Strong J (2018) Effects of long-term opioid analgesics on cognitive performance and plasma cytokine concentrations in patients with chronic low back pain. PAIN Reports 3:e669 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/01938936-201808000-00004.
- Rocca MA, Ceccarelli A, Falini A, Colombo B, Tortorella P, Bernasconi L, Comi G, Scotti G, Filippi M (2006) Brain Gray Matter Changes in Migraine Patients With T2-Visible Lesions. Stroke 37:1765–1770 Available at: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/01.STR.0000226589.00599.4d.
- Roth RS, Geisser ME, Theisen-Goodvich M, Dixon PJ (2005) Cognitive Complaints Are Associated With Depression, Fatigue, Female Sex, and Pain Catastrophizing in Patients With Chronic Pain. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 86:1147–1154 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S000399930500002X.
- Rothwell PE, Thomas MJ, Gewirtz JC (2009) Distinct Profiles of Anxiety and Dysphoria during Spontaneous Withdrawal from Acute Morphine Exposure. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:2285–2295 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/npp200956.
- Ruscheweyh R, Wersching H, Kugel H, Sundermann B, Teuber A (2018) Gray matter correlates of pressure pain thresholds and self-rated pain sensitivity. Pain 159:1359–1365 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-201807000-00018.
- Sagar DR, Ashraf S, Xu L, Burston JJ, Menhinick MR, Poulter CL, Bennett AJ, Walsh DA, Chapman V (2014) Osteoprotegerin reduces the development of pain behaviour and joint pathology in a model of osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 73:1558–1565 Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4112443&tool=pmcentre z&rendertype=abstract.
- Sagar DR, Burston JJ, Hathway GJ, Woodhams SG, Pearson RG, Bennett AJ, Kendall DA, Scammell BE, Chapman V (2011) The Contribution of Spinal Glial Cells to Chronic Pain Behaviour in the Monosodium Iodoacetate Model of Osteoarthritic Pain. Mol Pain 7:1744-8069-7–88 Available at: http://www.molecularpain.com/content/7/1/88.
- Sagar DR, Staniaszek LE, Okine BN, Woodhams S, Norris LM, Pearson RG, Garle MJ, Alexander SPH, Bennett AJ, Barrett DA, Kendall DA, Scammell BE, Chapman V (2010) Tonic modulation of spinal hyperexcitability by the endocannabinoid receptor system in a rat model of osteoarthritis pain. Arthritis Rheum 62:3666–3676 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/art.27698.
- Schaible H-G (2012) Mechanisms of Chronic Pain in Osteoarthritis. Curr Rheumatol Rep 14:549–556 Available at: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11926-012-0279-x.
- Schiltenwolf M, Akbar M, Hug A, Pfüller U, Gantz S, Neubauer E, Flor H, Wang H (2014) Evidence of specific cognitive deficits in patients with chronic low back pain under longterm substitution treatment of opioids. Pain Physician 17:9–20 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24452649.
- Schiltenwolf M, Akbar M, Neubauer E, Gantz S, Flor H, Hug A, Wang H (2017) The cognitive impact of chronic low back pain: Positive effect of multidisciplinary pain therapy. Scand

J Pain 17:273–278 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sjpain.2017.07.019.

- Schmitz N, Laverty S, Kraus VB, Aigner T (2010) Basic methods in histopathology of joint tissues. Osteoarthr Cartil 18:S113–S116 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2010.05.026.
- Semple BD, Blomgren K, Gimlin K, Ferriero DM, Noble-Haeusslein LJ (2013) Brain development in rodents and humans: Identifying benchmarks of maturation and vulnerability to injury across species. Prog Neurobiol 106–107:1–16 Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0301008213000300.
- Shackman AJ, Salomons T V., Slagter HA, Fox AS, Winter JJ, Davidson RJ (2011) The integration of negative affect, pain and cognitive control in the cingulate cortex. Nat Rev Neurosci 12:154–167 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/nrn2994.
- Shadick NA, Katz P, Iannaccone CI, Maica G, Coblyn J, Weinblatt ME, Cui J (2019) The Impact of Exercise, Lifestyle, and Clinical Factors on Perceived Cognitive Function in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis: Results from a Prospective Cohort Study. ACR Open Rheumatol 1:620–626 Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/acr2.11088.
- Shipton EA, Shipton EE, Shipton AJ (2018) A Review of the Opioid Epidemic: What Do We Do About It? Pain Ther 7:23–36 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40122-018-0096-7.
- Silverman SM (2009) Opioid induced hyperalgesia: clinical implications for the pain practitioner. Pain Physician 12:679–684 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19461836.
- Sjøgren P, Thomsen AB, Olsen AK (2000) Impaired Neuropsychological Performance in Chronic Nonmalignant Pain Patients Receiving Long-Term Oral Opioid Therapy. J Pain Symptom Manage 19:100–108 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0885392499001438.
- Soni A, Wanigasekera V, Mezue M, Cooper C, Javaid MK, Price AJ, Tracey I (2019) Central Sensitization in Knee Osteoarthritis: Relating Presurgical Brainstem Neuroimaging and Pain <scp>DETECT</scp> -Based Patient Stratification to Arthroplasty Outcome. Arthritis Rheumatol 71:550–560 Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/art.40749.
- Spence S (1996) The Cognitive Neurosciences. BMJ 312:193–193 Available at: http://www.bmj.com/cgi/doi/10.1136/bmj.312.7024.193.
- Steele RJ, Morris RGM (1999) Delay-dependent impairment of a matching-to-place task with chronic and intrahippocampal infusion of the NMDA-antagonist D-AP5. Hippocampus 9:118–136 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/%28SICI%291098-1063%281999%299%3A2%3C118%3A%3AAID-HIPO4%3E3.0.CO%3B2-8.
- Sun J, Chen S, Chen H, Pan H (2019) μ-Opioid receptors in primary sensory neurons are essential for opioid analgesic effect on acute and inflammatory pain and opioid-induced hyperalgesia. J Physiol 597:1661–1675 Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1113/JP277428.
- Sun Q, Li X, Li A, Zhang J, Ding Z, Gong H, Luo Q (2020) Ventral Hippocampal-Prefrontal Interaction Affects Social Behavior via Parvalbumin Positive Neurons in the Medial Prefrontal Cortex. iScience 23:100894 Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2020.100894.

- Suzuki R, Dickenson A (2005) Spinal and Supraspinal Contributions to Central Sensitization in Peripheral Neuropathy. Neurosignals 14:175–181 Available at: https://www.karger.com/Article/FullText/87656.
- Tassain V, Attal N, Fletcher D, Brasseur L, Dégieux P, Chauvin M, Bouhassira D (2003) Long term effects of oral sustained release morphine on neuropsychological performance in patients with chronic non-cancer pain. Pain 104:389–400 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-200307000-00042.
- Teeple E, Jay GD, Elsaid K a, Fleming BC (2013) Animal Models of Osteoarthritis: Challenges of Model Selection and Analysis. AAPS J 15:438–446 Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3675748&tool=pmcentre z&rendertype=abstract.
- Teodoro T, Edwards MJ, Isaacs JD (2018) A unifying theory for cognitive abnormalities in functional neurological disorders, fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome: systematic review. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 89:1308–1319 Available at: http://jnnp.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/jnnp-2017-317823.
- Thakur M, Dickenson AH, Baron R (2014) Osteoarthritis pain: nociceptive or neuropathic? Nat Rev Rheumatol 10:374–380 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrrheum.2014.47.
- Tive L, Bello AE, Radin D, Schnitzer TJ, Nguyen H, Brown MT, West CR (2019) Pooled analysis of tanezumab efficacy and safety with subgroup analyses of phase III clinical trials in patients with osteoarthritis pain of the knee or hip. J Pain Res Volume 12:975–995 Available at: https://www.dovepress.com/pooled-analysis-of-tanezumab-efficacy-and-safety-with-subgroup-analyse-peer-reviewed-article-JPR.
- Todd AJ (2010) Neuronal circuitry for pain processing in the dorsal horn. Nat Rev Neurosci 11:823–836 Available at: http://www.nature.com/articles/nrn2947.
- Tracey I, Mantyh PW (2007) The Cerebral Signature for Pain Perception and Its Modulation.Neuron55:377–391Availableat:https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0896627307005338.
- Treede R-D et al. (2015) A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. Pain 156:1 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-900000000-99874.
- Treede R-D et al. (2019) Chronic pain as a symptom or a disease. Pain 160:19–27 Available at: http://journals.lww.com/00006396-201901000-00003.
- Valentino RJ, Volkow ND (2018) Untangling the complexity of opioid receptor function. Neuropsychopharmacology 43:2514–2520 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-0225-3.
- Valfrè W, Rainero I, Bergui M, Pinessi L (2007) Voxel-Based Morphometry Reveals Gray Matter Abnormalities in Migraine. Headache J Head Face Pain 48:109–117 Available at: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1526-4610.2007.00723.x.
- van der Kraan PM, van den Berg WB (2012) Chondrocyte hypertrophy and osteoarthritis: role in initiation and progression of cartilage degeneration? Osteoarthr Cartil 20:223–232 Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2011.12.003.
- van Ettinger-Veenstra H, Lundberg P, Alföldi P, Södermark M, Graven-Nielsen T, Sjörs A, Engström M, Gerdle B (2019) Chronic widespread pain patients show disrupted cortical connectivity in default mode and salience networks, modulated by pain sensitivity. J Pain Res Volume 12:1743–1755 Available at: https://www.dovepress.com/chronic-

widespread-pain-patients-show-disrupted-cortical-connectivity--peer-reviewed-article-JPR.

- Varty GB, Higgins GA (1994) Differences between three rat strains in sensitivity to prepulse inhibition of an acoustic startle response: influence of apomorphine and phencyclidine pretreatment. J Psychopharmacol 8:148–156 Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/026988119400800302.
- Verdejo-Garcia A, Lopez-Torrecillas F, Calandre EP, Delgado-Rodriguez A, Bechara A (2009) Executive Function and Decision-Making in Women with Fibromyalgia. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 24:113–122 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/acn/articlelookup/doi/10.1093/arclin/acp014.
- Vos T et al. (2016) Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet 388:1545–1602 Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0140673616316786.
- Wager TD (2004) Placebo-Induced Changes in fMRI in the Anticipation and Experience of Pain. Science (80-) 303:1162–1167 Available at: http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/doi/10.1126/science.1093065.
- Wang M-N, Dong Z-F, Cao J, Xu L (2006) Repeated morphine treatment influences operant and spatial learning differentially. Neurosci Bull 22:137–143 Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17704841.
- Wang T, Wen C-Y, Yan C-H, Lu W-W, Chiu K-Y (2013) Spatial and temporal changes of subchondral bone proceed to microscopic articular cartilage degeneration in guinea pigs with spontaneous osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr Cartil 21:574–581 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1063458413000058.
- Weiner DK, Rudy TE, Morrow L, Slaboda J, Lieber S (2006) The Relationship Between Pain, Neuropsychological Performance, and Physical Function in Community-Dwelling Older Adults with Chronic Low Back Pain. Pain Med 7:60–70 Available at: https://academic.oup.com/painmedicine/article-lookup/doi/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2006.00091.x.
- Weiss IC, Di Iorio L, Feldon J, Domeney AM (2000) Strain differences in the isolation-induced effects on prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response and on locomotor activity. Behav Neurosci 114:364–373 Available at: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/0735-7044.114.2.364.
- Williams JT, Ingram SL, Henderson G, Chavkin C, von Zastrow M, Schulz S, Koch T, Evans CJ, Christie MJ (2013) Regulation of μ -Opioid Receptors: Desensitization, Phosphorylation, Internalization, and Tolerance Dolphin AC, ed. Pharmacol Rev 65:223–254 Available at: http://pharmrev.aspetjournals.org/lookup/doi/10.1124/pr.112.005942.
- Winter S, Dieckmann M, Schwabe K (2009) Dopamine in the prefrontal cortex regulates rats behavioral flexibility to changing reward value. Behav Brain Res 198:206–213 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0166432808006098.
- Woolf CJ, Salter MW (2000) Neuronal Plasticity : Increasing the Gain in Pain. Science 288:1765–1768.
- Yau JLW, Morris RGM, Seckl JR (1994) Hippocampal corticosteroid receptor mRNA expression and spatial learning in the aged Wistar rat. Brain Res 657:59–64 Available at:

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0006899394909539.

- Yeung EW, Craggs JG, Gizer IR (2017) Comorbidity of Alcohol Use Disorder and Chronic Pain: Genetic Influences on Brain Reward and Stress Systems. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 41:1831– 1848 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0031938416312148.
- Yip K, Oettinger J (2020) Why are we still using opioids for osteoarthritis? Int J Clin Pract 74:1– 4 Available at: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ijcp.13416.
- You Z, Zhang S, Shen S, Yang J, Ding W, Yang L, Lim G, Doheny JT, Tate S, Chen L, Mao J (2018) Cognitive impairment in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Pain 159:1518–1528 Available at: http://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00006396-201808000-00011.
- Zhang J-J, Kong Q (2017) Locomotor activity: A distinctive index in morphine selfadministration in rats Taffe M, ed. PLoS One 12:e0174272 Available at: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174272.
- Zhang W-N, Bast T, Feldon J (2002) Prepulse inhibition in rats with temporary inhibition/inactivation of ventral or dorsal hippocampus. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 73:929–940 Available at: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S009130570200936X.
- Zieglgansberger W, French E, Siggins G, Bloom F (1979) Opioid peptides may excite hippocampal pyramidal neurons by inhibiting adjacent inhibitory interneurons. Science 205:415–417 Available at: https://www.sciencemag.org/lookup/doi/10.1126/science.451610.
- Zimmerman ME, Pan JW, Hetherington HP, Lipton ML, Baigi K, Lipton RB (2009) Hippocampal correlates of pain in healthy elderly adults: A pilot study. Neurology 73:1567–1570 Available at: http://www.neurology.org/cgi/doi/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c0d454.